STUDYING THE WILLINGNESS TO PARTICIPATE IN ACUTE STROKE RESEARCH TRIALS

By

JOANNE M^CCORMACK

A Thesis submitted to The University of Birmingham For the degree of MASTER OF PHILOSOPHY

> School of Health and Population Sciences Department of Primary Care and Clinical Sciences University of Birmingham July 2015

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research Archive

e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

ABSTRACT

Achieving representative, timely recruitment to acute stroke trials is challenging, yet little research has explored the factors determining whether or not stroke patients agree to participate in clinical research. This prospective study collected survey data from 200 acute stroke patients (or their consultees) from two NHS Trusts in the West Midlands to determine the influence of sociodemographic, clinical or attitudinal factors on decision-making about trial participation. Respondents were offered either a real or hypothetical trial.

128 respondents (64%) agreed to trial participation. Few measurable factors were associated with decision-making, although patients able to consent for themselves were more likely to agree participation than consultees deciding on their behalf. Participation decisions may be strongly influenced by attitudes and perceptions about trial research rather than sociodemographic factors. Participants who perceived their stroke severity to be moderate or severe were significantly more likely to agree to trial participation. Respondents offered a real trial were almost six times more likely to participate than those offered a hypothetical trial. Disparities were found between self-rated stroke severity and clinician assessed NIHSS scoring.

Acute stroke trial recruitment would benefit from recruitment strategy planning and training if trials are to produce timely findings based on representative patient samples.

This work is dedicated to my Family...... Mummy has finished writing her book!

"For us who nurse, our nursing is a thing which, unless we are making progress every year, every month, every week, take my word for it, we are going back...."

Florence Nightingale



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To all the respondents in the throws of an acute stroke who willingly completed my questionnaire. Thank you for your honesty and generosity; For all my work colleagues who 'caught' my day job to enable me to have the time to complete this MPhil. It wouldn't have been possible without your support and I am truly grateful and ready to come back to work! To friends who understood and supported me both verbally and practically, especially Hannah Reay, without whom this would undoubtedly still be a dream. Thankyou.

To my supervisors: Dr Sarah Damery for being 'Good Cop' when I needed her to be and going 'above and beyond' due to my timeframes and to Professor Richard McManus for belief in me from the start, its motivated me all these years!

Thankyou to The Band Trust of the Florence Nightingale Foundation for financial assistance with course fees and the Birmingham and Black Country Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLARHC) Theme 7 Optimisation of the Management of Stroke & TIA - whose support of this process has enabled this thesis to be realised.





CONTENTS

| SECTION | CONTENTS | PAGE |
|---------|------------------------------|------|
| | Title page | |
| | Abstract | |
| | Acknowledgements | |
| | Contents | |
| | List of Figures | |
| | List of Tables | |
| | Abbreviations | |
| | | |
| 1.0 | INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| 1.1 | Research in the NHS | 1 |
| | 1.1.1 Clinical Trials | 2 |
| 1.2 | Stroke Disease | 4 |
| | 1.2.1 Definition of Stroke | 5 |
| | 1.2.2 Epidemiology | 6 |
| | 1.2.3 Manifestation | 7 |
| | 1.2.4 Diagnosis | 10 |
| | 1.2.5 Management | 11 |
| | 1.2.6 Research Opportunities | 13 |
| 1.3 | Previous Research | 16 |
| 1.4 | Gaps in the literature | 18 |
| | 1.4.1 Study objectives | 19 |

| 2.0 | LITERATURE REVIEW | 20 |
|-----|-------------------------------------|----|
| 2.1 | Research literature | 20 |
| | 2.1.1 Representative Sample | 22 |
| 2.2 | Recruitment to Clinical Trials | 23 |
| | 2.2.1 Decision-Making | 24 |
| | 2.2.2 Theories of Behaviour | 26 |
| | 2.2.2.1 Theory of Planned Behaviour | 26 |
| | 2.2.2.2 Health Belief Model | 28 |
| | 2.2.3 Hypothetical Trial Behaviour | 30 |
| | 2.2.4 Consultees | 32 |
| 2.3 | Components of Recruitment | 34 |
| | 2.3.1 Presentation and Recognition | 34 |
| | 2.3.2 Site Set Up and Resource | 36 |
| | 2.3.2.1 Informed Consent | 40 |
| | 2.3.3 Clinical Disease | 43 |
| 2.4 | Participants and Non-Participants | 46 |
| 2.5 | Reflection on the literature | 48 |
| | | |
| 3.0 | METHODOLOGY | 51 |
| 3.1 | Research Question | 51 |
| 3.2 | Methodological considerations | 52 |
| | 3.2.1 Paradigm debates | 52 |
| | 3.2.2 Survey research | 53 |
| | 3.2.3 Previous Stroke Studies | 54 |

| 3.3 | Study Design | 55 |
|-----|--|----------------|
| | 3.3.1 Patient & Public involvement | 58 |
| | and Piloting | |
| | 3.3.2 Clinical Assessment Tools | 59 |
| | 3.3.3 Site Selection | 61 |
| 3.4 | Participant Selection | 63 |
| | 3.4.1 Inclusion criteria | 63 |
| | 3.4.2 Exclusion criteria | 63 |
| | 3.4.3 Sample Size | 63 |
| 3.5 | Survey Tool Administration | 64 |
| 3.6 | Data Collection | 67 |
| 3.7 | Data Analysis | 68 |
| | | |
| 4.0 | RESULTS | 70 |
| 4.1 | Participation Rate | 70 |
| | 4.1.1 Site Recruitment Figures | 70 |
| | 4.1.2 Decision-Maker | 74 |
| 4.2 | Participant Characteristics | 76 |
| | 4.2.1 Ethnicity | 79 |
| | 4.2.2 Education Level | 79 |
| | 4.2.3 Socioeconomic Deprivation | 80 |
| | | |
| | 4.2.4 Stroke Severity Measures | 81 |
| | 4.2.4 Stroke Severity Measures 4.2.5 Length of Hospitalisation | 81 84 |
| 4.3 | 4.2.4 Stroke Severity Measures 4.2.5 Length of Hospitalisation Questionnaire Responses | 81 84 85 |

| | 4.3.2 Prior knowledge of consequences | 86 |
|-----|---------------------------------------|-----|
| | 4.3.3 Health Status | 87 |
| | 4.3.4 Decision | 90 |
| 4.4 | Univariate and Multivariate analyses | 95 |
| | 4.4.1 Univariate Analysis | 95 |
| | 4.4.2 Multivariate Analysis | 96 |
| 4.5 | Thematic Analysis | 99 |
| | 4.5.1 Agreed to participate | 99 |
| | 4.5.1.1 Altruism | 99 |
| | 4.5.1.2 Ambivalence | 100 |
| | 4.5.2 Declined to participate | 101 |
| | 4.5.2.1 Trial related | 101 |
| | 4.5.2.2 Disinterest | 102 |
| | 4.5.2.3 Overwhelmed | 103 |
| | | |
| 5.0 | DISCUSSION | 104 |
| 5.1 | Study Recruitment | 105 |
| | 5.1.1 Site Characteristics | 105 |
| | 5.1.2 Participation | 106 |
| | 5.1.2.1 Study decision-maker | 108 |
| | 5.1.2.2 Respondent Demographics | 110 |
| 5.2 | Study Process | 113 |
| | 5.2.1 Communication | 113 |
| | 5.2.2 Cross-cultural comparison | 115 |
| 5.3 | Potential Influences | 119 |

| | 5.3.1 Motivators | 120 |
|-----|---------------------------------|-----|
| | 5.3.2 Barriers | 121 |
| 5.4 | Study Strengths and limitations | 123 |
| | 5.4.1 Strengths | 124 |
| | 5.4.2 Limitations | 125 |
| 5.5 | Summary | 128 |
| | | |

| 6.0 | CONCLUSION | 130 |
|-----|-----------------------------------|-----|
| 6.1 | Recommendations for future work | 132 |
| 6.2 | Recommendations for future policy | 134 |

| 7.0 | REFERENCES | 136 |
|-----|------------|-----|
| | | |

| | APPENDICES | 165 |
|------------|---|-----|
| Appendix 1 | Department of Health - definition of the term | 166 |
| | 'Clinical Trial' | |
| Appendix 2 | Survey tool and study documentation | 170 |
| Appendix 3 | National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale | 193 |
| Appendix 4 | Predicted recruitment diagram | 203 |
| Appendix 5 | Flow chart of study procedure | 204 |

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE DESCRIPTION

PAGE

-

| Figure 2.1 | Theory of Planned Behaviour Model | 28 |
|-------------|--|----|
| Figure 2.2 | The Health Belief Model | 29 |
| Figure 3.1 | Map of West Midlands NHS Trusts | 62 |
| Figure 4.1 | Consort diagram of recruitment to the study | 72 |
| Figure 4.2 | Percentage of admissions from Birmingham | 73 |
| | Heartlands Hospital | |
| Figure 4.3 | Percentage of admissions from Queen | 73 |
| | Elizabeth Hospital | |
| Figure 4.4 | Patient response to trial participation | 75 |
| Figure 4.5 | Consultee response to trial participation | 75 |
| Figure 4.6 | Histogram of age range distribution of | 76 |
| | respondents | |
| Figure 4.7 | Socioeconomic deprivation | 80 |
| Figure 4.8 | Clinician assessed severity scoring | 81 |
| Figure 4.9 | Respondent self-assessed severity scoring | 82 |
| Figure 4.10 | Stroke self-assessed as Severe | 83 |
| Figure 4.11 | Stroke self-assessed as moderate | 83 |
| Figure 4.12 | Stroke self-assessed as mild | 84 |
| Figure 4.13 | Comparison between length of hospitalisation | 84 |
| | and research approach | |

| Figure 4.14 | Able to define the term 'Cl | inical Trial' | 85 |
|-------------|-----------------------------|-----------------|----|
| Figure 4.15 | Attitude towards a clinical | trial | 86 |
| Figure 4.16 | Prior knowledge of resear | ch consequences | 87 |
| Figure 4.17 | Point drop in health scorin | ıg | 88 |
| Figure 4.18 | Number of risk factors | | 88 |
| Figure 4.19 | Co-morbidities | | 89 |
| Figure 4.20 | Reason for taking part | – prompt 1 | 91 |
| Figure 4.21 | Reason for taking part | – prompt 2 | 92 |
| Figure 4.22 | Reason for declining | – prompt 1 | 93 |
| Figure 4.23 | Reason for declining | – prompt 2 | 93 |
| Figure 4.24 | Reason for declining | – prompt 3 | 94 |
| | | | |

LIST OF TABLES

......

<u>PAGE</u>

| Table 4.1 | Perception by respondent of time to consider | 75 |
|-----------|--|-----|
| | a clinical trial | |
| Table 4.2 | Summary of characteristics associated with | 78 |
| | trial participation | |
| Table 4.3 | Comparison of ethnic diversity | 79 |
| Table 4.4 | Univariate analyses | 96 |
| Table 4.5 | Multivariate analyses | 98 |
| Table 5.1 | Comparative data between USA and UK | 116 |

DESCRIPTION

<u>TABLE</u>

ABBREVIATIONS

BHH

Birmingham Heartlands Hospital

CI

Confidence Interval

CLOTS

Clots in Legs Or sTockings after Stroke

Consort

CONsolidated Standards Of Reporting Trials

CRN

Comprehensive Research Network

СТ

Computerised Tomography

CTIMP

Clinical Trial of an Investigational Medicinal Product

DH

Department of Health

DIAS4

Desmoteplase In Acute ischaemic Stroke 4

ECCASS

European cooperative acute stroke study

ED

Emergency Department

FAST

Face, Arm, Speech Test

GCS

Glasgow coma scale

GPs

General Practitioners

HBM

Health Belief Model

HBP

High Blood Pressure

ICH GCP

International conference on harmonisation Good Clinical Practice

IMD

Index of Multiple Deprivation

IRB

Institutional review boards (US)

IST-3

International Stroke Trial-3

LOS

Length of stay

MCA

Mental Capacity Act

NIHR

National institute of Health Research

NIHSS

National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale

NHS

National Health Service

NRES

National Research Ethics Service

OR

Odds Ratio

ΡI

Principal Investigator

PIS

Participant Information Sheet

PPI

Patient and Public Involvement

QE

Queen Elizabeth (Hospital)

R&D

Research and development

RCP

Royal College of Physicians

RCT

Randomised Controlled Trial

ROSIER

Recognition Of Stroke In the Emergency Room.

SAH

SubArachnoid Haemorrhage

SES

SocioEconomic Status

SPSS

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

SRN

Stroke Research Network

SSNAP

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme

SSS

Scandinavian Stroke scale

TIA

Transient Ischaemic Attack

TOAST

Trial of ORG 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment (classification)

ТрА

Tissue plasminogen Activator

трв

Theory of Planned Behaviour

UK

United Kingdom

US

United States (of America)

USA

United States of America

vs

Versus

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Overview

The focus of this thesis is to determine the willingness of stroke patients to participate in acute stroke research trials within the National Health Service (NHS) and to ascertain whether any identifiable patient or clinical characteristics influence the decision to participate. This chapter reviews the background to this study and research within the context of stroke medicine. A review of the pertinent literature is explored in chapter two and following this the research methodology is described. In the fourth and fifth chapters the results of this study are reported and discussed. A final chapter provides a conclusion to this study.

In this introductory chapter, the first section provides an introduction to research within the NHS and recruitment to clinical trials. Section 1.2 details the challenges associated with recruitment to acute stroke trials in patients with acute stroke. This leads on to section 1.3 where an American study relevant to this project is discussed (Kasner et al 2009). Finally in section 1.4 the research objectives are outlined taking into consideration the gaps identified in the recruitment literature.

1.1 Research in the NHS

Research is important to patients, the Government and the Department of Health (DH) (NIHR CRN 2014a). The NHS constitution describes clinical research as 'core business' for the NHS and comes with a political duty and commitment. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 and recent government policies reinforce this commitment

to the promotion and delivery of health research as a core NHS role (DH 2010, DH 2012a, DH 2012b, DH 2012c) since much of the care delivered within it is based on experience or uncertainties and lacks evidence but research provides this evidence.

The National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) is the research arm of the NHS in England (NIHR CRN 2015). It was created to implement the government's health research strategy: to embed research focused upon improving care and patient treatment into everyday clinical practice (DH 2006). The NIHR Clinical Research Network (CRN) and similar networks in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland provide the infrastructure to support the practical delivery of research in the NHS (DH 2011, UK Clinical Research Collaboration 2009).

1.1.1 Clinical Trials

Improvements in clinical care depend on implementation of an evidence base of research relating to the safety and effectiveness of treatments, devices and medical approaches. Clinical trials, and more specifically, Randomised Controlled Trials (RCTs) are considered the gold standard for research (Chalmers et al 1981; Stolberg et al 2004 and McDonald et al 2011) and attempt to address genuine uncertainty where clinical equipoise exists.

RCTs are mostly quantitative, comparative, controlled experiments, with treatment effect less open to bias than observational studies (Stolberg et al 2004). The process of randomisation enables a fair comparison as the treatment a patient receives as part of a trial is randomly selected, based on chance (most commonly done by a computer programme but essentially, like tossing a coin) to decide treatment

allocation. Randomisation is considered to be a powerful experimental design since, if all other variables are equally accounted for (including unknown confounders), any difference in outcome can be attributed to the intervention (McGovern 2001).

In order for the results of clinical trials to be generalisable and applicable to the wider population, a representative sample of patients needs to participate, reflecting the demographics and characteristics of the wider population on the basis of factors such as age, gender and ethnicity (Sheikh et al 2004). An under representation affects the generalisability of research findings (Hussain-Gambles et al 2004; Mason et al 2003) and may lead to inequalities in access to healthcare. Under recruitment to RCTs is problematic and well documented (Campbell et al 2007).

Despite the importance of diversity of trial participants, Murthy et al (2004) noted (in the case of cancer research) that little information was available about factors that affect the representation of groups in clinical trials, namely race, ethnicity, age and sex.

Involving participants from ethnic minority groups demands special consideration. For example, availability of Patient Information sheets (PIS) in a native language or presence of an interpreter, when necessary. Few trials have information leaflets translated to other languages, unless the trial is exclusively aimed at a particular ethnic group and trial sites may not have access to interpreters at the time of need. Furthermore, neurological deficits (including stroke), maybe more difficult to detect in ethnic minorities e.g. language impairment and slurred speech, if the patient is not

able to communicate in English, further hampering inclusion (Hussain-Gambles et al 2004).

Cultural barriers to randomisation may exist in a belief that illness is 'God's will' and if it is God's will, the patient will get better. Gaining an understanding of how patients decide whether or not to participate in a trial, and their attitudes towards research trials may enable the recruitment process to be more transparent, inform recommendations for improving the consenting process and lead to increased trial enrolment (Halpern, 2002).

Wider ethical considerations regarding consent are extensively documented in the ethical literature. These include the more recent advances in law to address the difficulty of consent in emergency research and the alternatives to patient consent utilising a personal legal representative or a professional legal representative (statutory instrument, became UK law in 2004). Whilst this recognises the need for emergency research, for urgency of starting treatment, it does not support a waiver of consent for urgency of starting research, for example blood sample biomarker studies (low risk studies) requiring samples immediately on admission. These low risk studies are time sensitive in the Emergency Department (ED) with difficulty in delivery without a waiver of consent and yet the legislation does not currently reflect the urgency of starting research (Lemaire 2014).

1.2 Stroke disease

Whilst acute stroke trials have the potential to improve the evidence base for stroke care, the success and wider utility of stroke trials are often hampered by poor trial

recruitment. Overall, the numbers of stroke patients enrolled into trials are small and relatively little research relates to the actual recruitment of patients into acute clinical trials (Kasner et al 2009).

Recruiting to clinical trials has its own challenges and recruitment is complicated yet further by an added time pressure in patients with an acute neurological event such as stroke, where therapies, such as thrombolysis, need to be administered rapidly for maximum effect (Rose and Kasner 2011).

1.2.1 Definition of stroke

The current definition of stroke supported by World Health Organisation dates back to 1976 as a descriptive term for rapidly developing clinical symptoms lasting more than 24 hours and comprising of a focal loss of cerebral function with a presumed vascular origin (Hatano 1976). Where symptoms last for less than 24 hours, a diagnosis of Transient Ischaemic Attack (TIA), a warning sign, may be applied. Classically there are no warning signs of a stroke and the majority of strokes are not preceded by a TIA (Hankey 1996).

The pathological background for stroke may either be ischaemic or haemorrhagic and is the interruption of the blood supply to the brain, affecting the supply of oxygen and nutrients and thus causing damage to the brain (Stroke association 2015). Ischaemic stroke (infarction) is the more common type of stroke (85%) and is the blockage of a blood vessel resulting from an array of risk factors (Feigin et al 2014). Haemorrhagic stroke is where a blood vessel bursts (accounting for approximately 15% of all strokes) and is often the result of high blood pressure (hypertension).

Subarachanoid haemorrhage (SAH) occurs mainly as a result of rupture of an aneurysm at the inferior surface of the brain. Although patients with SAH may develop symptoms in accordance with the current definition of stroke, it may not cause direct damage to the brain. Therefore they are often excluded from the majority of stroke studies (Truelsen et al 2000).

Attempts at a 21st century definition of stroke with advances in science and technology have not gained full backing from the World and European stroke organisations primarily due to the inclusion of silent cerebral infarction and silent cerebral haemorrhage within a universal stroke definition (Sacco et al 2013). A new definition incorporating tissue criteria as well as clinical criteria can have significant effects on disease surveillance and prognosis (Sormani 2009). This would be critical for clinical research that reports outcome measures according to the accepted definition of stroke.

1.2.2 Epidemiology

There are approximately 152,000 strokes annually in the United Kingdom (UK) (Townsend et al 2012) with significant financial impact on the NHS, annual direct care costs in excess of £2.8billion and additional costs of lost productivity, disability and informal care costs estimated to raise this to £9billion a year (Saka et al 2009). Stroke continues to be the main cause of complex, adult disability worldwide and is the second most common cause of death globally (Lopez et al 2006). Fifty per cent of all stroke survivors are left with a disability (Adamson 2004; RCP 2014b).

With manifestations of coexisting conditions (such as ischaemic heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, diabetes and hyperlipidaemia for example) and of atherosclerotic disease, age remains the single most important risk factor for stroke (Seshadri et al 2006). In younger patients, stroke may be due to more unusual causes i.e. arterial dissection, migraine or blood disorders affecting people, of working age.

South Asian, black African and black Caribbean people in the UK are at an increased risk of stroke compared to the rest of the UK population, with more exposure to risk factors notably diabetes, smoking and high blood pressure (Wang et al 2013). Black and south Asian people have strokes at a younger age compared to their white counterparts and black people are twice as likely to have a stroke compared to white people.

1.2.3 Manifestation

The symptoms of stroke are varied, often reducing patients' physical and/or mental capabilities. Patients may present with any number or combination of symptoms. Physical impairments caused by stroke include those highlighted in the Act FAST campaign (Facial weakness, Arm weakness, Speech problems, and Time to get help if one or more of these signs are seen, DH 2013b), as well as individual or a combination of other symptoms such as co-ordination problems (ataxia), eye problems (hemianopia), decreased level of consciousness and cognitive impairments - which can present as: disorientation, poor memory and an inability to sequence a task. Each of these symptoms in isolation can complicate the consent process but in combination can prove a significant challenge to researchers.

Acute stroke may alter a patient's level of consciousness, cause inattention / neglect and an inability to follow commands (RCP 2013). A deficit in this area may affect a patient's ability to give valid consent for research (Demarquay et al 2005). However transient the current mental state may be, a consultee (usually a family member or a legal representative) may need to be approached to determine what the proposed participant's wishes would be in relation to being involved in research.

Speech problems such as expressive (expressed) or receptive (received) speech or aphasia (no speech) can result from a stroke. Verbal cues, guessing and suggestion are commonplace in the context of such deficits, especially in the early phases of stroke recovery. Patients can also suffer from excessive fatigue due to stroke (wakeful moments may be brief). This creates a challenge to determine if information about a research study has been understood and retained. Other forms of communication such as writing may equally be affected.

Hemiplegia (weakness affecting one side of the body) is a commonly experienced symptom of stroke (Lawrence et al 2001). This may result in a dominant arm and hand being affected, so that the patient cannot hold a pen to sign his or her name on a consent form. Cerebellar strokes can present with a lack of co-ordination and result in difficulty writing. Some patients may be able to make a mark or use a non-dominant hand to indicate their agreement; in this case it would be considered best practice for this to be witnessed by a member of the clinical team. Another option may include witnessed verbal consent where clinical staff are present throughout the whole information giving and consent process to verify its conduct, protocol allowing.

The consent process is complex in stroke as, unlike many other conditions, understanding, retaining information, reading and writing may all be affected. Communication problems cannot in themselves be taken to indicate reduced mental capacity or inability to provide valid consent, however, they may raise concerns. Researchers use strategies such as pacing information, checking understanding and testing recall to highlight any issues within the support of the Mental Capacity Act (2005), DH (2005). Should mental capacity be affected by the stroke, a personal or professional legal representative can be consulted for research should they be available and the research protocol permits this. A personal representative or consultee often is a close family member.

Consultee decision-making must always be based on the presumed will of the patient. In a limited review, Flaherty et al (2008) found only 30% of patients who experienced stroke provided their own consent whilst Kasner et al (2009) found 47%. In acute stroke studies, it is often necessary to involve family members in decision-making. This has been identified as a source of stress and a perceived burden of responsibility with urgent decision-making on behalf of a family member by consultees. Similar stress was not reported by self-consenting patients (Demarquay et al 2005).

Supporting patients and their families at this stressful time is fundamental to ensuring patient choice and its availability for as long as possible. Lecouturier et al (2010) suggested that improvements in study participation could be achieved through

increasing the time spent with patients and families talking about research, but acknowledge that this may not always be possible in emergency research.

In some emergency research scenarios, it is possible to go for deferred consent with a legal representative and verbal consent at the outset. Participants can then effectively 'consent to continue' post-recovery in a study where initial consent by the individual was not possible. Increasingly, studies have included documentation to enable this for example Roffe et al (2014), approved by National Research Ethics Service (NRES 2011b). This reflects one of the cornerstones of informed consent in that it is an on-going process (Berg et al 2001).

1.2.4 Diagnosis

Stroke remains a clinical diagnosis, and needs to be distinguished from stroke-mimics such as hemiplegic migraine, global amnesia or seizures (Rose and Kasner 2011). This is often in the context of acute neurological deficits, with an incomplete medical history, limited physical examination and imperfect neuroimaging. Previously fit people can suddenly become vulnerable patients unable to convey their wishes, communicate with medical staff and family or comprehend the seriousness of their situation.

Initial nursing assessments undertaken as part of standard clinical care using tools such as the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), Face Arm Speech Time (FAST) Test, Recognition Of Stroke In the Emergency Room (ROSIER) and the National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) are often used to assess stroke patients (DH 2013b; Nor et al 2005; Brott et al 1989). They also serve as useful indicators of challenges

that researchers may encounter when screening a patient for trial eligibility, discussing participation and obtaining informed consent.

1.2.5 Management

Computerised Tomography (CT) scanning, although more readily available and quick to perform in the emergency department, may not be sensitive enough to pick up early, subtle changes in brain matter, making radiological diagnosis difficult at an early stage (Yew and Cheng 2009). Recruitment to trials may be time sensitive and therefore it is not always possible to wait for neuroimaging confirmation of a stroke prior to recruitment. As a result, some patients may no longer be eligible for a trial following confirmation of diagnosis (several days later in some cases).

The acute phase of a stroke is generally considered to last 24-72 hours post stroke (Summers et al 2009). During this time a research approach can be unexpected and few people would have thought about the concept of research when feeling 'well' and now must consider it whilst 'unwell' and experiencing acute neurological symptoms.

The acute phase of an illness is a difficult time within which to carry out research since symptoms can fluctuate, a diagnosis may not be fully apparent, the range of symptoms that can be experienced are extensive and their range of intensity can fluctuate. The priority of the patient and relatives is often not research as they attempt to rationalise what has occurred and are concentrating on "best treatment" following such a sudden event. This adds further difficulty to the recruitment process. Clinical research undertaken in the early acute phase of a stroke is dependent upon effective collaboration between researchers and clinical nursing staff to safely implement protocols, given the inherent challenges of research in this context (Campbell et al 2015).

Catastrophic changes are common in the brains of people with stroke and therapies need to be administered rapidly for maximum effect whether part of standard care or a research intervention (Rose and Kasner 2011). As a result, acute stroke studies often have a limited recruitment window within which participants can be included in the study, ranging from a few hours to 48 hours from stroke onset (UKCRN 2015).

During this period, patients and their relatives may be seeking general stroke information and trying to understand the emergency situation they have found themselves in, and are not ready to consider research study-specific information. The acute neurological deficits resulting from a stroke can be transient, fluctuate and make recruitment to studies (specifically receiving consent) particularly challenging (Dani et al 2008).

The opportunity for recruitment may be affected if the patient has delayed seeking medical attention for example, choosing to stay at home in the hope symptoms would resolve or being unable to call for help (Shah et al 2007), there is no clear onset time of symptoms, or if the patient is unable to convey this and presents alone.

This is in contrast to some other disease areas where time may not a restricting factor for recruitment, mental capacity unaffected and a diagnosis may be well established,

for example in areas such as hypertension or diabetes. As a result, people can consent themselves, conditions maybe more chronic, long standing or allow for a later more relaxed introduction to research, not time pressured.

Timely identification of potential research participants and anticipating and overcoming intrinsic impairments associated with stroke are therefore fundamental to successful recruitment to acute stroke studies.

1.2.6 Research opportunities

Information on ethnic minority participation rates across all disease specialities is documented in the literature (Mason et al 2003; Hussain-Gambles et al 2004). The importance of representation of individuals with different demographics has been a focus of many studies, as this will ensure that findings are generalisable to the wider society (Durant et al 2011). Under-representation of racial and ethnic minorities, gender and age have been reported extensively, in numerous specialities (Murthy et al 2004, Heiat et al 2002, Bartlett et al 2003).

Historically, there were limited opportunities for patients to participate in stroke research, which was underfunded in comparison to other disease areas (such as cancer and heart disease) and had a limited public profile (Rothwell 2001). The NIHR has raised the public profile of stroke research and provided new opportunities to offer research to patients who have experienced stroke. Between 2006 and 2014, stroke research benefited from a dedicated NIHR Stroke Research Network (SRN), which led to a six-fold increase in the number of patients who had experienced stroke participating in clinical research (NIHR CRN 2012a); and now forms part of a

cardiovascular research theme (of which six themes exist covering all disease specialties) across the whole of England.

There are now more stroke studies than ever before included on the NIHR CRN Portfolio. Studies range from randomised clinical drug trials to observational studies and cover stroke prevention, diagnosis, acute treatment, rehabilitation and on-going care. While it may take several years to see the results of such research studies translated into clinical practice, the clear aim is to ensure that patients who have experienced stroke receive evidence-based care.

Disparities in disease and medical setting mean that results from other disease areas are not necessarily applicable to a stroke population for a number of reasons: namely that stroke has a rapid onset and results in a loss of function (positive neurology) as opposed to causing pain. Some patients may not survive the initial event, whereas others may have reduced mental capacity and cognitive dysfunction that can affect their ability to provide valid informed consent.

To participate in a research trial, potential patients must have the mental capacity to weigh up the benefits and risks of a clinical trial (NRES 2011b). A fundamental principle of UK law is the right of every adult to make their own decisions; unless there is proof that they lack the capacity to make a particular decision at the time it needs to be made. The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 (DH 2005) and the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 provide guidance for determining a person's capacity to make a decision. It specifies that it is important to help people take part as

much as possible in the decision process, and recognises that some participants may require help to make or communicate their decisions (vulnerable adults).

To be valid, consent must be informed, competent and voluntary (ICH GCP 1996). Stroke, by virtue of the deficits that result from the condition and recent breakthroughs in treatment interventions (with time restrictions) adds complexity to this process (Liebeskind 2007). It is vital that cognitive impairments, visual disturbances, communication or physical deficits do not preclude patients from participating in acute stroke studies. Such deficits must be recognised and overcome to enable these patients to participate and ensure that research findings are applicable to the whole stroke population (McCormack and Reay 2013).

In a Cochrane review by Treweek et al (2011), many studies are reported as having looked at recruitment to mock trials. A mock or hypothetical trial differs from a real trial in that no treatment results from giving consent but researchers must be mindful to ensure no confusion or deception occurs. Treweek et al conclude that it is difficult to know how findings from mock trials would apply to real trials. Other research has suggested that willingness to participate in a hypothetical trial to be a valid predictor of actual participation in a range of disease areas, such as infectious disease, arthritis and schizophrenia (Halpern et al 2001; Taylor et al 2007b; Jeste et al 2009) - although such a design cannot inform potential retention rates of participants.

The use of hypothetical trials exposes the results to criticism that hypothetical choices may not reflect actual decisions for trial participation. However, as Durant et al (2011) point out, these approaches are widely used in survey research based on the theory

of 'reasoned action' that is, the behaviour is determined by someone's intention to perform the behaviour (Ajzen and Fishbein, 1980).

1.3 Previous Research

Identifying and recognising factors associated with trial participation could aid research design, be cost and time saving and enable efficient targeting of additional support to groups. There is, however, little research on the actual recruitment process itself. One particular study in recent years, from a single, urban university hospital in Philadelphia, US has investigated participation in acute stroke trials (Kasner et al 2009). Kasner et al (2009) used a survey tool to study who would take part in acute stroke research. The study consisted of a survey which included recruitment to a real trial (if patients met the criteria for trial entry) or a mock version (if the patients did not satisfy the inclusion criteria). Over a period of 15 months, 200 respondents completed the survey. Fifty-seven per cent stated they would participate in the proposed acute trial. Kasner et al found no differences in willingness to participate with respect to age. sex, race, educational level, 'self-assessed' stroke severity or stroke type, vascular risk factors or co-morbidities. Demographic factors, clinical factors and prior knowledge about research were found to have little impact on the decision to participate in acute stroke trials, but pre-existing negative attitudes and external influences about research strongly inhibited participation.

Influences on the recruitment process have been highlighted by research and literature to date under the umbrellas of organisational factors, clinical disease factors and population specifics. Clinical and population factors pertinent to stroke have already been discussed. Organisational factors include researcher availability,

confidence of clinician, relevance of the research question and a scientific, rigorous design which fits with clinical practice (Fletcher et al 2007).

Other potential organisational factors include delays due to legislative approval, the rate of active participation and commitment of recruiting sites, and the application of appropriate analysis and reporting procedures (McDonald et al 2011). However, it has been suggested that a feeling of hope is associated with research involvement (Weiss video in Roberts et al 2002) and clips are used healthtalkonline (www.healthtalkonline.org) promoting clinical trials from the participant perspective by those who have taken part in trials before. McDonald et al also propose that constraints on clinicians' time and lack of available staff can largely be overcome with a team approach to research but still does not answer the question why some trials recruit well and others less well.

The National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) identified that many trials up until 2011 were not recruiting to target without extending their timescales. Recruitment was found to be most successful in centres that recruited their first patient within 30 days of approval. The NIHR has attempted to address this and incorporates it specifically in 'time to target' higher-level objectives (NIHR CRN 2014b).

Elkins et al (2006), suggest that characterizing predictors of recruitment may help optimize future trial design. This has cost implications in terms of trial set-up, investment of working time for all parties involved in the research process and the need for timely research to keep pace with clinical advances, therefore relevance to the population.

The need for research to be embedded within standard care has been raised recently by Reynolds (2011) who found new technology and social media not to have increased participation. Reynolds highlighted that unhealthy people (possibly the more socioeconomically disadvantaged) and the elderly are less likely to be recruited and yet are more likely to need the benefits of new drugs developed as a result of clinical trial research.

Kasner et al (2009) noted that in the context of an acute event, potentially influencing factors in decision-making were not clear. Gaining an understanding of how patients decide whether or not to participate in a trial, and their attitudes towards acute stroke research trials may enable the recruitment process to be more transparent, inform recommendations for improving the consenting process and lead to increased trial entry (Halpern 2002). Characterising the predictors of recruitment may help to identify barriers to recruitment, aiding trials in making more realistic estimates of the rate of enrolment (Elkins et al 2006).

1.4 Gaps in the literature

Although a variety of data and information are recorded regarding stroke admissions, for research purposes, a prospective research study to identify possible factors associated with trial participation has not been done in the UK for stroke disease. Information regarding the acceptability of research, and willingness of stroke patients to participate during the acute phase of their illness is important and it is not clear whether cultural differences or systematic healthcare differences would mean that results from the US would apply to the UK. Currently a knowledge gap exists in our
understanding of influences on the decision to participate in acute stroke trials in the UK.

By utilising a similar approach to Kasner, embedding survey research alongside recruitment to a real trial or hypothetical example, decision-making in relation to participation and the rationale behind it could be explored, compared and contrasted with the available literature and aim to fill the current gaps from a UK perspective.

1.4.1 Study objectives

- To determine whether demographic factors, level of education, prior research experience and issues related to the stroke experience itself have any impact on the decision to participate in acute stroke trials.
- To assess general attitudes towards clinical trials, external influences and opinions regarding the participation decision.
- To explore differences in trial participation decision-making between patients and their representatives, in conjunction with the reasons stated for the participation decision.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

This chapter provides a review of the literature on recruitment to clinical trials. The literature will be reflected on critically with regard to its influence on the design and conduct of this study and the associated gaps in the evidence base identified in relation to acute stroke trial recruitment.

The first section highlights research literature and the drivers associated with recruitment to clinical trials. Sections 2.2 explores recruitment and includes theories of behaviour and decision-making regarding participation in a clinical trial. This is followed by section 2.3 that describes the components of a recruitment process and valid, informed consent. Section 2.4 considers clinical trial participants and non-participants. The final section summarises the literature, noting the research methodologies used in previous studies and reflects on its implications for this study.

2.1 Research literature

Research is important to patients, the government and the DH. A consensus wide consumer poll of 3000 people (NIHR CRN 2014a), found that 95% felt it was important that the NHS carries out clinical research and 89% reported they would be willing to participate in a study if diagnosed with a medical condition or disease. The NIHR is the research arm of the NHS and is an opportunity to embed research within

front-line activity and deliver the best possible treatments for patients based on the evidence of what works.

For any type of clinical research study, patients must first be identified and assessed to determine whether they are eligible to participate (ICH GCP 1996). They must be given information about the research and time to consider whether they wish to participate. They must provide their written consent before receiving care in accordance with the research protocol, with relevant data collected and monitoring throughout to ensure patients' safety and wellbeing.

Clinical trials are used to guide advances in care and inform statutory bodies such as the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) to secure the most consistent, high quality, evidence based care for NHS patients (Nice guidelines 2014). Arguably, these guidelines are only as good as the evidence on which they are based, for example licences for treatments maybe for age specific or restrictive use due to the age range used in the trials, on which the granted licence was based.

A recent example is the restricted licence for a thrombolytic drug (Tissue plasminogen Activator –TpA) which was granted in 2003 for use within a 3 hour window of stroke onset and in those under 80 year olds until the completion of further research which included older patients in the sample (IST Collaborative Group 2012) and a longer time window. Considering that the average age of stroke patients is close to the original maximum licence for use, a significant proportion of the stroke population was not able to access this treatment for several years.

The research process can be lengthy but many randomised controlled trials (RCTs) either fail to recruit sufficient participants or need to extend trial periods in order to meet target recruitment (Sully et al 2013). Extending trial length is not only costly but also risks minimising impact as clinical care advances over time (the research question is no longer valid or becomes irrelevant). Subsequent delays to clinical advances result in the continuation of weak evidence based practice in the absence of more robust research findings, and can ultimately result in diverting research resources away from future studies (McDonald et al 2011).

2.1.1 Representative Sample

Recruiting a representative sample is important in clinical trials so that results can be generalised to the wider population. Murthy et al. (2004) found enrolment in cancer trials for all patient groups to be low. In cooperative group cancer trials (breast, colorectal, lung and prostate cancer clinical trials), racial and ethnic minorities, women and the elderly were less likely to enrol than white males, and younger patients. Under-representation of certain demographic groups has also been reported by Heiat et al (2002) in heart failure clinical trials and by Bartlett et al. (2003) in a cholesterol trial. Of the studies published on enrolment to trials, the majority use retrospective data. Kumar (2003) argues for the need for prospective studies to determine the extent of lower inclusion rates for some patient groups i.e. those identified for trials but not included for randomisation.

Disease stigma, anxieties related to understanding the implications of participation, worries about trial medication, as well as cost and time concerns were found to be common amongst ethnic minority groups (Rooney et al 2011). MacNeill at el (2013) in

an asthma paediatric study, found Bangladeshi parents to have a greater respect for medical opinion, limited grasp of spoken or written English and yet, increased participation (at the expense of limited understanding).

Suggested improvements in the general literature for minority group inclusion note the use of multilingual trial documentation, employment of personal approaches (MacNeill et al 2013) and addressing researcher reluctance to include participants from all cultural and linguistic spectrums. Sheikh et al (2009) and Carman et al (2014) point towards a mixed methods approach to inform strategies on minority group inclusion.

Despite a high incidence of acute stroke in the UK and significant cost implications for the NHS, the evidence base for treatments across the stroke care pathway is weak (National Clinical Guidelines for Stroke, 2008). Dani et al (2008) suggest this may be due to an inability of people with stroke to take part in the decision and informed consent process due to impairment, particularly where recruitment takes place soon after the stroke event.

2.2 Recruitment to Clinical Trials

The process of decision-making with regard to an acute clinical trial usually follows a set approach with the clinical team determining the suitability of a patient to be approached and their eligibility for enrolment (ICH GCP 1996). Information about the trial, the risks and potential benefits, and the requirements that participants will have to fulfil if they participate, is provided both in a verbal and written form and 'sufficient time' as deemed necessary, should be given. This is considered by ethics boards

prior to approval for research in the NHS and in line with trial design allows for the maximum available time to consider a research trial (Hardicre 2013).

Various techniques used by individuals to make decisions have been documented over time and include: rational decision-making - weighing up pros and cons (advocated by the likes of Plato and Benjamin Franklin); simple prioritisation; satisficing – examining alternatives only until an acceptable one is found; maximising - where all alternatives are examined in order to determine the best one; elimination, acquiescence and superstition amongst others.

Planning is not always possible prior to decision-making and its absence can add difficulty to the process. Behrendt et al (2011) used a qualitative approach to clarify patients' needs and understanding about informed consent. Whilst a clear informed consent consultation was requested by respondents, adequate advanced notice was also specified. In contrast, over-thinking or over-analysing a situation can adversely affect decision-making so greatly that an action or decision is never taken.

2.2.1 Decision-making

Decision-making is largely regarded as a reasoning or emotional process resulting in the selection of a course of action from several different possibilities. A decisionmaking process results in a final outcome, which may or may not prompt an action and is based on the values and preferences of the decision-maker. It can be rational or irrational and based on explicit or implicit assumptions.

Human performance has been studied from popular perspectives such as the psychological, cognitive and normative. From a psychological perspective a decision is considered in the context of a set of needs, preferences and values. A cognitive perspective reflects an on-going process embedded within the interaction with the environment whilst a normative perspective is largely concerned with the logic of decision-making.

The strategy in decision making of weighing up pros and cons is a recognised taught technique for decision-making (Franklin's rule), however, without time, cognitive resources and access to relevant information (required to enable this) as a process, arguably it may not best describe how most people make decisions. Nightingale (2008) states that people simply decide without thinking too much about the decision making process.

Uncertainty is formally integrated in the likes of decision analysis and robust decision research (Jungermann 1983). Despite exposure to logical decision-making in a medical institution, the general public are in a foreign environment, affected by a sudden, unexpected, serious health event with the need to rationalise the complexities of a clinical research trial. Rational choice theory incorporates the ideology that people try to maximise benefits whilst minimising costs (Schacter et al 2011) and may play a role in decision-making.

McCann et al (2013) studied recruitment to clinical trials highlighting an increasing link between potential participants' health states and health care situations interacting with other considerations. In particular they note the nature and significance of trial

entry decisions influenced by communication and relationship to recruiter; implications of trial interventions and processes; perception of the common good (helping others) and what non/participation might reflect about them as individuals.

Recency, wishful thinking, cognitive inertia, peer pressure, anchoring (unduly influenced by initial information shaping the view of subsequent information), role fulfilment, illusion of control, are all amongst other debated biases in judgement and decision-making.

2.2.2 Theories of behaviour

Many models and theories of human behaviour exist within the social sciences, the majority of which focus on the drivers of individual health behaviours, and have their roots within the discipline of psychology, although there are also a number of behaviour theories which focus on the behaviour itself or the relationship between behaviour, individuals and the social and physical environments within which they occur.

2.2.2.1 Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) and reasoned action

The Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) is one of the most commonly cited and applied behavioural theories, adopting a cognitive approach to explaining individuals' attitudes and beliefs (Ajzen 1985, 1991; Ajzen and Madden 1986). TPB evolved from the theory of actioned reason (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975), which puts forward intention to act as the best predictor of behaviour. Intention is proposed as an outcome from a combination of attitudes towards a behaviour, positive and negative evaluation of the behaviour, its expected outcomes and subjective norms (social pressures) from the perception of what others may think should be done and a person's inclination to follow these. Similarly, self-efficacy and perceived behavioural control may be additional components that influence behaviour. TPB has been widely used in health by the likes of Armitage and Conner (2001) and more recently by Taylor et al (2007a) and Munro et al (2007) with evidence suggesting a strong correlation between behaviour and both attitudes towards that behaviour and perceived behavioural control components (Figure 2.1).





2.2.2.2 Health Belief Model (HBM)

An alternative popular theory of behaviour, the Health Belief Model (HBM) argues that behaviour is determined by a number of beliefs about threats to well-being, effectiveness and outcomes of actions and behaviours (Hochbaum 1958; Rosenstock 1966; Becker, 1974; Sharma and Romas, 2012). This is possibly more relevant when attempting to understand decision-making with regard to clinical trial participation, as the theory was designed and developed in the healthcare context, with perceived threat being central to the model, covering personal cognitive factors and the addition of self-efficacy (Bandura 1997) – with the recognition that stimuli may trigger adoption of behaviour (Figure 2.2).

Proponents of the theory argue that it is particularly appropriate when seeking to explain or predict patterns of behaviour, but it has also been criticised for the exclusion of social, economic or unconscious (habitual) determinants that are generally considered at least as important as personal cognitive factors in affecting decision-making processes. The HBM, however, does not take account of institutional factors outside of an individual's control which maybe an important consideration for hospitalised patients or their next-of-kin who may be involved in a decision-making process such as that related to deciding on participation in a clinical trial.

Figure 2.2: The Health Belief Model (Rosenstock 1974)



With regard to predictive behaviour - whilst the mantra that has gained recognition over several decades that 'the best predictor of future behaviour is past behaviour', is noted in psychology texts (Johnston 2003), this is possibly too simplistic and past behaviour may merely be a useful marker as to what may happen in the future. Much has been written about the contribution of habit and the influence of personality typing on health beliefs and behavioural decision-making. Nevertheless, participants who have taken part in research before have an increased awareness of research. Durant et al (2011) found that those involved in research previously were more likely to sign up for further studies when invited, provided they had not previously had a negative experience of research participation.

Additional influences on decision-making include social, cognitive and cultural considerations. For example, the desire for a particular outcome e.g. wellbeing with the assumption that medication will result in improvements, financial incentives, previous experience, level of education, nurture (cultural influences – trust or mistrust of authorities), altruism, laissez faire or religion.

2.2.3 Hypothetical trial behaviour

A hypothetical (or mock) research trial differs from a real trial in that no treatment results from giving consent. Care must be taken to ensure that no deception occurs and that patients being offered the hypothetical trial are fully aware that they are not being asked to consent to participate in a 'real' trial. Various articles in the research literature argue that the use of hypothetical (mock) trials is a valid predictor of actual participation in trials (Halpern et al 2001), and that using hypothetical trials as a means of understanding patient decision-making about trial participation is a valuable way to assess the barriers to, and motivators of participation in a way that can be directly transferred to 'real' trials. However, according to Treweek et al (2011), it can be difficult to assess how findings from hypothetical trials would apply to real trials. Nonetheless, researchers such as Halpern et al (2001); Taylor (2007b); Jeste et al (2009) and Tehranisa and Meurer (2014) all report positive findings in relation to a decision for trial participation using hypothetical trials, in the areas of arthritis, schizophrenia and stroke.

Jeste et al (2009) used a mock trial in schizophrenia patients to test a multi-media consent process, recognising the potential for impaired decision-making capacity in the population group being studied. This allowed for understanding, appreciation, reasoning and expression of choice in trial participation as opposed to printed, text based consent forms for informing.

Most recently, Tehranisa and Meurer (2014) used an acute stroke mock trial for patients presenting to hospital emergency departments to test the extent to which those approached to participate understood trial design (response adaptive randomisation, RAR). The authors found the trial design to be well understood by participants, although in this case, participants were without symptoms of stroke or other critical illness.

Durant et al (2011) note that approaches using mock trials were widely used in survey research based on the theory of "reasoned action", that the behaviour is determined by someone's intention to perform the behaviour (Ajzen and Fishbein, 1980).

Goldstein et al (2010) found independent predictors of willingness to enrol in acute stroke trials to include Catholic religion, looking at consecutive emergency department (ED) attenders and their opinion on participation in a stroke trial.

In acute stroke studies, it is often necessary to involve family members in decisionmaking as patients are not necessarily able to consent for themselves (DH 2005). This has been identified as a source of stress and a perceived burden of responsibility (Demarquay et al 2005). Kasner et al (2009) found surrogate decision

makers to be less inclined to agree to the participation of a patient compared to the patient who had experienced stroke themselves.

2.2.4 Consultees

Consultees or proxy decision-makers are approached regarding consent (or rather assent) for clinical trial participation, as a legal representative in cases where patients are unable to consent for themselves (Hardicre 2013). In practice, this is usually a next-of-kin - the rationale behind this comes from the recognition that a consultee is able to inform from a position of knowing the patient best and thus being aware of what the patient's wishes may have been in this situation, had the patient been able to consent for themselves.

Mead et al (2013) noted that due to acute stroke, many people are not able to consent for themselves and describe proxy consent as standard. In order to facilitate information provision, easy access patient information booklets were devised – utilising short sentences, a simple grammar structure and large well-spaced text. There is currently on-going use of the easy access booklets to determine the numbers of aphasic patients enabled to independently consent as a direct result of having this available and supports the consent process in that participants should be encouraged to take part in the process as much as they are able (DH 2005).

Demarquay et al (2005) studied 56 stroke patients enrolled in urgent therapeutic trials and found (using multiple logistic regression) increasing age and baseline neurological deficit (as assessed by the Scandinavian Stroke Scale SSS) to be independent predictors of inability to give consent. The majority of patients (n=43,

77%) were consented by relatives and a proportion of these declared feeling uncomfortable with the decision citing psychological stress induced by urgent decision making. The authors of the study conclude that the responsibility of consent usually relies on relatives and questions a potential inaccuracy of decision concerning a patient's wishes or a conflict of interest.

More recently, Bryant et al (2013) found that over a third of stroke patients required surrogate consent with little being known about the level of agreement between patient and surrogate in the time sensitive decision-making process. The authors used four hypothetical acute stroke scenarios and found high surrogate-patient agreement for clinical scenarios of 87%-96% but a drop to 49%-74% with a research scenario suggesting the accuracy between surrogate-patient agreement on participation decreases with a research scenario, noting a difference in the type of decision made (clinical versus research).

Sanoff et al (2013) recorded calls to enrolling physicians. The most commonly cited reasons for non-enrolment were: unclear stroke onset time; pre-existing condition confounding outcome; mental incapacity and no legal representative; rapidly improving symptoms and no interpreter. Eleven per cent of legally authorised representatives, refused participation.

Kasner et al (2009) similarly found that patients were more likely to agree to a research study than a consultee was on their behalf adding weight to Bryant et al's (2013) call for further characterisation of the surrogate decision making in acute stroke, to be useful.

2.3 Components of recruitment

Significant costs are associated with trials failing to meet recruitment targets or extending recruitment at the expense of limited resources being invested in new trials. A significant amount of current literature suggests both organisational and clinical disease factors affecting recruitment to trials. Adeoye et al (2012) suggest that improved recruitment rates could be achieved by capturing potential participants who are 'eligible but not approached' and 'treated but not enrolled'.

Prior to enrolment in a clinical trial, several important recognised steps would have needed to have occurred. Events ranging from the need to document pre-hospital activity immediately post event through to seeking medical attention and having a clinical trial 'open to recruitment and accessible' with resources (researcher) to offer a recruitment opportunity. The decision regarding trial participation rests with the competent decision-maker at this point.

2.3.1 Presentation and recognition

Early treatment and secondary preventive measures can reduce the brain damage associated with a stroke and treatment of stroke is very time dependent. The multimedia campaign and associated medical personnel training (ambulance crews) with FAST Campaign has led to increased recognition of symptoms (Mellor et al 2014). However, in a UK project set in the West Midlands, Mellor et al (2014) found that delays arose from patients' lack of recognition (or denial) of the significance of their symptoms, contact with primary care as opposed to the emergency services and lack of recognition of the nature and severity of the event by initial healthcare providers. Of 2042 presenting acute stroke patients from a multi-ethnic population in the US during an 8 year period (2005-2013), 101 patients presented one-week after acute stroke, 58% were beyond 4.5 hours (the required time for early intravenous thrombolysis treatment) with diabetic patients less likely to arrive within the prescribed time period. Patients who were men, with a history of atrial fibrillation or flutter and experiencing a transient ischaemic attack were significantly more likely to arrive within the prescribed time prescribed time. Black, African-America and Hispanic patients were less likely to arrive on time (Matos-Diaz et al 2015).

Elkins et al (2006) found trials with a recruitment window of >6 hours had double the recruitment rates of those that use a recruitment window of <6 hours, suggesting a significant impact of time pressure.

Further international research by Williams et al (2009) in a retrospective audit of 331 presentations found 63% of cases presenting >12 hours after symptom onset and subsequent long in-hospital delays with only 52% being assessed by a physician within an hour of presentation with intravenous thrombolysis treatment not being routinely performed.

With access to intravenous thrombolysis treatment becoming more widely available in recent years, clinical trials in front line drugs such as IST-3, DIAS-4, ECCASS3/4, immediate CT and rapid assessment time have contributed to shorten delays post presentation but wake-up strokes, unknown time of onset and seeking help pre-hospital remain potential delays (Penaloza-Ramos et al (2014).

2.3.2 Site setup and resource

Barriers and facilitators to out of hospital stroke research were noted by Ankolekar et al (2014) who used semi-structured interviews to identify 13 themes associated with recruitment. Positive factors were noted to be simple stroke diagnostic tools, proxy consent and straightforward trial processes. Recruitment was reported to be easier with each new randomisation whilst barriers were reported as the emergency setting, lack of institutional support, rarity of condition and difficulty in attending training.

Ahluwalia et al (2014) noted a trend towards increased understanding and satisfaction with the informed consent process by patients where additional resources of a video link phone were used pre-hospital but warn of possible risk as a result of increasing time at the scene of the event to intervention (time) within secondary care.

Perceived clinical equipoise must exist in the research team and sufficient resources available for trial delivery when eligible patients are likely to present. Balancing resource with financial return is a significant consideration for trusts and Research and development (R&D) departments in the current financial climate.

During a trial, changes such as a relocation of services, advances in clinical care, or local changes in clinical arrangements can all affect recruitment figures. Advances in clinical care may mean the research question becomes no longer valid during the trial or needs to be adjusted to complete the trial and create the evidence base for a particular aspect of clinical care for example CLOTS collaborative (2008).

For a recruitment opportunity to occur, a clinical trial must have received a favourable ethical and local (Trust research and development) approval, be open to recruitment at the emergency care facility and have the necessary resources to be able to offer this opportunity.

Charting 300 subjects recruited for acute stroke trials, Elkins et al (2006) found that study entry criteria and organisational factors influenced recruitment rates. It is therefore necessary to not only have a trial open but also one open that patients are eligible for.

Trial-related barriers to participation include additional demands from a trial protocol on the patient such as time, discomfort, worry and travel; preference for a particular outcome may dissuade participants from trials involving a randomisation, especially if the alternative is a placebo; some patients may not wish to take medication, change their existing medication or have a fear of the unknown or adverse events (Kaur et al 2012). A complex trial design may not be in keeping with standard care treatment visits, requiring additional scheduling. Age, level of education, social circumstances, language and cultural issues (distrust of existing systems) may also have an impact. A complex trial design which outlines a schedule not in keeping with standard care treatment visits may require multiple additional clinic or hospital visits which may be difficult for those who would need to take time off work to meet trial commitments.

Clinicians may have personal concerns with reluctance to 'over-burden' a patient with research at a difficult time evidenced by less recruitment of severely ill patients.

Resources required on site to deliver a study include study team members with knowledge of the study, delegation of trial procedures and a signed delegation of duties log with personnel able to action the necessary requirements. These staff need to be available when a patient presents in order to be in the time window for recruitment. Consideration therefore needs to be given to working hours, shifts patterns and extended hours cover within a 24/7 healthcare service.

With the advent of the national research networks in 2006, the NIHR provided an infrastructure for research, funding and supplying research nurses amongst other initiatives, boosting recruitment (Darbyshire et al 2011).

Leira et al (2009) found an increased likelihood of consent to trial participation with an increased number of research contact points. Utilising pre-arrival communication between investigator and potential participants proved successful with an increased consent rate in acute stroke trials within a cohort of 100 patients (trialled in US in 2007).

Information overload is deemed to be when there is a substantial difference between the volume of information provided and the extent to which people can make use of it. This can occur due to a problem processing and tasking (a possible consequence of the clinical effects of a patient having suffered a stroke) and as a result, can influence decision-making (Kutty and Himanshu 2007). Factors affecting information overload may appear on a personal level with an individual's educational level, past experiences, the characteristics of the information in terms of quality, quantity and frequency, tasks, process, design and Information technology. Hall et al (2007)

described an illusion of knowledge, suggesting that too much knowledge can interfere with an individual's ability to make a rational decision. Raynor et al (2007) found evidence outside trials that patients had a preference for verbal information from clinicians complemented by written information.

Patient information sheets have been criticised in the literature in regard to trial recruitment. Iwanowski et al (2008) surveyed 24 investigators on informed consent for research about coronary syndromes and stroke findings. Despite there being no legal obligation to do so, investigators sought parallel consent from patients' relatives in the majority of cases - due to the patient information sheets being considered as fully read in only 15% of cases and 80% of investigators considering the amount of information being given too lengthy. Similarly Shilling et al (2011), found that both practitioners and parents in paediatric clinical trials expressed dissatisfaction with patient information leaflets; reporting them to be too long and complicated.

More recently Kirby et al (2013) tested the feasibility of electronic information provision, for an interventional study noting the amount of information accessed. From 1160 potentially eligible participants only 25% supplied an email address. Of those responding on email (106), 59% (n=63) booked to attend a recruitment clinic despite accessing no electronic information. Kirby concludes that written information may not be read, reemphasizes the importance of the consent interview and suggests new ways of presenting information are needed.

2.3.2.1 Informed Consent

Clinical trials research consent differs from clinical care consent since the latter is based (at least in theory) on a body of evidence for a prescribed, recognised treatment and considered to be in the best interests of the patient. The former is carried out to create that body of evidence and may not directly benefit the participants themselves.

Valid informed consent is at the centre of ethical research practice and is essential to protect the rights and safety of patients taking part in research. Several definitions of informed consent can be found in the literature based on the International Conference on Harmonisation for Good Clinical Practice (ICH GCP 1996), which stipulates:

"A process by which a subject voluntarily confirms his or her willingness to participate in a trial, after having been informed of all aspects of the trial that are relevant to the subject's decision to participate and by means of a written, signed and dated informed consent form." (ICH, GCP E6 1.28)

Any new information that becomes available and which might influence a decision to carry on with trial participation, must be shared with any recruits. Continued understanding of participation must also be present which reflects the on-going nature of the consent process.

In order to participate in a clinical trial, valid informed consent to take part must be freely given and received. Care is needed due to cognitive and physical effects from a stroke so that words and details are not missed when presented with written information. Alternative formats of documented trial details may need to be sourced to ensure that consent remains fully informed.

In emergency research, time is limited and should patients be unable to consent themselves (DH 2005), independent physician consent as well as legal representative, verbal consent or exception to consent maybe appropriate approaches given ethical approval. Legislation has incorporated EU directives with statutory instruments to allow concessions to be made in the consent process for research in the emergency setting. Flaherty et al (2008) found that only 30% of patients who experienced stroke provided their own consent.

Supporting patients and their families at this stressful time is fundamental to ensuring patient choice is available for as long as possible. Lecouturier et al (2010) suggested that improvements in rates of study participation could be achieved through increasing the time spent with patients and families talking about research, but acknowledge that this may not always be possible in emergency research. It is possible for participants to consent using conventional processes to continue in research post recovery and many studies have processes to enable this.

Alternatively, an exception to consent was researched in the emergency department using a hypothetical stroke trial by Kleindorfer et al (2011) with the majority of ischaemic stroke patients being agreeable to enrolment.

Ali et al (2006) used focus groups of individuals having had personal experience of stroke and found a preference to personal contact with researchers (face to face),

request for waiver of consent and agreement to family assent on behalf of incompetent patients. Whilst Lecouterier et al 2008 found that 50% of professionals were reluctant to agree with research without consent, a paradoxically higher percentage would personally take part in such a study.

Masuca et al (2012) found patients consented faster than legal representatives and since emerging treatments are time sensitive, called for further efforts to target this for stroke where significant numbers of patients are not able to fully consent for themselves.

Flexible consent procedures have made it possible to recruit target numbers into some stroke trials notably International Stroke Trial 3 (IST-3) using written consent, witnessed consent, assent or waiver of consent (Kane et al 2006).

Consent for research is enshrined in UK law and considered to be a planned activity. To enable emergency care research the concept of deferred consent or a 'waiver of consent' has emerged and maybe considered by the research ethics board and (under strict requirements) maybe a recognised practice in a study (NRES 2011a).

In the US, independent ethics committees, following strict requirements may approve a consent process that does not include some or all elements of informed consent or waiver the process. However, Lecouturier et al (2010) found waiver of consent not well documented in the literature and less advanced as a concept in the UK compared to the US.

Alternative consent strategies e.g. telephone consent and two-physician consent (although available) are not routinely used in clinical practice in isolation (Gilani et al 2013). Recruiting 159 patients undergoing endovascular treatment for acute stroke Gilani et al (2013) found that alternative consent strategies did not adversely affect procedural characteristics (no time delay) or patient outcomes and such consent strategies maybe more time efficient than in-person consenting.

Beauchamp and Childress (2009) advocate three elements of consent. The first is the provision of adequate information with a full and comprehensive outline of the research so that patients know exactly what is involved. According to the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Clinical Practice (ICH GCP 1996), 20 distinct elements are recommended for inclusion in patient information sheets. It is generally accepted that patients need to be given 'enough' information to make a valid informed decision, however, regulatory guidance and legislation favours maximum disclosure with researchers required to give 'full' information whether or not patients wish to receive it. Research in the literature has focused on whether this is information overload (Ferguson 2002, Fortun et al 2008) with Rose and Kasner (2011) highlighting that stroke trial patient information sheets typically range from 8 to 16 pages depending on the complexity of the trial.

A distinction between study and routine care is not always understood by participants (Lynoe et al 2004), lending support to the debate on whether informed consent is truly informed.

2.3.3 Clinical disease

Clinical disease symptoms can add complexity to the recruitment process and this is particularly evident in stroke disease where a sudden neurological event can have any combination of wide ranging symptoms. The need for alternative consent strategies, with a potentially unclear diagnosis during an acute event, with associated risk, despite clinical equipoise, may be an uncomfortable situation for a treating physician who may not wish to 'burden' a family with a decision for research at a difficult time.

The timing of a research approach may influence participation. Immediately post event, on seeking medical help, research options may be the only access to some treatments or may be appealing to patients. Alternatively, when patients and their family have a diagnosis and are accepting of the prognosis, research may be more favourable as an option. The time post hyperacute and pre-rehabilitation could be a difficult time within which to advocate research from a professional perspective since there maybe no clarity in diagnosis or little information on prognosis. Equally it may be a difficult time to be open to the concept of a research opportunity from a patient's perspective. A strategy for enrolment is often identified at site and is disease specific in many cases.

Physicians may act as gatekeepers and maybe unwilling to participate in facilitating research trials themselves due to a lack of time, lack of resources (support staff), conflicting clinician / scientist role, lack of trials experience, lack of recognition and possibly an uninteresting research question (Rahman et al 2011). If the clinical team deemed it to be unlikely that the patient will survive the stroke event, they are often not approached for research (which may have an entry criterion related to whether or

not the patient is expected to survive for a minimum fixed period or for follow up).

There could be disagreement in terms of uncertainty or equipoise amongst professional colleagues with low referral numbers due to lack of physician engagement. Physician colleagues may agree to be part of the trial whilst disagreeing with some aspects of it.

Financial incentives may encourage investigator participation as well as protected time to carry out research duties or a research question in line with a physician's interests with clear potential to improve patient care and regular feedback (Rahman et al 2011.)

Ethnic disparities in regard to stroke disease exist in not only stroke incidence but also recurrence and mortality - which are higher particularly in South Asian and Black African-Caribbean populations (Carman et al 2014), and yet ethnic minority participation in stroke trials remains surprisingly low.

The inclusion of stroke patients across the whole (severity) scale in research trials is important so that results can be applicable to the wider stroke population. Stroke severity was noted at the outset of a research approach by Schlegel et al (2003) and evaluated using the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) – a clinical assessment tool used within stroke medicine. The scale has been widely accepted by clinical researchers and clinical care professionals due to a high level of score consistency and ease of administration with minimal training.

Kasner et al (2003) found that a modified version of the stroke severity scale could be estimated from a review of medical records. Similarly, Bushnell et al (2001) and Williams et al (2000) found that the NIHSS could be reliably estimated retrospectively from the admission neurological examination (although actual testing was preferable). Developed from work by Brott et al (1989), it has since been repeatedly validated for assessing stroke severity and found to be an excellent predictor of patient outcomes (Muir et al 1996; Frankel et al 2000).

Weimar et al (2006) analysed 1,725 consecutively admitted acute ischaemic stroke patients and found that trial design could be improved in terms of time or study size by using defined thresholds for recovery and mortality compared to a fixed inclusion criterion of an NIHSS scale. This will be discussed further in the methodology chapter.

2.4 Participants and Non-Participants

Elkins et al (2006), suggest that characterising predictors of recruitment may help optimize future trial design. This has cost implications in terms of trial set-up and investment of working time for all parties. Shilling et al (2011) call for further exploration of those who decline trials and specific research on accessing 'decliners' as a group to explore reasons for declining trials at different stages of recruitment.

In other disease areas such as cancer, Jenkins and Fallowfield (2000) used a communication study (questionnaire consisting of prompts) to assess reasons for accepting or declining to take part in cancer therapy clinical trials. Of 204 cancer patients eligible for randomised clinical trials, 72% agreed to participate. The most

common reason stated for accepting entry was altruism and trust in the doctor. Of the decliners, the main reason stated was also trust in the doctor - which in the absence of detailed interview may suggest clinician influence. A preference for the doctor choosing a treatment as opposed to randomisation was also highlighted by decliners. A higher acceptance rate was noted in a trial which gave active treatment in all study arms. This is not surprising given the controversial nature of trial design with a no active treatment arm.

Lloyd-Williams (2003) used postal questionnaires with potential heart failure trial participants at the time of recruitment. No difference was found in sociodemographic characteristics between patients who agreed to participate and those who did not. The main reason stated for non-participation was age (too old), health status (too unwell) or too busy. Recommendations in light of the findings include clarity of the benefits of taking part in a study when unwell and the call for trial designs to take into account busy lives for potential participants of all ages.

Avis et al (2006) in a cohort of 208 breast cancer patients, found a 58% participation rate across phase I-III trials with phase II trials having a higher acceptance rate. From their data, reducing drawbacks, specifically travel time, and improving physician communication, were identified as areas to address to increase participation.

In other healthcare areas such as antenatal screening, Koschack (2009) found those declining deliberated more deeply on the pros and cons of research participation. Interviews were conducted with those who declined and showed personal, diverse life

experiences and philosophy in regard to specific tests (Down Syndrome), to be the main determinant.

Madsen et al (2007) explored the attitudes to clinical trials in a small group of female cancer patients using a grounded theory approach. Patients voiced positive attitudes believing trials to be necessary for medical advances. Those agreeing to participate argued participation was a moral obligation. Most expressed a discomfort with randomisation whilst decliners expressed a radical change in focus at decision time and personal choice. Patients support the suggestion that a feeling of hope is associated with research involvement (Weiss Roberts et al 2002).

Less well documented in the literature to date are the opinions and attitudes of stroke recruits and non-recruits (decliners). There appears to be a gap in the literature associated with stroke disease with unclear factors associated with declining participation in a research trial when offered. In terms of a level of willingness to participate, there may be a proportion of patients that will always decline participation, regardless of whether or not these decliners are given further details about the study. This number could be factored into trial design for numbers needing to be screened for a conversion rate to achieve target recruitment figures and factored into a recruitment strategy.

2.5 Reflection on the Literature

A critical approach through this review has been adopted in order to analyse its implications for this study. In this section, the main points are summarised.

In the first section of this chapter, theories of behaviour were discussed together with debates in the literature on predictive behaviour and hypothetical situations. Decision-making was then reviewed from an individual perspective, cognitive and personal biases were noted and information overload was considered. This indicated the complexity of factors associated with the decision-making process and how this might be further compounded with disease and a need for a recruitment strategy.

Informed consent in the research process was explored and included current findings in regard to proxy decision-makers. Four identifiable components necessary for a recruitment opportunity were discussed and influences to this recruitment process where noted from the literature to broadly fall into organisational, clinical disease and population specific factors.

Disease assessment scales used within the clinical setting were outlined with regard to stroke and the most commonly used was explored further.

An absence in the literature was noted in regard to patients declining participation as little is known about that potentially very important cohort of the population and results in a gap in our knowledge of findings which are generalizable to the population and the disease area of interest, as a whole.

Previous literature in relation to low recruitment rates has cited various explanations including issues with trial design -extending the time needed to reach recruitment target; failure to approach potential participants or identify eligible participants and fewer eligible participants than anticipated (McDonald et al 2006); and barriers to

recruitment - potential participant perceptions such as perceived investment of time, perceived importance or preference for treatment (Prescott et al 1999).

Little research to date relates to the actual recruitment of stroke patients into acute clinical trials (Kasner et al 2009) with factors that may influence potential participants' decision-making about whether or not to participate remaining unclear. Although much debated, there is little clear evidence as to why many trials fail to recruit well (McDonald et al 2011).

This study arose from the lack of documented literature on the stroke trial recruitment process. There is a lack of research characterising potential participants, assessing whether particular individuals are likely to take part in or decline research and an absence of taught approach strategies for acute stroke research to maximise participation in trials.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

Overview

This study used survey methods as the primary means of data collection to explore patient recruitment into acute stroke trials. It is the intention that the findings of this study will directly inform future practice on trial recruitment. This chapter provides an overview of the research methodology (design and methods) and relates this to the research question and the purpose of the study.

The first two sections of this chapter outline the research question and the methodological considerations that underpin the study design. Section 3.3 provides a detailed description of the study design including piloting and site selection, Section 3.4 describes participant identification and sample size. This is followed by survey administration and data collection. Section 3.7 highlights statistical approaches used for data analysis.

3.1 Research Question

The overall aim of this study was to identify the motivators and barriers to trial recruitment in order to inform future trial design. This study focused solely on stroke disease and more specifically the acute phase post event and the willingness of participants to take part in an acute stroke research trial.

Trends in patient characteristics were assessed to decide whether study designs could be modified to optimise stroke patient recruitment.

The research question was therefore, what influences decision making for clinical trial participation in the context of acute stroke and are there any factors which predict participation?

3.2 Methodological considerations

The research strategy employed for this study was a survey administered face-toface, with each participant. This approach allowed quantitative information to be collected about the population of interest (stroke patients) and decision-making with regard to their participation in a clinical trial. The methodological considerations underpinning the selection of this technique are outlined in this section.

3.2.1 Paradigm debates

Social science research is subject to various debates about the epistemological issues that underpin it. At its core, these issues come from the philosophy of science, which makes basic assumptions about fundamental issues (such as the nature of truth) and what it means to know, and beliefs about the way to look at the world. These emphasise the approach and the framework which guides such research and generally falls into quantitative research versus qualitative measures - although according to the literature they are not so mutually exclusive (Niglas 1999).

This study is descriptive research aimed at examining factors associated with a situation e.g. the decision-making process associated with participation in a clinical trial, in the post stroke acute phase. Factors examined include demographics, socioeconomic, health characteristics, behaviour, attitudes, opinions, experiences

and knowledge. Descriptive studies estimate parameters in a population and describe any associations.

On an epistemological level, the study is positivist assuming objective accounts of the world can be generated and values quantitative measures (Sale et al 2002, Smith 1983). At the alternative end of the spectrum is the interpretivist perspective and requires a high validity in qualitative approach. Arguably a purely quantitative perspective, maybe insufficient to elicit the full nature of decision-making. By incorporating qualitative elements for validity, inferences maybe reportable with regard to this.

3.2.2 Survey research

Survey methods are commonly used in health research studies as they enable collection of data from large numbers of participants in a standardised format. Data analysis allows for statistical associations between responses to specific questions and inferences about the wider population can be deducted on the basis of these associations.

Survey limitations may include low response rates, the influence of language barriers (i.e. a sufficient command of spoken English language is assumed), or literacy issues (reading and comprehension ability). In a multicultural society, English may not be the first language or spoken at home therefore older relatives may rely on younger family members for communication outside of their own language or dialect.

Alternative research techniques would have resulted in increased difficulty for potential respondents in the cohort population being studied. Responders in the acute phase of their stroke would not necessarily have been able to interact sufficiently to perform a self-completion survey or participate in qualitative data collection methods such as a semi-structured interview on an individual or group basis. Qualitative research often takes longer to perform, for data to be collected and involves more active participation on the part of participants than a face-to-face administered survey (questionnaire).

Patients in an acute phase of illness are likely to have a reduced concentration span and be acutely unwell requiring an inpatient hospital stay, so that attending a focus group or completing an in-depth interview at the bedside would not be appropriate. Additionally, significant rehabilitation maybe scheduled as part of standard care that should not be delayed for research. Repeated interactions with the same respondent over a period of time were not considered feasible in addition to clinical trial requirements and alongside clinical care.

3.2.3 Previous Stroke Studies

Summers et al (2009) defined the first two phases of stroke as 'hyperacute' and 'acute'. The 'hyperacute' care phase includes pre-hospital and emergency department activities, typically lasting for up to 24 hours including the stroke itself and transfer to hospital. This is followed by the 'acute' care phase that includes the admission to hospital and a stay in a critical care unit or stroke unit. Rocco et al (2007) found this acute phase to be between 1 and 7 days (commonly up to 72 hours) and this phase became the focus for this study.
Kasner et al (2009) reported the use of a survey in acute stroke with regard to trial participation (discussed in chapter 1, section 1.3). Since the survey element of Kasner's study was conducted with verbal consent, the medical records were not accessed and the severity of stroke via NIHSS scoring was not recorded.

Following direct communication with Dr Scott Kasner (Pennsylvania, US), permission was granted to adopt that questionnaire with adaptions made for this study for crosscultural and comparative purposes, administered in the UK. The limitations of this approach are considered in section 3.6.

3.3 Study Design

This study used a prospective survey tool in the context of acute stroke with two integrated components: i) A clinical trial participation decision and ii) a researcher administered questionnaire - to identify willingness to participate in acute stroke research trials and to elicit reasons why an individual may agree or decline trial participation. The study was designed to survey non-responders and decliners to acute stroke trials equally with those who chose to participate in a trial.

To minimise the risk of a low response rate and alleviate any concerns of complexity, face-to-face administration of the survey was conducted. This approach compensated for patients with the inability to read or who were illiterate or for those who had a poor command of English (English not being their first language). Additionally, an in-house interpretation service was available to help clarify understanding or expression of

English where necessary. The survey consisted of a clinical trial participation decision and a short questionnaire.

Consideration was given to the length of the questionnaire so as to avoid repeat research contacts, respondent fatigue, incomplete answers or disruption to rehabilitation and clinical care.

The administration of a face-to-face questionnaire aided the engagement of patients to take part as fully as possible under the circumstances of ill health. This approach allowed the researcher to assess and adjust the pace of questions according to any deficits or effects the patient may have experienced due to the acute event.

Inadvertent mistakes and biases made by the patient were minimised as the researcher had the ability to immediately clarify any questions that were unclear or caused confusion and equally, repeat answers for accuracy of response. It was felt that a self-completed questionnaire would have introduced the possibility of inaccuracies, incomplete answers and misunderstanding resulting in unnecessary loss of data.

Financial constraints were a consideration in the survey design with no central grant funding and an application for NIHR adoption pending. A successful adoption onto the NIHR national database would have allowed stroke research network support costs to be released and accessed for additional researchers but a rejection would result in no additional resources.

To capture a decision on clinical trial participation (from all potential participants), a mock trial was incorporated into the survey design alongside real trials, open at that site. Potential participants eligible for a real trial were offered an opportunity to consider a real trial. Patients ineligible for a real trial were offered the mock trial for consideration instead. The questionnaire accompanying this trial participation-decision consisted of a combination of closed questions using Likert scales and some open questions (to aid a response close to social reality).

This is similar to the methodology used by Kasner et al (2009) to identify those who would participate in acute stroke trials and by Goldstein et al (2010) to evaluate willingness to be enrolled in a hypothetical acute stroke trial in the Emergency Department (using exception from informed consent), although Goldstein sampled consecutive ED attendees whilst Kasner used prospective acute stroke admissions.

For the current study, a valid informed consent process was part of the study design with patient information sheets being considered for an adequate length of time (participant dependent) although the remit of an acute phase trial (typically within 72 hours from stroke onset) was stressed, where the recruitment window was short. A full consent process was planned.

All questionnaires were administered by a single researcher, which standardised the format and made sure that all questions were asked in the same way. The questionnaire was administered as soon as reasonably possible after a patient had been admitted to hospital noting the time and date of administration as a reference point (for delay in seeking help, arrival to hospital and timing of a research approach).

3.3.1 Patient & Public Involvement and Piloting

As the questionnaire had been devised and administered in America, it was adapted prior to use in the UK. A patient and public involvement (PPI) group for stroke disease were approached early on in study design. The study protocol and associated paperwork were reviewed by designated members of the PPI group, providing feedback that was incorporated into the final design.

The questionnaire and associated trial paperwork were piloted by 10% (n=20) of the proposed final sample size. Several stroke survivors and their families considered the documentation at various stages of stroke event (during admission, at discharge and in the community) - for appropriateness of wording and ease of understanding. Members of NHS staff also reviewed the trial documentation.

The questionnaire was devised to be short with a maximum administration time of 20 minutes. This was found to be the case and the pilot sample feedback supported the length.

At the outset of the questionnaire, all participants were asked to define what they understood by the term "clinical trial". Ambiguity was noted at piloting, surrounding respondents' understanding of this term. Any verbal response that was given was recorded verbatim to avoid any interpretation, misinterpretation, bias or guiding. At the end of the response, an accurate, official definition of a clinical trial as determined by DH, NHS Choices (2015) was given in full and understanding was checked before proceeding further with the questionnaire. This was to avert any misunderstanding or

misconceptions which may occur if respondents had not had the chance to receive clarification. The definition used can be found in Appendix 1.

As a result of the piloting phase, the scale of wellness within the questionnaire was reduced from that typically used, from 0-100 to 1-10 as several members of the healthy, non-stroke pilot sample highlighted concern that there were too many numbers in the range.

The changes as a result of the pilot and PPI feedback were incorporated into the final version of the study documents found in Appendix 2 - Survey tool and study documentation. These received a favourable ethical opinion from The Black Country NRES Committee West Midlands following a full ethics board review (05 March 2012) and two NHS Acute foundation Trusts were identified as potential recruiting sites.

3.3.2 Clinical Assessment Tools

A range of clinical assessment tools are used in the hospital setting for patient evaluation and monitoring. These include National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS); Scandinavian Stroke Scale (SSS); ABCD² score (used to predict the short-term risk of a stroke following a Transient Ischaemic Attack - TIA); TOAST criteria; Bartel; Rankin and GCS, the latter three not being stroke specific but used in clinical practise in relation to patients (including stroke patients).

The NIHSS is a 15-item impairment scale used to evaluate neurologic outcomes and degree of recovery for patients with stroke (Appendix 3). The scale assesses level of consciousness, extraocular movements, visual fields, facial muscle function, extremity

strength, sensory function, coordination (ataxia), language (aphasia), speech (dysarthria), and hemi-inattention (neglect) (Lyden et al 1999; 2001). Developed from work by Brott et al (1989), it has since been repeatedly validated for assessing stroke severity and found to be an excellent predictor of patient outcomes (Muir et al 1996; Frankel et al 2000).

Each item is scored from 0 - 2, 0 - 3, or 0 - 4, and untestable items are scored as 'UN'. A score of 0 indicates normal performance. Total scores on the NIHSS range from 0 - 42, with higher values reflecting more severe cerebral infarcts. Schlegel et al (2003) classifying scores as mild (<5); moderate (between 6 and 13) and severe (>13). Muir et al (1996) highlights an upper ceiling of scoring in patients with severe strokes, as many items may not be testable.

The outcome of a clinician stroke assessment scoring was recorded as it is often used within clinical care as an indicator of patient progress, for monitoring any changes in condition, real trial eligibility or guiding treatment. This score was added to the front of the questionnaire.

An application for NIHR support via adoption onto the national portfolio database was submitted but subsequently declined, as an invitation to join NIHR as a noncommercial partner was declined at that time, by the course-fees funding body for this MPhil.

3.3.3 Site selection

The primary recruiting site selected was Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust -Heartlands Hospital which based on validated data, receives approximately 400 acute stroke admissions annually (Sheppard et al 2012) and whose local catchment population reflects the diversity of the city within which it is based (Birmingham, UK); has research activity from NIHR national stroke portfolio of studies (open and recruiting) and utilising research nurses integrated in clinical care team.

A second additional recruitment site was identified locally as a back-up should recruitment numbers be low or if the primary site experienced unexpected issues. This was University Hospital Birmingham – Queen Elizabeth, selected due to similarities to primary site in terms of stroke service and size. Although it was not expected that a second recruitment site would be necessary, regional reconfiguration of stroke services was planned which could have had a significant impact on the study and data collection capacity at the primary recruiting site. Figure 3.1 shows the location of the recruiting sites within the West Midlands region.

The number of researchers working on the study was capped to one due to financial constraints (funding comprising an MPhil studentship). At the primary site, the researcher was considered the principle investigator (PI). At the second site, due to substantive employment being elsewhere, a Consultant Neurologist provided oversight at the PI level for the research.





 Recruiting Site 1- Heartlands Hospital, Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust, B9 5SS.
 Recruiting Site 2- Queen Elizabeth Hospital, University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust, B15 2TH.

3.4 Participant Selection

Patients were identified by the clinical care team from a prospective emergency department (ED) stroke database, TIA and minor stroke clinic referrals (from ED and GPs) and direct patient referrals to the stroke lead nurse on a daily basis (from in-hospital strokes and GPs).

3.4.1 Inclusion criteria

 All new acute stroke patients who were admitted to the trust and who were deemed both approachable and likely to survive the stroke event (as identified by the clinical care team).

3.4.2 Exclusion Criteria

- Patients who were considered not likely to survive the initial stroke event were excluded from the study (as deemed by the clinical care team).
- TIAs and stroke mimics

3.4.3 Sample Size

Consecutive patients with a primary diagnosis of stroke were approached within a 15 month time frame (April 2012-July 2013). Patients were selected as consecutively approached as opposed to consecutive admissions, by the researcher and as opposed to patients self-selecting to complete the questionnaire, based on the (broad) inclusion and exclusion criteria. This approach aimed to result in a representative sample and provided an equal likelihood of being approached, with findings representative of wider society.

With an admission rate of approximately 400 strokes annually, consideration was made for recruitment target setting as follows: those potential respondents who may decline study consent; local 7 day mortality rates; unable to self-consent and no available consultees; too busy with investigations; too ill to approach; those not interested; missed by the clinical team and those who declined without stating a reason. A proposed recruitment target of 200 was deemed necessary (and achievable) to provide 80% power (at alpha = 0.05) to detect a 20% absolute difference in the likelihood of trial participation. This was in line with Kasner et al (2009).

A consolidated standard of reporting trials (Consort) diagram (Schulz et al 2010) describes predicted recruitment figures in order to elicit the final sample size for the study and how this was devised (Appendix 4). This notably included 13% of patients with a primary diagnosis of stroke (National Sentinel Stroke Audit 2008 HEFT) who died within the first 7 days of care and 18% overall who died prior to discharge.

3.5 Survey Tool Administration

All eligible patients admitted with acute stroke were approached in the first instance to consider participating in a 'real trial' at the recruiting site, by the clinical care team and subsequently were offered this study. A 'real trial' was deemed to be a live, openly recruiting, acute stroke research clinical trial, with ethical and R&D approvals in place at the recruiting site. Nine real trials were available at the start of the recruitment period (although some trials were imminently due to close to recruitment).

Any stroke admissions ineligible for a 'real trial' but deemed by the clinical team as approachable (likely to survive the stroke event), were also approached about this study and simultaneously asked to consider a mock (hypothetical) trial. It was made clear both verbally and written on the patient information sheet where a mock trial was used as no deception was intended.

The mock trial was devised by selecting a Clinical Trial of an Investigational Medicinal Product (CTIMP) from the acute stroke NIHR national portfolio database. The criteria for acceptance onto the portfolio includes having been peer reviewed and deemed good quality research. A trial was chosen that was open to recruitment nationally but not registered at the primary recruitment site for this study. The trial was anonymised as a replica and cleared labelled as a hypothetical trial (a copy of which can be found in Appendix 2 – Study documentation).

A full consent process was followed allowing sufficient time for respondents to consider the information and make a valid informed choice on participation. Participation decisions in response to the trial (real or mock) were recorded, since the primary outcome of the study was the trial participation decision. If a patient's mental capacity was affected, preventing them from completing a full consent process, a consultee (representative or surrogate decision-maker), usually a relative (who knows the person best to be able to verbalise their wishes), was approached and invited to take part in this study as the 'respondent' i.e. the decision-maker for trial participation for the purposes of research. This followed the accepted current practice for stroke research with any patients unable to make a valid informed consent decision

regarding participation (at the discretion of the clinical care team) and follows the Mental Capacity Act (DH 2005) philosophy.

All stroke admissions approached and consented for this study, considered a clinical trial (real or mock) and completed the study questionnaire. No further contact as part of this study was planned (although any required commitments to a real trial remained). A flowchart of the study procedure is summarised in Appendix 5.

Recruitment at the primary site commenced in April 2012 and was analysed monthly. The target recruitment figure deviated from the actual recruited figures. This was due to changes in 'real' trial availability (studies closed or were on hold), ward closures were experienced for brief periods (due to Norovirus outbreaks) and no approachable admissions had occurred for periods in excess of two weeks at certain times. Additionally, a non-interventional trial commenced which competed for the same cohort of patients. After six months, the decision was taken to open the second (back-up) recruiting site and this happened in January 2013 with the same researcher now working across both sites. This improved recruitment and completed the study within the original time frame. Analysis across both sites was undertaken so that any differences in the characteristics of the patient cohort, disease variation and service provision between sites could be assessed.

Patients discharged from hospital prior to research contact, were considered lost to research and typically included those patients with a short length of stay, transfers out of area, transfers for neurosurgical intervention and those misdiagnosed. Those

declining this study outright due to any reason were also considered lost to research and were not contacted further.

Any patient who lacked the mental capacity to make a valid informed decision regarding participation (at the discretion of the clinical care team) and who did not have a carer or relative available, were not approached for this study and were deemed lost to research.

3.6 Data Collection

An anonymised trial number was assigned to each participant for confidentiality of information recording. A centrally held file linking codes to names was stored on site in a locked filing cabinet for the duration of the recruitment period in order to determine if the same respondent completed more than one questionnaire. The questionnaires were administered by the researcher, with the respondent answering each question and responses recorded directly onto each questionnaire. Sufficient time was given for a response and where possible all measures were taken to elicit an accurate response.

Two specific, open questions allowed for a series of prompts following an initial response. These were part of a qualitative exploration and patient responses were recorded verbatim.

A National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) scoring was recorded for each patient on the day the patient was approached by research. Where this was retrospective (a real trial being offered when the researcher was not available), a

recorded scoring from the medical records one day either side of the research approach was used (Kasner et al 1999). Where a scoring from the medical records was not possible and this could not be obtained from any other source, these data were considered missing.

Hospital episode statistics and a local in-house stroke register were checked retrospectively for any patients discharged prior to the research exposure. This allowed for an accurate record of all research eligible stroke patients admitted during the recruitment period and to inform on recruitment overall. Data cleaning was carried out to validate stroke diagnosis and determine length of stay, which was entered retrospectively.

3.7 Data Analysis

Data were recorded directly onto the questionnaires (hard copy) and uploaded by the researcher into an Excel spreadsheet prior to statistical analysis using SPSS v17.0 (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, Chicago, IL).

Descriptive statistics (means and proportion as appropriate to data type) were calculated using standard methods. Univariate analysis using 2 sample *t* tests for continuous variables and non-parametric tests (Chi Square) were used for categorical variables, for those factors associated with trial participation (ethnicity, educational level and gender). Significance was defined as p<0.05. Stepwise multivariable analysis explored factors independently associated with a participant's decision to take part in a trial.

Thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke 2006) was carried out on the qualitative elements of the free text within the survey tool. The data generated was coded for theme frequencies to expand the range of the study past individual experiences. This allowed for categories to emerge from the data and an interpretation of themes supported by the data (Guest 2012). As themes emerged, comparison was made with original data and cross-checked for accuracy of original meaning to ensure this had not been lost in the theme, by the researcher and a University Professor experienced in mixed methods research.

A series of set prompts was used following a verbal reason for trial decision. These were preselected from the current literature (Kasner et al 2009; NIH 2012, 2015; Healthtalk 2012, 2015).

This chapter has provided an overview of the research methodology, identifying the main methodological considerations, the study design and its associated limitations. In the next chapter the results of this study are presented.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

Overview

As outlined in the methodology chapter, this study utilised survey research as the primary means of data collection. Results from a researcher-administered questionnaire and clinical trial uptake are presented together with a thematic analysis of data generated from responses given to a free text questions in which respondents described their reasons for accepting or declining participation in a research trial.

The first section describes the study participation rate followed by analysis of participant demographic and clinical characteristics. Section 4.3 presents the quantitative results of the questionnaire using univariate and multivariate analysis. The final section presents a thematic analysis together with the codes and themes that were generated from analysis of free text responses to open questions on the questionnaire.

4.1 Participation Rate

4.1.1 Site Recruitment Figures

During the study recruitment period, 300 patients were screened for eligibility for the study. Of these, 100 were either not approached for study participation or declined to participate. Of the overall stroke admissions (n=670), 18% (n=120) were deemed too unwell to approach at that time, either by clinical team or having died prior to screening. 13% (n=87) of the overall stroke admissions died prior to discharge.

Of the 300 screened admissions, five direct approaches were declined by potential respondents without a reason being stated and a further two did not have a consultee available (and were not able to consent to the study themselves). The remaining 76 were either imminently being discharged, too busy with treatment or missed by a lack of researcher resource. Those with a short length of stay (LOS) of <48 hours, did not meet the criteria for an acute study and are included in those missed by the researcher. (Figure 4.1: Consort diagram of recruitment).





Therefore, from 300 patients screened for inclusion, 207 (69%) were approached of whom 200 respondents (67%) from two Foundation Trust Hospitals in the West

Midlands: Birmingham Heartlands Hospital (112 participants), and the Queen Elizabeth Hospital (88 participants) completed the questionnaire. Recruitment lasted for 15 months in total with an overlap of both sites actively recruiting simultaneously in the final 7 months.

Respondents comprised 112/437 (26%) stroke admissions at the Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust - Birmingham Heartlands Hospital (BHH) (Figure 4.2) over a period of 15 months and 88/233 (38%) stroke admissions at University Hospitals Birmingham, Queen Elizabeth (QE) (Figure 4.3) over a shorter recruitment period of 7 months. The denominators comprised admissions coded using International Classification of Disease ICD codes I61, I63 and I64 (RCP 2006).





The time of stroke onset was known in 141 (70.5%) cases. For the majority of these (n=94), admission was outside of office hours (9-5) and at weekends. A third of respondents with a known onset time (n=47 of 141) had the stroke event during normal office hours.

26 out of 200 respondents (13%) woke in the morning with a stroke ('wake-up stroke'), having gone to bed the night before, (last seen) well. Of these, 19 (73%)

were able to self-consent to research whilst seven had to use a consultee. In terms of stroke severity, of the 26 'wake-up' stroke patients, four were rated on NIHSS as severe. This was increased slightly to six when 'severe' was self-rated for (perceived) stroke severity.

4.1.2 Decision-maker

Consent for study participation was made by stroke patients themselves in 138 out of 200 cases (69%). The remaining 62 patients had a consultee as proxy decision-maker who responded to the questionnaire on their behalf (14 spouses, 40 children, 1 sibling and 7 others).

All 200 respondents considered taking part in a clinical trial (real or mock) alongside completing the questionnaire. A real clinical trial was offered to 72 respondents (36%) whilst 128 (64%) considered a mock, hypothetical trial.

Consultees were more likely to be decision-makers in more severe strokes: 84% (n=38) as rated as severe on NIHSS. However, this was not found to be the same for severe stroke as rated by self-perceived severity - where the majority of patients were able to consent themselves (53%) and consultees were the decision-makers in 47% (n=30) of cases.

128 (68%) respondents agreed to participate in a clinical trial of any sort (real or mock) with the remaining 72 (36%) declining any clinical trial. Patients who were able to consent for themselves were more likely than consultees to agree to trial

participation (as shown in Figure 4.4 and 4.5 below), although this difference was not statistically significant ($X^2 = 0.48$, p=0.488).



The time given for decision-making in an acute trial was determined by the protocol in a real trial and a comparative recruitment window for the mock. These followed the timings of the acute phase noting any delay in hospital presentation. Overall, 85.5% of respondents (n=171) deemed that the amount of time they had been given was 'enough' and 'more than enough' time to make a decision on participation. Of these respondents, 69% (n=118 of 171) agreed to trial participation. Eighteen respondents reported 'not enough time' to consider the trial but six of these respondents still agreed to participation. Five respondents reported 'barely enough time' and four of these still agreed to participation (summarised in Table 4.1).

| Time to consider (n= 200) * | | Agreed to a trial | Declined a trial |
|-----------------------------|-------|-------------------|------------------|
| | | n | n |
| Not enough (18) | 9% | 6 | 12 |
| Barely Enough (5) | 2.5% | 4 | 1 |
| Enough (146) | 73% | 98 | 48 |
| More than Enough (25) | 12.5% | 20 | 5 |
| . . , | | | |

Table 4.1 Perception by respondent of time to consider a Clinical trial

* Percentages may not total 100 due to missing responses

4.2 Participant Characteristics

A summary of participant demographic and clinical characteristics is shown in Table 4.2. There was an even split in the gender of the respondents. 128 respondents agreed to participate in a clinical trial out of 200 respondents in this study. Of those, male respondents were found to be slightly more inclined to agree than their female counterparts (68 vs 60). Stroke patients were able to decide for themselves in 138 cases (69%) - with an average age of 66 years.

The age of the decision-maker was noted to follow a 'normal' distribution graph (Figure 4.6). The distribution of age range of the full 200 respondents can be viewed on the histogram below (figure 4.5). Participant ages ranged from 28 to 92 years with a mean age of 63.4 years. Decade groupings for analysis by age were used. No statistical significance was found between age and trial participation.



Figure 4.6: Histogram of Age range distribution of respondents

Almost half of the respondents (45% n=90) did not know the type of stroke event that had occurred (unable to recall personal knowledge) and no significant difference was found between stroke type and the likelihood that a respondent agreed or declined to participate in a trial.

No significant differences were found between any of the demographic or clinical characteristics and the likelihood that a respondent agreed or declined participation in a trial, with the exception of perceived severity of stroke. Participants in the study who perceived the severity of stroke to be either moderate or severe were significantly more likely to agree to participation in a trial than those who perceived the stroke to be mild.

| Participant | Agreed | Declined | p value |
|---------------------------------------|------------|----------|--------------------------|
| Characteristic (n= 200) * | to a trial | a trial | $(X^2 \text{ test for})$ |
| | n | n | association) |
| Gender | | | 0.399 |
| Female (99) 49.5% | 60 30% | 39 20% | |
| Male (101) 50.5% | 68 34% | 33 17% | |
| Age group (Yrs.) | | | 0.268 |
| <50 21.5% | 30 15% | 13 7% | |
| 50-59 17.5% | 24 12% | 11 6% | |
| 60-69 22% | 25 13% | 19 10% | |
| 70-79 20.5% | 29 15% | 12 6% | |
| >/=80 18% | 20 10% | 16 8% | |
| Ethnicity | | | 0.842 |
| White (164) 82% | 106 53% | 58 29% | |
| Non-white (36) 18% | 22 11% | 14 7% | |
| Educational level | | | 0.566 |
| A level/GCSE and below (161) 80.5% | 101 51% | 60 30% | |
| Degree and Postgraduate (39) 19.5% | 27 14% | 12 6% | |
| Deprivation quartile | | | 0.212 |
| Quartile 1 - Most affluent (8) 4% | 4 2% | 4 2% | |
| Quartile 2 - Less affluent (34) 17.5% | 18 9% | 16 8% | |
| Quartile 3 - More deprived (45) 23% | 32 16% | 13 7% | |
| Quartile 4 - Most deprived (107) 55% | 71 37% | 36 19% | |
| Severity of stroke (perceived) | | | 0.031 |
| Mild (74) 37% | 39 20% | 35 18% | |
| Moderate (54) 27% | 36 18% | 18 9% | |
| Severe (64) 32% | 45 23% | 19 10% | |
| Not sure (8) 4% | 8 4% | 0 | |
| Stroke type (personal knowledge) | | | 0.249 |
| Ischaemic (77) 39% | 48 24% | 29 15% | |
| Bleed (31) 15.8% | 16 8% | 15 8% | |
| Don't know (88) 44.9% | 61 31% | 27 14% | |
| Trial type considered | | | |
| Real (72) 36% | 62 31% | 10 5% | |
| Mock (128) 64% | 66 33% | 62 31% | |

Table 4.2 Summary of Characteristics Associated with Trial Participation

*Percentages may not total 100 due to missing responses

4.2.1 Ethnicity

The 2011 census showed that non-white minority ethnic groups comprised 14% of the UK population (Office for National Statistics, 2011). This proportion was the same across the West Midlands region, but this study saw a higher proportion of respondents with non-white ethnicity than both the national and regional average (18%, n=36). A comparison of this variation is shown in Table 4.3.

| Ethnicity | England&Wales* | WestMidlands* | This Study |
|-------------------------|----------------|---------------|------------|
| | 2011 (%) | 2011 (%) | 2012 (%) |
| White | 87 | 86 | 82 |
| Mixed / Multiple Ethnic | 2 | 1 | 1 |
| Groups | | | |
| Asian: Indian | 3 | 4 | 3 |
| Asian: Pakistani | 2 | 4 | 8 |
| Asian: Bangladeshi | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Asian: Other | 1 | 1 | 4 |
| Black: African | 2 | 1 | 1 |
| Black: Caribbean | 1 | 2 | 4 |
| Black: Other | 0 | - | - |
| Other Ethnic Groups | 1 | - | - |

Table 4.3 Comparison of Ethnic Diversity

*Source: Office for National Statistics, 2011 Census data from KS201EW.

4.2.2 Educational level

The highest level of taught education received by respondents was recorded within five sub categories ranging from: no formal qualifications (including school leavers certificate); GCSE / CSE / O level; A level or equivalent; Degree or vocational qualifications and postgraduate studies. For comparison of proportions analysis, a binary grouping was created, comparing those with degree or higher-level education to those with A-Level/GCSE level education and below. No significant association

was found between an individual's level of education and whether or not they agreed to participate in a trial.

4.2.3 Socioeconomic deprivation

Deprivation quartiles were derived using the online tool GeoConvert. This tool uses residential postcodes to associate each individual with their specific electoral ward, with each ward (n=32,482 across England) ranked according to its position in the 2010 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). This allows each individual to be assigned a deprivation quartile on the basis of his or her place of residence. Quartile 1 represents the most affluent group, and quartile 4 the most deprived group.

Six of the 200 study respondents could not be assigned a deprivation quartile. Of the remaining 194 respondents, over half (n=107) lived in areas within the most deprived quartile (Figure 4.7). No association was found between trial participation and socioeconomic deprivation.



4.2.4 Stroke Severity measures

Stroke severity was measured using the National institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) at the time of the research approach either prospectively or extracted from a patient's medical records +/- one day either side of that date.

This was compared to a self-assessed severity measure made by the person giving consent to the study (patient or consultee). Figure 4.8 shows the distribution of NIHSS scoring recorded for patients as part of this study, in comparison to Figure 4.9 that shows the distribution of self-assessed stroke severity by respondents (decision-makers).

In Figure 4.8, 93 (46.5%) patients were assessed as having had a mild stroke (NIHSS 0-5), 58 (29%) were assessed as moderate (NIHSS 6-20) and 45 (22.5%) were assessed as severe (NIHSS >20). Four respondents did not have a NIHSS score recorded.



*Mild, moderate and severe categories of NIHSS scoring defined by Ver Hage (2011).

By comparison (in Figure 4.9), 74 (37%) patients were self / consultee rated as having had a mild stroke, 54 (27%) were self / consultee rated as moderate and 64 (32%) were self / consultee rated as severe. Eight respondents were unsure as to how to rate the current condition.



Although respondents were more likely to view the stroke as more severe than the NIHSS score, there was no statistically significant difference between clinician and self-assessed stroke severity scoring although the p value approaches significance ($X^2 = 5.58$, p=0.061). There was no statistically significant difference between whether or not a respondent agreed to participate in a trial on the basis of NIHSS scoring. However, respondents who self-rated stroke severity as moderate or severe were significantly more likely to participate in a trial than those who considered the stroke to be mild ($X^2 = 9.87$, p=0.031). The likelihood of agreeing to participate in a trial was increased as perceived stroke severity increased using Chi square for trend ($X^2 = 4.674$, p=0.031).

From the data, some patients reported stroke severity as severe and yet clinician scoring on NIHSS was mild. This is illustrated in Figures 4.10-4.12. The red column represents the total numbers of respondents rating themselves as that particular severity. The blue columns alongside are not additional respondents but a disaggregation of the tall red bar. For each self assessed severity (red, tall bar), the corresponding NIHSS rating is shown (blue bars).







4.2.5 Length of Hospitalisation

A comparison was made between the timing of the research approach and the length of time a patient remained in hospital (Figure 4.13). 42% of respondents were approached within 48 hours of admission (n=85). A delayed approach (i.e. approached more than 48 hours after admission) occurred where respondents were initially 'too unwell', awaiting a consultee, busy with treatment, delay in presentation and out of hours presentation in some cases i.e. over a bank holiday weekend.



4.3 Questionnaire responses

At the beginning of the survey, respondents were asked to define the term 'clinical trial'. Three per cent were able to define the term in line with the DH official definition. Eighty-five per cent made an attempt using one-two key words from the official DH definition. Eleven per cent (n=23) were unable to proffer any answer as highlighted in Figure 4.14.



4.3.1 Attitudes and opinions

Seventeen respondents (8.5%) rated their general attitude to clinical trials as being 'very positive', and 115 (57.5%) rated their attitude as 'positive'. Of these 132 patients who rated their attitude as positive and very positive, 94 (71%) agreed to participate in a trial. A neutral attitude was expressed by 26% (n=52), although over half of these (61.5%) still agreed to trial participation. A negative attitude was reported by 16 respondents (8%), although one of these went on to agree to a trial (Figure 4.15).



Attitude to clinical trials was strongly associated with participation in the clinical trial (p for trend <0.0001). Respondents who had a positive or very positive attitude to clinical trials were significantly more likely to participate in a trial than those who had a neutral or negative attitude (74% vs 26%, p<0.0001).

4.3.2 Prior knowledge of research consequences

Over one third of respondents (n=72) were aware of having heard a consequence of participating in a clinical trial (whether positive, negative or both) as shown in Figure 4.16. Overall, 18% (n=36) of total respondents were aware of having heard positive consequences of clinical trials previously from an outside source (i.e. media, newspapers or friends) whilst 5.5% (n=11) reported having heard negative consequences from an outside source. 12.5% (n=25) of respondents were aware of having heard positive and negative consequences of clinical trials previously.



4.3.3 Health Status

Respondents were asked to score their level of health pre-stroke and post event (at the time of the study approach) with a top score of 10 reflecting excellent health and a drop in points denoting a decline in perceived health status following stroke. A drop in self-reported health scoring post stroke compared to their pre-stroke rated health was reported by 179 respondents – with a 1 point drop represented as -1 on Figure 4.17 up to a 9 point drop in health scoring, represented as -9; 13 respondents reported the same level of overall health (a zero point drop) and 7 reported an improvement, – citing the treatment of co-morbidities (represented as a positive number on the horizontal axis). Negative numbers on the horizontal axis correspond to the number of points dropped in health scoring since stroke event. The mean and mode was a 3-point drop in overall health state due to stroke (52%) as seen in Figure 4.17.



188 respondents had risk factors associated with stroke in their past medical history with two risk factors being most common. Three quarters of the respondents had at least two risk factors increasing their risk of having a stroke or second stroke (Figure 4.18).



The most common co-morbidity was high blood pressure (HBP). The proportion of respondents with HBP that agreed to take part in a clinical trial was higher than

expected in comparison to other co-morbidities although this was not statistically significant (p=0.322). Of the total respondents with high blood pressure (n=129), 80 agreed to take part in a trial (Figure 4.19).

In addition to one of the real trials being a blood pressure drug trial, the mock trial was also a blood pressure, drug trial and was considered by 128 respondents of the total 200.



12% of respondents (n=24) had been approached about taking part in research before (prior to this admission). Of these 24 approached, 20 had consented and participated in a research trial before. Of these 20, half (n=11) agreed to a clinical trial as part of this study.

Sixty per cent (n=120) of respondents made a decision regarding participation without consulting anyone else. Of these, almost half (43%, n = 52) stated that they would have liked to have discussed it with a family member if the opportunity had been available.

In terms of what influenced people in their decision as to whether or not to participate in a trial, 'self-determined decision' was cited as the biggest influence on decision to take part, with 174 respondents (87%) citing that 'self' was a 'strong' or 'very strong' influence on their decision-making. The next most commonly cited influence on decision-making was family or friends, which was mentioned by 66 respondents as being a 'strong' or 'very strong' influence.

The questionnaire included some open questions in which respondents were asked to elaborate on the reasoning behind their decision-making on accepting or declining trial participation. These responses to open questions were analysed thematically (see section 4.5). Subsequently, prompts as to the reasoning behind the decision to participate were categorised (Kasner et al 2009; NIH 2012, 2015; Healthtalk 2012, 2015)

Figures 4.20 and 4.21 highlight the prompts used following agreement to participate in a trial. The majority of those agreeing to participate in a trial, did so based on feeling happy with the information, to help others, keen to be included and potential for a new treatment.


The majority of respondents agreeing to take part in a trial, did not agree based on previous experience (which correlates to the small number (n=24) of those respondents having considered research prior to admission).

Respondents were split more evenly on prompts regarding possibility of better care, timing of when asked, to help medical staff who asked them and something in the trial that was liked (Figure 4.21).

Figures 4.22-4.24 highlight those prompts used following a decline to participate in a trial. More respondents declined a trial citing it to add more stress, there was something in trial they didn't like, a fear of a drug reaction or adverse reaction and having different priorities at the time of asking.

A much closer split (almost 50:50) was found with those declining due to not wanting to be a 'guinea-pig' (self-perceived) and that it might not help the current stroke (Figure 4.22).

For those respondents who declined participation in a trial, the majority did not decline because of not being told the outcome of the research, randomisation or reluctance to invest the time (Figure 4.23).

For those respondents who declined participation in a trial, more respondents stated they did not decline due to reasons such as not having enough information, enough time to make a decision, that they couldn't take in the information or the timing they were asked (although a small numbers did quote these on prompting as possible reasons (n=15, 19 and 17 respectively – Figure 4.24).

Of those declining a trial, three respondents were happy to agree to participation at a later date citing wrong timing earlier on in admission when originally approached as they 'did not know what was going on'.

One consultee had a choice of two real trials and reported: "...a terrible dilemma in the choice, more than just the research – which was bad enough". The consultee went on to choose the second trial involving interventional scans (real trial) stating clear rationale as to declining the first due to specific interventional drugs, "... I don't like the thought of agreeing for him to have medication, I don't like medication". (Consultee – Patient's daughter, aged 33 years).

4.4 Univariate and multivariate analyses

Univariate and multivariate binary logistic regression analyses were carried out to assess which variables were associated with agreement to participate in a trial (real or mock) – the result of which are summarised in Tables 4.4 and 4.5 respectively.

4.4.1 Univariate analysis

Respondents who perceived their stroke as mild were around half as likely to agree to participate in a trial than patients who perceived their stroke as severe (odds ratio (OR) 0.47, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.23-0.95; p = 0.036). Respondents who were offered a real trial were almost six times more likely to participate in a trial than those who were offered a mock trial. (OR 5.73, 95% CI 2.70-12.17; p < 0.0001).

Table 4.4 Univariate analyses

| Variable | Variable | P value | Odds ratio | 95% CI |
|-----------------------|---------------|-----------|------------|---------------|
| Condor | Male | 0.277 | 1.38 | 0.77 to 2.47 |
| Gender | Female | Reference | - | - |
| Age | <50 | 0.148 | 2.00 | 0.78 to 5.11 |
| | 50-59 | 0.335 | 1.60 | 0.62 to 4.16 |
| | 60-69 | 0.910 | 1.05 | 0.43 to 2.56 |
| | 70-79 | 0.170 | 1.93 | 0.76 to 4.95 |
| | 80+ | Reference | - | - |
| Etherni oltra | White | 0.842 | 1.08 | 0.51 to 2.30 |
| Ethnicity | Non-white | Reference | - | - |
| Education | Lower | Reference | - | - |
| | attainment | | | |
| Luucation | Higher | 0.226 | 1 10 | 0.67 to 3.29 |
| | attainment | 0.000 | 1.40 | |
| Deprivation | Affluent | 0.356 | 0.51 | 0.12 to 2.15 |
| | Less affluent | 0.220 | 0.61 | 0.28 to 1.35 |
| Deprivation | More deprived | 0.567 | 1.25 | 0.58 to 2.67 |
| | Most deprived | Reference | - | - |
| Perceived | Mild | 0.036 | 0.47 | 0.23 to 0.95 |
| stroke | Moderate | 0.781 | 0.89 | 0.41 to 1.97 |
| severity | Severe | Reference | - | - |
| NIHSS stroke score | Mild | 0.789 | 1.11 | 0.53 to 2.29 |
| | Moderate | 0.345 | 1.48 | 0.66 to 3.35 |
| | Severe | Reference | - | - |
| Respondent | Patient | 0.358 | 1.34 | 0.72 to 2.48 |
| type | Consultee | Reference | - | - |
| Trial offered | Real | <0.0001 | 5.73 | 2.70 to 12.17 |
| | Mock | Reference | - | - |

*Bold entries denote statistically significant p values

4.4.2 Multivariate analysis

Findings from the multivariate analyses are highlighted in Table 4.5. The following univariate variables were included in the model: gender, age, ethnicity, education, deprivation, perceived stroke severity, NIHSS stroke score, respondent type and trial offered.

Once other variables had been controlled for, ethnicity was statistically significant with respondents of white ethnicity being around three times more likely than non-white respondents to agree to participate in a trial (OR 3.29, 95% CI 1.03-10.51; p= 0.045).

Respondents whose stroke severity was mild on NIHSS scoring were significantly more likely than those who were severe on the NIHSS to agree to trial participation (OR 4.97, 95% CI: 1.10-22.51; p = 0.037), although this result should be interpreted with caution due to small numbers and the large confidence interval.

Similarly, as found in the univariate model, the type of trial that a respondent was offered was a significant predictor of their likelihood of agreeing to participate. Respondents offered a real trial were almost ten times more likely to agree to participate than those who had been offered a mock trial (OR 9.45, 95% CI: 3.70-24.16; p < 0.0001).

Table 4.5 Multivariate analyses

| Variable | Variable | P value | Odds ratio | 95% CI |
|-----------------------|---------------|-----------|------------|---------------|
| Gender | Male | 0.302 | 1.51 | 0.69 to 3.30 |
| | Female | Reference | - | - |
| Age | <50 | 0.382 | 1.74 | 0.50 to 6.02 |
| | 50-59 | 0.770 | 1.20 | 0.35 to 4.08 |
| | 60-69 | 0.532 | 0.69 | 0.22 to 2.19 |
| | 70-79 | 0.148 | 2.40 | 0.73 to 7.85 |
| | 80+ | Reference | - | - |
| Ethnicity | White | 0.045 | 3.29 | 1.03 to 10.51 |
| | Non-white | Reference | - | - |
| | Lower | Reference | - | - |
| Education | Higher | | 2.03 | 0.76 to 5.41 |
| | attainment | 0.156 | | |
| Deprivation | Affluent | 0.602 | 0.57 | 0.70 to 4.67 |
| | Less affluent | 0.061 | 0.37 | 0.13 to 1.05 |
| | More deprived | 0.476 | 1.38 | 0.57 to 3.37 |
| | Most deprived | Reference | - | - |
| Perceived | Mild | 0.001 | 0.12 | 0.04 to 0.42 |
| stroke | Moderate | 0.055 | 0.34 | 0.12 to 1.03 |
| severity | Severe | Reference | - | - |
| NIHSS stroke score | Mild | 0.037 | 4.97 | 1.10 to 22.51 |
| | Moderate | 0.250 | 2.17 | 0.58 to 8.13 |
| | Severe | Reference | - | - |
| Respondent | Patient | 0.999 | 1.00 | 0.32 to 3.09 |
| type | Consultee | Reference | - | - |
| Trial offered | Real | <0.0001 | 9.45 | 3.70 to 24.16 |
| | Mock | Reference | - | - |

*Bold entries denote statistically significant p values

4.5 Thematic analysis

Of those respondents agreeing and declining a trial, the factors stated in the open questions for decision-making (prior to any prompt) were analysed thematically.

4.5.1 Agreed to participate

During the thematic analysis, codes emerged for respondents agreeing to participate in a clinical trial (64% of respondents) and from these, two common themes arose:

- Altruism of self and for others in the future with altruism expressed as well as self-concern.
- Ambivalence within which inevitability was also cited.

4.5.1.1 Altruism

Respondents who were happy with the trial and keen to take part were included in this theme. An example of responses included the following:

"...was so pleased to do it, to help people the same as me". (Patient, aged 65 years – became very emotional);

"...if it will do me any good..." (Patient, aged 83 years).

Altruism for the greater good and wanting to help others in the future was cited by respondents in a large number of cases, in isolation and amongst a group of reasons given for a decision to participate. Self-concern incorporated a rationale for decision-making of better care and respondents highlighted 'extras' in a trial as being influential in reasoning behind the decision i.e. an ultrasound scan being available when it is not part of routine clinical care and a perception of receiving more

monitoring by the hospital if choosing to take part in research trial. An example of responses included the following:

"...Information from nurse was very positive. Keen for anything that would help him, that he would be monitored, regular scans, less likely to get clots because of it...." (Consultee, aged 52 years);

"...thought it would help me and others in a situation like mine at a later stage in the future. I'm an example. So many things we don't know about. I had been asking the question myself about oxygen...". (Patient, aged 52 years in regard to the Oxygen trial).

4.5.1.2 Ambivalence

This included the perception that research was necessary, respondents who felt there was nothing to lose or were 'not bothered', for example:

"...As long as doesn't interfere with current meds. Provided Dr was in support of it". (Patient, aged 88 years);

"...I don't know why actually..." (Patient, aged 74 years).

A series of reasons were given by some respondents which overlapped these themes such that ambivalence was expressed prior to altruism, for example:

"...younger person may say no but at 87, I've lived my life so if my body is in a fit state, I'd do it, keen to give something, happy if it might help someone else." (Patient, aged 87 years).

There was a perception that things could not be worse or trial was harmless, Learning and where new knowledge could be gained or work to prevent future strokes was also within this theme. One response being:

".... no reason to say no, good explanation by the nurse..." (Consultee, aged 54 years, agreed to patient participating in a clinical trial).

4.5.2 Declined to participate

During the thematic analysis, codes emerged for respondents declining patient participation in a clinical trial (36% of respondents) and from these, three common themes arose:

- Trial related
- Disinterest
- Overwhelmed

4.5.2.1 Trial related

Trial related issues included concern regarding the trial medication (drug study), follow-up regime, concerns regarding comorbidities and concomitant medication, risk of making things worse, no guarantee and worry about side effects'. For example:

"...Because patient would refuse if able to self consent. Doesn't like taking medication - irrelevant of patch....". (Consultee – patient's daughter, aged 54 years).

Six respondents volunteered information, unprompted in hindsight, regarding timing of research trial approach for example:

"...if you'd have asked me in A&E, I would have said no as I didn't know what was going on but today is better... so yes". (Patient, agreed to clinical trial, aged 72 years).

"...I will do anything I think will help. If 100 years ago, nobody had said yes to anything, where would we be now? Would say no to drug trial though until I know what is really going on with this stroke, I wouldn't. It's the unknown of how the stroke will keep affecting me." (Patient, declined a clinical trial, aged 65 years).

4.5.2.2 Disinterest

Disinterest included those directly expressing "not interested" and reporting an unclear recovery pathway; those ineligible, unsuitable or too unwell were incorporated here. Age responses were also incorporated here and were highlighted by both patients and consultees.

"...I believe in research, if I was younger...now set in my ways. If it was just questions and answers then would say yes but due to age...no". (Patient, aged 72 years);

"...Not to say wouldn't if he was more improved. Not fit enough because of what's happened to him. Perhaps slightly younger people less than 70..." (Consultee – patient's wife, aged 81 years);

"...I think I'm too old, I think it's a good thing. Not at the moment...". (Patient, aged 90 years);

"...she's old school, if it's not broke, don't try and fix It..." (Relative's perspective of patient's approach to life. Consultee – Patient's son, aged 47 years, declining

patient's participation in a clinical trial. Patient had a reported stroke severity as severe by consultee and severe category of NIH Stroke scoring by clinician).

4.5.2.3 Overwhelmed

Feeling overwhelmed was a common theme relating to: 'too much on' (overall) and 'too much to take in', 'been through enough', 'got enough on already'. A response of being 'too unwell' and related to 'stroke severity' was also incorporated here. For example:

"...At that time (acute stroke) I was 'not in the right place' to make a decision. You don't hear about it (research) so you're not prepared. Unfamiliarity. Felt patient was too poorly - saying no meant one less thing to worry about. Knew needed to make a quick decision, not ready to make that decision". (Consultee - daughter, aged 52 years, consulted with six family members).

The results of this study have been presented using descriptive statistics and a thematic analysis. These results will now be discussed in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

Overview

Difficulties exist with carrying out clinical trials in the NHS. These difficulties are compounded in the acute environment and even more so in the context of an acute neurological injury within emergency care. Patients in the acute setting have the most to benefit from research and yet the least amount of time to consider it. An already challenging time for a research opportunity to be considered, is further complicated in the presence of an acute event with associated fluctuating symptoms, unclear diagnosis, uncertain prognosis and potential variation in mental capacity requiring the need for a consultee.

This study set out to document the willingness to participate in acute stroke studies by patients or their consultees and has captured public opinion prospectively in regard to a clinical trial participation decision in an acute setting, for 200 respondents acutely affected by stroke.

The findings of this study are considered in the first two sections of this chapter and are discussed in reference to recruitment and influencing factors on decision-making. Comparison with the current literature is made throughout the chapter. Section 5.3 considers the strengths and limitations of the chosen methodology in light of the research findings. In the final section, the potential impact on evolving trial design and recruitment strategies is discussed in light of the original aim and objectives of this study.

In summary, the findings of the study include a comparison of site characteristics and participant characteristics. Results suggest a disparity in participation-decision outcome depending on: whether patients consent themselves and if an affinity to a trial is perceived. A difference was found in participant's willingness to join a trial based on whether it was real or hypothetical. Self assessed stroke severity differed from clinician assessment using an assessment tool and was statistically significant in that worsening severity (as self-assessed), increased the likelihood of trial participation. Results from multivariate analysis include some additional significance for ethnic minority representation. Quotes were used from a thematic analysis that reflects the common themes determined for trial participation-decision outcomes.

5.1 Recruitment

5.1.1 Site characteristics

Recruiting sites admitted stroke patients in keeping with national data sets for basic demographic details and stroke type. Both offered similar clinical services (RCP 2014b). Both sites accepted a similar catchment number of patients from their local population and were six miles apart. The first recruiting site had an onsite rehabilitation ward for treatment after the acute phase and had a thrombolysis service operating during weekday office hours only, diverting stroke admissions for assessment outside of these times to a partner hospital within the same trust seven miles away. Patients were transferred following the hyperacute phase to spend the acute phase in the recruiting site if their registered GP was in the 'catchment' area for that site.

The second recruiting site had an on-call thrombolysis service for out of hours with all patients received at that site at any time. Patients were transferred to a community trust for further rehabilitation (six miles away) after the acute phase and once a bed became available. This resulted in a length of stay variation between the two recruiting trusts but consistency was maintained in the research approach since the acute phase was the focus for this study and both recruiting sites treated the patients during this phase.

If a research contact was missed during admission, patients re-attended at a 6 week follow-up clinic appointment which was a potential opportunity to increase recruitment. However, this was after a considerable length of stay in some cases and patients were not able to recall sufficient details about their time in the acute environment to take part in the study. The mock trial was not appropriate at this time point as it reflected acute treatment and this would have been a retrospective decision, opposing the prospective nature of the study design. As a result, any patients discharged before a research contact, were not recruited. MacNeill et al (2013) found patients didn't distinguish between clinical care and research study. This was confirmed in ad hoc discussions with patients outside of the formal study.

5.1.2 Participation

The study population was diverse and the study achieved higher ethnic minority representation than regional and national population figures (Office for National Statistics, Census 2011). The stroke population studied typically reflected national statistics in all other respects, i.e. age, gender and educational level (RCP 2014a).

Research in the literature suggests willingness to participate in a hypothetical (mock) trial to be a valid predictor of actual participation (Halpern et al 2001). Assessing responses in a hypothetical situation as opposed to an emergency may reflect true opinions and preferences. However, the researcher for this study noted initial confusion in some respondents, with the concept of a hypothetical trial in itself being the focus of consideration as opposed to the details of the trial. Of the 200 respondents in this study, 36% (n=72) considered a real trial and 64% (n=128) considered a hypothetical trial.

Univariate analysis found respondents were six times more likely to participate in a real trial than a mock trial (OR 5.73, 95% CI 2.70-12.17; p < 0.0001). Using multivariate analysis (controlling for the effects of other variables) respondents were ten times more likely to participate in a real trial than a mock trial (OR 9.45, 95% CI 3.70-24.16; p < 0.0001). This was found to be statistically significant for this study but not by Kasner who found no difference in the likelihood of participating in the real and mock trials. This may indicate a difference in attitude and opinions in clinical trials cross-culturally but may be due to a researcher factor or due to the nature of the mock trial itself - being hypothetical. This result was interpreted with caution due to small participant numbers for this analysis and the large confidence interval although the mock trials were almost identical to their respective real trial counterpart.

Overall, 128 respondents (68%) agreed to participate in a clinical trial of any sort (real or hypothetical) despite only a third of patients with known stroke onset time (n=47 of 141) during the working hours of 9am – 5pm, Monday-Friday. This adds support to the case for expansion of the clinical service to become a seven day service with

extended hours - which acute research would benefit from being aligned with. A potential time delay after admission but prior to research approach was inevitable with one researcher and out of hours presentation for many patients. As a result, an early contact time-point with consultees was potentially missed. For this study, since the acute phase was considered to be 1-7 days (Rocco et al 2007) and commonly within the first 72 hours), any impact was perceived to be minimal.

Unwitnessed stroke events accounts for >25% of all strokes (Maas and Singhal 2013). Terminology in secondary care uses terms such as: 'last seen well, 'first known unwell' or 'wake-up' stroke to indicate an uncertain event onset time. Clarity of onset time can be assisted by advanced imaging (where this is available) but waiting for confirmation of diagnosis may delay beyond the time window for recruitment.

5.1.2.1 Study decision-maker

Stroke patients were able to make the participation decision themselves in 69% of cases, higher than in previous studies noted in the literature such as Flaherty et al (2008) which reported 30% and Kasner et al (2009) with 47%. In Kasner's study, the majority of consents were secured within the first 24 hours post event. During this early phase, stroke symptoms are often most pronounced and as such, fewer patients may be able to consent themselves.

Consultees were used for the remaining respondents in line with current practice and following the process for clinical trials where a consultee is approached when patients are not able to satisfy the consent process requirements fully.

Notably, when presented with a trial participation decision, patients were more inclined to agree to participate than consultees were to agree on a patient's behalf, for the patient's participation. This may be due to patients being more worried about the impact of the stroke itself and their wellbeing and therefore being more willing to take risks to improve it. Conversely, consultees may be concerned about the risks of any side effects and making the current situation worse with an unproven treatment. There is a burden of psychological stress perceived by consultees despite the decision-making role being beneficence on behalf of the patient (Rose and Kasner 2011). In research, a consultee is approached to pass an opinion (as they know the patient best), as to whether the patient would be likely to agree or decline to participate, should they be able to consent themselves.

Consent sought from a consultee, should represent the patients best interests. However, reasoning given for clinical trial participation decision by consultees, centred around the consultee's own perception as opposed to the patient's likely opinion. Consultees often appeared unable to detach themselves from a perceived responsibility. There was likely too little time to process all the necessary information for a well-considered decision to be made on someone else's behalf. This is highlighted in the results chapter, section 4.1.2 where responses of 'barely' and 'not enough' time for trial consideration were reported and in section 4.3.4 where reasons for trial decision are shown (Figures 4.22-4.24).

5.1.2.2 Respondent Demographics

There appeared to be no impact of demographic factors on trial participation, despite suggestions of possible influence of age, gender, ethnicity and educational level, in previous studies (Corbie-Smith et al 2003; Ding et al 2007 and Glickman et al 2008).

Where stroke patients decided on trial participation for themselves (n= 138, 69%), the age of the patient was recorded with a mean age of 66 years. This is younger than figures quoted in the three month national stroke audit in 2013 of 77 years (RCP 2014a) and may be a reflection of stroke incidence, reclassification of TIAs as strokes, and advanced imaging (Easton et al 2009). Age remains the single most important risk factor for stroke since the risk of a stroke doubles every decade after the age of 55 years (Wolf et al 1992). Within the study population older patients may have been excluded if unable to consent themselves and had no consultee available or fell within the category of too unwell to approach (with probable mortality). These patients were not deemed approachable for this study by the clinical care team.

There was variation in age when all 'respondents' (including both patients and consultees) were analysed with a mean age of the decision-maker of 63.39 years since some responders were consultees whose ages varied from that of the patient. Some consultees were patient's children whilst others were a spouse and had a closer age to the patient's.

A large proportion of the study population were from the most socioeconomically deprived quartile. The study population achieved representation across the socioeconomic groupings and reflected regional and national statistics for the area

studied. People from the most socioeconomically deprived areas of the UK, are twice as likely to have a stroke than those from the least deprived areas (Public Health England 2015), however, no statistical difference was found between socioeconomic deprivation scoring and likelihood of trial participation. Whilst socioeconomic status (SES) was found to affect early phase cancer trial referrals (Mohd Noor et al 2012), once reviewed, deprivation did not affect enrolment.

McLean et al (2006) support the continued existence of the inverse care law (as defined by Julian Tudor Hart in 1971 who described the availability of good medical care as varying *"inversely with the need for it in the population served"* (Hart 1971). This may warrant further exploration in terms of research participation since the current literature (as regards research) focuses on socioeconomic deprivation linked to ill health or responsible for a lack of access to resources including trials (Sateren et al 2002, Pell et al 2000). This is opposed to socioeconomic deprivation influencing or not, the willingness to participate in trials.

Publicity of research in the community could raise the profile, awareness to and understanding of research such that in the event of ill health, a research approach in secondary care is not so unexpected or foreign. For example the 'ok to ask' campaign of recent years by NIHR. Areas of known high risk for particular health conditions are likely to benefit from research information, in advance of an ill-health event, if communities are within reach.

In multivariate analysis, once the effect of other variables had been controlled for, white ethnicity was found to be statistically significant with patients in this group being around three times more likely than non-white respondents to agree to participate in a trial (95% CI: 1.03-10.51). This is in contrast to the data on deprivation and maybe due to participant factors such as cultural, gender and language barriers if English was not a first language or an individual was unable to read English. Trust of medical doctor and gender roles in society may also play a part although this was not tested within this study.

There is a higher risk of stroke in ethnic minority populations according to the findings of Wang et al (2013), Hajat et al (2004) and Scarborough et al (2009). Projections from Lievesley (Runnymead report -2010), report the number of older people in the UK from ethnic minority backgrounds as increasing as first generation immigrants and their families age. Variations in access to healthcare have been highlighted by Szczepura (2005) with patients at risk of triple jeopardy (Norman 1985) in the form of assumed family support, inequalities in access to healthcare and ill-health - with Norman's early work on older immigrants. Cultural variations may include an 'acceptance' of what has happened and a contentment in being looked after by relatives (Salway et al 2007). For others, it may be the expectation of being given medication to improve (although this is not unique to patients from ethnic minority backgrounds). The research concept therefore that medication, may or may not be given and that there is equipoise from a medical perspective may be a barrier for trial participation for some minority populations (Scheppers 2006).

Asian elders could experience a loss of status following a stroke and therefore feel difficulties with motivation to engage. For another, it was considered to be the *"will of*

Allah" and "any improvements were in the hands of Allah" (Patient, declined study and clinical trial outright, with permission given for use of this comment).

Researcher factors in connection with ethnic minority recruitment are not so well documented either in the current literature or within this study, although this study did achieve representation from ethnic minority groups above regional and national data figures.

5.2 Study process

5.2.1 Communication

In response to a request to define the term 'clinical trial' in the study survey, a large proportion of respondents hesitated and struggled to explain the term (see chapter 4, section 4.3 regarding the questionnaire response). Six of 200 respondents (3%) were able to correctly define the term 'clinical trial' using concepts such as randomization, placebo and comparison. Twenty-three (11%) were unable to proffer any answer at all. The remaining respondents, all made a fair attempt at the definition with the most common answers being "... *looking into something*"; "testing" and "experiment" being mentioned. The definition of a clinical trial from the DH NHS website, was subsequently given as part of this study so no misconceptions were held from the outset and the survey was then continued to completion.

The implications of 11% of respondents not being able to define the term is a concern in the context of gaining valid informed consent for a research trial (Rose and Kasner 2011). Research consent without understanding may rely more on trust of the respondent in the medical professional and absence of coercion (Davies 1997; Wing

1999), especially in a time sensitive environment. An explanation of general research information, incorporating a definition of the term, could be delivered prior to ill-health and be community based – as opposed to extending the consenting process, when a trial opportunity presents with the onset of illness. The impact this may have had in trials is not clear and a potential area to further explore.

In terms of communication, 52% of participants stated they would have liked to have conferred with someone about the trial if they had been available (stating a family member in most cases). This was similar to a 57% finding by Kasner et al (2009) in a similar study. It was noted on the secondary care wards that visiting was restricted to a two hour visit time late in the afternoon plus one hour in the evenings. This was reduced further during outbreaks of infectious disease (Norovirus) - when ward areas would be effectively 'closed', accepting no new ward admissions and stricter visiting. This happened on two separate occasions at the first recruiting site, a few weeks apart making it difficult to approach relatives to act as consultees if needed or for participants to be able to confer with family members. Also, family members did not visit every day or due to work commitments, visited in the evening when the researcher was unlikely to be present.

The impact that conferring may have had on recruitment is unclear but potentially farreaching, beyond recruitment. Within the questionnaire, respondents were asked whom they had conferred with, if anyone. In the absence of a family member to confer with, participants could have had contact with other medical staff, ward staff or other patients in general conversation, which they may have utilised in the decisionmaking process either consciously or subconsciously.

5.2.2 Cross-cultural comparison

A comparison was made between this study and findings by Kasner et al (2009) in Table 5.1 - both studies recruited 200 respondents using similar survey research methodology with a real and mock trial. A stipulation of the IRB (ethics board for US) meant Kasner did not use the NIHSS to score a patient's stroke severity but asked respondents to grade the stroke themselves. Kasner felt this to be a positive since their decision should be considered within their own perspective of stroke severity. In this study, by comparison, both scorings were recorded: a self-assessed scoring and a clinician assessed using the NIHSS.

| Response | Kasner et al | This study |
|---|--------------|-------------|
| | (2009) | (2013) |
| | Hyperacute | Acute |
| Total number of participants | 200 | 200 |
| Agreed to a clinical trial | 57% n=114 | 64% n=128 |
| Stroke patient consent for study | 47% n=94 | 69% n=138 |
| Agreed to a real trial | 22% n=44 | 36% n=72 |
| Sufficient time to consider trial | 56% | 85.5% n=171 |
| Insufficient time to consider trial | 38% | 9% n=18 |
| Prior knowledge of consequences | | |
| Positive | 30% n=60 | 30.5% n=61 |
| Negative | 12% n=24 | 18% n=36 |
| Overlap of both | 33% n=66 | 12.5% n=25 |
| Total: | 75% n=150 | 61% n=121 |
| General attitude | | |
| Very positive | 5% | 8.5% |
| Positive | 45% | 57.5% |
| Neutral | 44% | 26% |
| Negative | 5% | 8% |
| Very Negative | 2% | |
| Decision made solely by respondent | 72% n=144 | 60% n=120 |
| Sole decision-makers who would have liked to have | 57% n= 82 | 43% n=52 |
| conferred with someone | | |

Table 5.1 Comparative data between USA and UK

From Kasner's study, American respondents had been more aware of consequences of research generally, prior to the research contact - with over double having heard something both positive and negative about research previously, in comparison to UK respondents.

Kasner used a 'hyperacute' stroke research trial and mock, whereas in comparison, an 'acute' phase stroke research trial and mock was used in this study due to the service advancements in hyperacute still being under development in large parts of the UK. From this respect, caution needs to be applied with a direct comparison of data with Kasner. The hyperacute phase of a stroke although only recently separated from the acute phase and only a matter of hours earlier, could hold sufficient difference to make any comparison speculative.

More UK respondents agreed to participate in an acute stroke trial than their American counterparts, in a hyperacute stroke trial. It is not clear whether British respondents were more likely to participate in trials but they reported a positive attitude towards trials, having heard less about trials overall. By comparison, American respondents appeared more cautious with fewer agreeing to participate and a larger number of respondents having heard about research previously.

More respondents in Kasner's sample in the hyperacute phase felt they had insufficient time to make a decision, compared to this study, conducted in the acute phase (38% vs 9%), Reflecting possible differences in the phases of stroke. Urgency is fundamental in acute stroke research trials, however, respondents should not feel hurried. Sen Biswas et al (2007) suggested support for research from medical staff and family may improve recruitment. More research contact points may prove beneficial especially if the concept of research is new to potential participants, either by telephone or in person and the role of pre-hospital staff raising the possibility early and discussion en-route to the emergency department have a potential to increase recruitment (Leira et al 2009).

In common with Kasner et al, this study found consultees less likely to agree to participation, than patients themselves. Highlighting this to consultees who may have felt the burden of responsibility in decision-making, might reassure and ease the

decision-making process. Exploring a patient's affinity, perceptions and attitudes to guide the research opportunity presented might also reassure consultees that the trial is tailored to the individual e.g. they have high blood pressure and the trial being offered is to manage high blood pressure.

Kasner et al (2009) found no association with participants self-graded level of stroke severity. However, in this study those participants with more severe strokes were statistically more likely to participate in a research study (as noted in chapter 4, section 4.2.4). In relation to the stroke itself, disparity was found between clinician assessments of stroke severity using NIHSS versus respondent self-assessed stroke severity. Self-assessed stroke severity was determined on an individual level, by the individual themselves. Any attempts of explanation to account for this difference in rating would be purely speculative and it was not the aim of this study to explore disparity between participants and clinician's assessments of stroke severity.

Assessment of stroke severity did coincide with a reported points-drop on a health scale from previous wellness, which was captured on the study questionnaire. Self-assessed stroke severity was a statistically significant finding. Patients who assessed their own level of stroke severity as moderate or severe were significantly more likely to agree to participate in a trial than those who considered their stroke to be mild (X² = 9.87, p=0.031). Using Chi-square for trend, the likelihood of agreeing to participate in a trial was increased as perceived stroke severity increased (X² = 4.674, p=0.031).

5.3 Potential Influences on participation

Not knowing a patient's affinity, perceptions and attitudes to research, medical staff consider the eligibility criteria for a research opportunity for patients as opposed to what trial the patient might be most interested in. Personal affinity may play a part in decision-making and retention in research trial. For instance, high blood pressure was a common risk factors reported by respondents and the proportion that agreed to take part in a trial was higher than any other risk factor (although not statistically significant). The mock trial was a drug trial related to blood pressure and several respondents commented that there was something about the trial that they liked as an influence in their participation decision and a 'blood pressure trial' was named positively on three occasions in regard to participation.

Where multiple or competing trials are open at a site, medical bias for one trial being offered over another may conceivably exist with factors such as the 70 day national NIHR target to meet; a financial incentive from pharmaceutical industry sponsored study or a home-grown site-sponsored study being a recruitment pressure. As a result, a trial opportunity may therefore be presented in a skewed fashion as opposed to consideration from the patient perspective of what they would be keen to participate in, limiting patient's choice. Trials are often opened due to a personal interest from medical teams. Local populations whilst considered for recruitment target numbers are not necessarily canvassed for what they want to be available in research in the local or regional secondary care Trust.

Once a patient has declined to take part in research, the reason for that decision is not always noted in the patient records. A second research opportunity may not be

presented due to the limited resource of researchers or trial time restrictions leading to failed screening no longer meeting eligibility. Also, patients may then have a preconditioned response to what they understand to be research, which may be misinformed. Researchers conversely may assume patients to have already made up their mind against research and be hesitant to reapproach a patient when in fact the previous decision was trial specific. Three respondents agreed to a trial when they had declined a different one initially.

Giving a choice of trials may not be appropriate and could complicate a decision on participation. The added choice of deciding between trials could be too much to ask of the acutely unwell, neurologically affected patients and their close relatives. Whilst not within the remit and scope of this study, future work could inform practice.

5.3.1. Motivators

Motivators and barriers to clinical trial recruitment are documented in the literature (Prescott et al 1999, McDonald et al 2006 and Treweek et al 2011). Within the current literature perceived personal benefit (to help self, better care and access to the latest treatments) and altruism are frequently cited motivators for participation in prevention and chronic disease trials (Corbie-Smith et al 2003; Cassileth et al 1982). Also mentioned is doctor's recommendation, hope for a therapeutic benefit, only option and curiosity (NIH 2002). Although motivators have been less frequently researched than obstacles and barriers. Cross-culturally motivators may vary for instance in USA, literature cites free drugs (NIH 2002) as motivational factors for participation and by comparison, healthcare regimes in the UK are different with excess treatment costs

for drugs being covered traditionally by the NHS (particularly cancer studies until recently).

The content of the trial offered might have contributed towards motivation to participate. Blood pressure is a contributing factor to over half of all the strokes in the UK (RCP 2014a). This was also the commonest risk factor for respondents in this study and a high proportion of respondents with high blood pressure agreed to participate in a trial. A real trial offered at one recruiting site was a blood pressure study and the mock trial was a blood pressure trial at both sites. Due to small numbers, it was not possible to ascertain significance between an individual's blood pressure status and trial participation at a statistical level.

The most common motivating factors from the thematic analysis in this study were cited to be altruism and ambivalence.

5.3.2 Barriers

Barriers lead to trials either failing to meet targets and thus their objectives, with financial and resource waste. Limited resources may be diverted for trial extensions to meet recruitment targets and therefore distract or limit the support for new trial work. Barriers to recruitment have been a focus in clinical research, historically documenting issues surrounding consent (in the ethics literature) and more recently focusing on recruitment as targets are analysed at a national level.

Potential negative external influences include: rigid entry criteria; perception of costs in both time or monetary value and no suitable trial. Fear and mistrust are equally

cited in the literature with limited attention given to benefit / burden balance for participant. Within this study, personal fears of being a "guinea pig", of side effects and of the unknown were cited for refusal (see chapter 4 results, section 4.3.4 on the participation decision, Figures 4.22-4.24) supporting previous work by Corbie–Smith et al 2003 and Madsen et al 1999 which also found feeling overwhelmed, perceived risk outweighed perceived benefit or participants had a preference for outcome (of randomisation).

Whilst participant barriers have been noted in the previous literature, less well noted are clinician barriers to recruitment. These can include time due to the pressures of normal clinical practice and the time demands of recruitment and follow-up; perceived importance of the trial; the doctor-patient relationship- in particular clinicians' declaring equipoise and Incompatibility of the trial protocol with normal clinical care.

The reasons for recruitment failure are rarely documented in medical records and thus add an uncertainty to identifying barriers and putting strategies in place to facilitate and ultimately increase recruitment. The most common barriers from the thematic analysis in this study, was cited to be: something trial related, disinterest in the trial topic and feeling overwhelmed.

Additional points of contact for research may assist in addressing patients and consultees feeling overwhelmed at the prospect of research participation. Raising awareness about research in the community may help reduce disinterest and increasing the choice of trials available and tailoring a choice to a patient's affinity, may assist in addressing trial related negatives.

Further work may also be needed on the information exchanged by medical personnel in regard to stroke to enable patients and their families to give fully informed consent. For example patients were more likely to say yes when asked themselves (Section 4.1.2; Figures 4.4-4.5). Also more respondents rated the stroke as severe, than the clinician scoring rated them (section 4.2.4; Figures 4.8-4.9) and more people want to take part in trials if they perceive themselves as severely affected. These findings, if conveyed to potential respondents of future trials may alleviate some burden of responsibility for consultees and reassure both consultees and patients.

5.4 Strengths and limitations of this study

Survey research methodology – the chosen methodology for this study, is open to critique in the literature due to data that may lack detail or depth. Also, one particular research technique in isolation may not be ideal to allow for multicultural variations of participants and strategies for improved recruitment maybe required (Hussain-Gambles et al (2004).

Not all stroke admissions were captured by the research approach used in this study, largely due to only one researcher being available (section 4.1.1; Figures 4.2-4.3 and section 5.1.2). Potential respondents, 'eligible but missed' from a research approach were lost to research. A limitation of the data is recognised in that it captures only those approached and consented.

A questionnaire developed for US patients may not be applicable to the UK population. A PPI group reviewed the trial paperwork; the questionnaire was piloted and was subsequently adapted for use in the UK. It may, however, not have allowed for all potentially influencing organisational factors, particularly if these were not apparent.

Cross-continental and different ethnic cultures may affect direct comparison of the data. Whilst the mock trial was fully integrated in clinical care, the real trial was delivered without the study researcher necessarily being available. As such, the study details were completed in retrospect for some respondents. Any time delay was minimised, where possible, as it was recognised that recall of details may be poor for some respondents, particularly over time.

Thematic analysis is inherently interpretive research open to biases, values and judgements of researchers (Creswell 1994). The limitations of the analysis were recognised. Whilst the qualitative element of the study was a small thematic analysis, in terms of recruitment a physical aspect to the findings was for new knowledge and better care with self-actualisation, to help self and others in the future.

5.4.1 Strengths

In terms of strengths, the study design was prospective. Respondents were able to verbalise a reason supporting the participation decision and did so prior to any prompt.

Prompt responses were interpreted with caution since they may not have had a role in decision-making but sounded plausible when considered subsequently. Responses to prompts largely supported the reasoning verbalised by respondents for trial outcome decision adding credence to the initial rationale.

With one researcher, there was consistency in approach, explanation and delivery of the survey, minimising influencing factors which may otherwise have arisen. One researcher would not necessarily have improved trial agreement but did provide consistency across the 200 respondents. This was at the expense of lack of available researcher at times.

5.4.2 Limitations

A proportion of the stroke admissions at each recruiting site were 'lost to research' beyond those originally predicted, due to limited researcher time – although recruitment numbers were met within the time frame of the study. Respondents were not always approached at the earliest possible opportunity, often due to clinical care requirements or a delay due to the need for a consultee to be present. The variation in timings of the research approach may have introduced bias but reflected the usual process for trial recruitment, on sites, for acute trials. Also at times, there was limited researcher availability. This was a result of not achieving NIHR recognition, an e accreditation which would have enabled access to NIHR resources (research staff) and in the absence of alternative financial support over and above the studentship.

The study population was too small for a robust analysis of the effect of 'timing of research approach' to be undertaken. Kasner et al (2009) achieved a higher

proportion of approaches in the first 24 hours but fewer respondents agreed (although a high proportion (85%) felt happy with the time given to consider the opportunity). Symptoms can vary a lot in the first 24-48 hours of a stroke and this might explain variations in personal perception of stroke severity to an extent and the decision taken in light of the complications of stroke.

This study approach was not as integrated for the real trial consideration as the mock - the latter of which was integral to the initial research approach. A slight time delay was noted between the real trial and completion of the survey although this was recognised from the outset of the study and minimised as much as possible. This was in contrast to Kasner et al (2009) who used the initial study approach prior to any clinical trial presentation (real or mock).

Real trial opportunities were offered with and without the presence of this study's researcher. It is recognised that more decliners could have been captured by this study if more personnel had been available – Kasner reporting that he used a team of researchers whilst this study used only the author.

It was not always documented in the medical records when a patient declined a real trial approach. Recording of the rationale behind this decline could have provided informative data. This study would also have benefited from exact alignment with clinical research opportunities offered and more real trials being open at recruiting sites (trial offered being statistically significant in terms of participation). At the outset of this study, nine real trials were open at recruiting sites. This dropped to 3-4
following commencement of the study and lead to reduced research participation opportunities for patients.

Several timings of initial study approach were noted (section 4.2.5). It is possible that the same participants approached at certain times during stroke admission may have had a different response (section 4.5.2.1).

Limited thematic analysis was undertaken but should be recognised for its limitations. Comments cited during the thematic analysis as verbalised by consultees, reflected an inseparable influence of personal perception. It is highly possible that responses may have been time sensitive with influence of how the patient was clinically, felt or looked, if they were sleeping or showing any change in condition. An example of comments given include the following:

"...it could help him or someone else, monitored all the time". (Consultee, aged 49 years, agreed for patient to take part).

"...don't really want to put her through anything else because of what she's been through already". (Consultee, aged 79 years, declined for patient to participate).

"...reluctant as not clear diagnosis but agreed because of blood pressure. Important to do these things, if got something yourself, doing a trial in that would help others in the future." (Patient, aged 42 years, agreed to take part).

Consultees were those available at visiting hours, which were restricted in the number of visitors allowed and timing of visiting hours. It was possible that it was not necessarily the most suitable family member who was approached although this was verbally checked on initiating the approach. Family disputes, argument and lack of agreement between different consultees were noted to some extent for a small number of respondents. On a particular day, less close relatives or non-family members might have been visiting and it is possible that the consultee approached did not necessarily feel best placed to make a research decision. Attempts were made to establish this at the outset of each approach and the consultee's relationship to the patient (if used as decision-maker) was noted on the questionnaire. This relied upon limited information and the confidence of the consultee to act on their relative's behalf. Having no close family also challenged recruitment.

5.5 Summary

The aim of this study was to answer the research question of what influences decision making for clinical trial participation in the context of acute stroke and whether there are any identifiable factors indicative of participation.

This chapter has aimed to discuss the characteristics of recruiting sites and of respondents to clinical trials in the acute stroke phase. Demographic factors, level of education, prior research experience and issues related to the stroke experience itself have been explored. There is no suggestion of any impact on the decision to participate in acute stroke trials with the exception of self-assessed stroke severity.

Decision-making by potential participants in stroke trials is complicated by an unexpected decision needed in a short time frame requiring information to be read, understood and acted upon in someone else's best interest with unclear diagnosis and uncertain prognosis in an acute secondary care environment with a genuine rate of stroke mortality or permanent disability. As such, stroke presents unique research challenges (Carman et al 2014).

General attitudes towards clinical trials were found to be largely positive with little recognition or weighting placed on external factors (whether this is due to a lack of awareness to any influence, denial or subtlety is still unclear). Differences were found in the rationale behind patients and consultees decision-making. Participation for both groups was most likely with a real trial as opposed to a hypothetical (mock) trial.

Having reflected on these points, it is possible to acknowledge the achievements of this study and also recognise areas for future work. These conclusions are presented in the final chapter.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION

This study set out to determine the factors associated with stroke patients' willingness to participate in acute stroke trials. Influences, attitudes and perceptions regarding participation were explored, alongside health status and demographics. The study has successfully documented prospective findings from 200 respondents completing a survey and considering a clinical trial, during admission for an acute stroke. In this chapter, the key findings of this study will be reviewed and areas of further work will be highlighted with implications for CRN policy.

Recruitment to clinical trials continues to be a focus in the UK but this study is one of only a small number to emerge in recent times within stroke care. Whilst those choosing to decline a study are often lost to research and the rationale unrecorded, potential participants were successfully engaged and a verbatim response recorded.

Findings reveal that sociodemographic factors such as age, gender or ethnicity did not explain decision-making about clinical trial participation in acute stroke research, in its entirety. Decisions about participation in trial research are more likely to be strongly influenced by a potential participant's attitudes, perceptions and prior knowledge or experience of clinical trials. Therefore, more could be done to recruit to trials centred around the individual potential participant. This study found that agreement to participate was more likely in a real trial than a mock (hypothetical) trial in the context of an acute stroke. Views expressed by respondents regarding the rationale for their participation decision suggest that trials with a focus on a particular clinical condition or co-morbidity such as blood pressure, or those focused on a particular patient cohort (e.g. a specific ethnic group) were more likely to be perceived favourably by stroke patients or their consultees.

Patients who were able to consent for themselves were more likely to agree to trial participation than consultees considering trial participation on behalf of a patient who was unable to consent. Some consultees reported a 'burden of responsibility' in decision making for an acute stroke clinical trial. Presenting a trial for consideration by reviewing not only eligibility but also knowledge of the patient as to whether this would be a trial they would feel an affinity towards, may improve recruitment rates further and reassure consultees of an individualised plan of care. This could provide reassurance and ease any decision burden by informing of a more individualised recruitment strategy.

There are challenges associated with presenting individuals with a choice of trial within which to participate (to maximise recruitment), weighed against the choice being perceived as an added burden -to the detriment of potential participants who may decline due to feeling overwhelmed.

In this study, a personal perception of the stroke being severe (by the respondent) was more likely to result in trial participation. It is not evident how a patient or consultee deduces severity and there was disparity in personal perception and

clinician scoring on a severity assessment tool (NIHSS). More respondents considered themselves as severely affected than clinicians did. Where alternative consent is sought for trial participation, this disparity could be highlighted as it may lessen the perceived 'burden of responsibility' yet further.

The terminology in research is not always clearly understood by participants and misconceptions may exist with an inability to define the term clinical trial at the outset of the research opportunity. Potential participants may benefit from additional research contacts and increased community awareness to understand a definition prior to a hospital admission.

The rationale behind trial participation decisions is not easily elicited but due to challenges of recall in the acute setting, in the context of stroke, would be best placed immediately alongside a research opportunity. Recall after an acute neurological event would be best placed as fully integrated within real trials opportunities at the earliest opportunity. If questioned at a later date, the trial may not be easily recalled suggesting informed consent may not be truly informed (Rose and Kasner 2011) and remembering the rationale behind a trial decision maybe even more vague.

6.1 Recommendations for future work

A question as to what influences perceptions of event severity with acute stroke remains and warrants further work due to a disparity in the perception by those affected and in that measured by health care professionals using a validated clinical assessment tool (NIHSS). In addition, the participation of ethnic minority groups needs continued exploration and potential participants across all groups may benefit from additional research contact points during admission. White ethnicity was found to increase the likelihood of trial participation. Whilst the respondents for this study were ethnically diverse and non-white patients responded to the survey in greater numbers than the regional and national average, the likelihood of agreement to take part in a clinical trial within the survey was statistically lower in the non-white ethnic group. The explanation behind this is still not clear and would benefit from future work.

Trials embedded within an overarching programme which tests recruitment strategies prospectively - whilst recruiting to a 'live' study could improve recruitment strategies and design approaches for disease, cohort or institutional specifics (MRC START 2012). Future work would also benefit from focusing not only on the reasons that patients agree or decline trial participation, but understanding the reasons why clinicians may not focus resources on enhancing trial recruitment.

Many actively recruiting research studies on the NIHR portfolio and other commercial studies currently have an international reach. International collaboration is recommended as a result of this study to enable larger sample size analysis and cross-cultural comparison for variance in order for global studies to increase recruitment efficiency.

Similarities with Kasner et al (2009) - who used similar methodology - include the fact that approximately half of respondents in both studies would have liked to have

conferred with someone prior to decision-making. This did not prevent a decision being made but the decision itself may have been open to influence (positive or negative) if another person had been available. Having heard only positive or negative consequences of research previously had similar numbers across both studies, however, those respondents having heard both positive and negative reports previously, were potentially more research aware and those respondents in the US sample were double the number compared to the UK.

Differences were noticeable in those agreeing to participate in a clinical trial with statistical significance in the UK but not the US for self assessed stroke severity and whether the trial was real or mock. A different ethnic group was studied in the UK and found significance in the likelihood of those of white British as opposed to other ethnicities, in agreeing to participate in a trial. However, because of sample sizes some sub-analysis was not possible but could be enabled in the future with collaboration and potential meta-analysis of similar studies.

6.2 Recommendations for future policy

As Britain continues to move towards further ethnic diversity and with the increase in the number of internationally recruiting trials, representation requires a concerted effort. The emphasis applied by the NIH in the US in 1990s to this end has not been replicated in the UK to date and maybe necessary to make sufficient strides towards inclusive representation (Redwood and Gill 2013).

Recruitment continues to be a focus and representative, timely recruitment is fundamental for trial success. The CRN has produced guidance, which emphasises

efficiency and timely processes. Whilst this is necessary for maximising potential research opportunities, Trusts must also be aware of potential financial implications from the NIHR when self-setting targets, with an expectation of 100% achievement. National league tables rank Trusts in terms of meeting a 70 day recruitment target and consequently Trusts would do well to work with recruitment strategies to a greater extent.

Much of the research training available locally is provided by the CRN. Perception of stroke severity has implications for communicating in clinical trials and the training requirements to successfully recruit to time and target (high level objectives of the CRN). Whilst consent training is available, due to the crucial role of recruitment, much could be gained from teaching recruitment strategies to generic researchers.

Previously, research on barriers to recruitment has been speculated on by members of the general public as opposed to prospective on actual patients who have declined a clinical trial or were ineligible. This study has enabled non-responders and decliners to be analysed prospectively, alongside those agreeing to participate in a clinical trial, filing a knowledge gap of why some UK acute stroke patients are willing to participate in acute stroke trials and why others decline or it is declined on their behalf. This study has achieved its objectives in studying the willingness to participate in acute stroke research trials, but its impact on future trial design has yet to be realised.

LIST OF REFERENCES

Adamson, J; Beswick, A and Ebrahim, S. (2004). Is Stroke the Most Common Cause of Disability? *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis*.13(4):171-7

Adeoye, O; Pancioli, A; Khoury, J; Moomaw, CJ; Schmit, P; Ewing, I; Alwell, K; Flaherty, ML; Woo, D; Ferioli, S; Khatri, P; Broderick, JP; Kissela, BM; Kleindorfer, D. (2012). Efficiency of enrollment in a successful phase II acute stroke clinical trial. *Journal of stroke and cerebrovascular diseases*. 21(8): 667-72.

Ahluwalia, A; Starkman, S; Sanossian, N; Liebeskind, D; Ali, L; Restrepo, L; Kim-Tenser, M; Valdes-Sueiras, M; Eckstein, M; Pratt, F; Stratton, S; Conwit, R and Saver, J. (2014). Enrolling patients in ambulance stroke trials using mobile televideo consent: Preliminary experience. *Neurology*. 82(10): Supple 5.004.

Ajzen, I and Fishbein, M. (1980). Understanding attitudes and predicting social behaviour. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

AJZEN, I. (1985). From intentions to actions: A theory of planned behaviour. In Kuhl, J and Beckman, J. (Eds.) *Action-control: From Cognition to Behaviour.* Heidelberg, Germany, Springer.

AJZEN, I. (1991). The theory of planned behaviour. Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes. 50: 179-211.

Ajzen, I and Madden, TJ. (1986). Prediction of goal directed behaviour: Attitudes, intentions and perceived behavioural control. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 15, 173-189.

Ali, K; Roffe, C; Crome, P. (2006). What patients want: Consumer involvement in the design of a randomized controlled trial of routine oxygen supplementation after acute stroke. *Stroke*. 37(3): 865-71.

Ankolekar, S; Parry, R; Sprigg, N; Siriwardena, AN and Bath, PMW. (2014). Views of paramedics on their role in an out-of-hospital ambulance-based trial in ultraacute stroke: Qualitative data from the rapid intervention with Glyceryl Trinitrate in hypertensive stroke trial (RIGHT). *Ann. Emerg. Med.* 64(6): 640-8.

Armitage, CJ and Conner, M. (2001). Efficacy of the Theory of Planned Behaviour: a meta-analytic review. *British Journal of Social Psychology*. 40: 471-99.

Avis, NE; Smith, KW; Link, CL; Hortobagyi, GN and Rivera, E. (2006). Factors associated with participation in Breast Cancer Treatment Clinical Trials. *JCO* 24(12): 1860-7.

Bartlett, C; Davey, P; Dieppe, P; Doyal, L; Ebrahim, S and Egger, M. (2003). Women, older persons, and ethnic minorities: factors associated with their inclusion in randomised trials of statins 1990 to 2001. *Heart.* 89(3): 327-8.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. W.H. Freeman & Co. New York.

Beauchamp, TI and Childress, JF. (2009). Principles of Biomedeical Ethics. 6th edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Becker, MH. (Ed). (1974). The Health Belief Model and Personal Health Behaviour. Thorofare, NJ: Charles B. Slack.

Behrendt, C; Golz, T; Roesler, C; Bertz, H and Wunsch, A (2011). What do our patients understand about their trial participation? Assessing patients' understanding of their informed consent consultation about randomised clinical trials. *Med Ethics* 37:74-80.

Benjamin Franklin's 1772 letter to Joseph Priestley – ProCon.org

Berg, JW; Appelbaum, PS; Lidz, CW and Parker, LS. Eds.(2001). Informed Consent: legal theory and clinical practice. 2nd Edn. Oxford University Press. New York.

Braun, V and Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*. 3: 77-101.

Brott, T; Adams, HP Jr; Olinger, CP; Marler, JR; Barsan, WG; Biller, J; Spilker, J; Holleran, R; Eberle, R; Hertzberg, V; Rorick, M; Moomaw, CJ and Walker, M. (1989). Measurements of acute cerebral infarction: a clinical examination scale. *Stroke*. 20: 864–70.

Bryant, **J**; **Skolarus**, **LE**; **Smith**, **B**; **Adelman**, **EE** and **Meurer**, **WJ**. (2013). The accuracy of surrogate decision makers: informed consent in hypothetical acute stroke scenarios. *BMC Emergency Medicine*. 13(1): 1471-227.

Bushnell, CD; Johnston, DCC and Goldstein, LB. (2001). Retrospective assessment of initial stroke severity comparison of the NIH Stroke Scale and the Canadian Neurological Scale. *Stroke*. 32: 656-60.

Campbell, MK; Snowdon, C; Francis, D; Elbourne, D; McDonald, AM; Knight, R; Entwistle,V; Garcia, J; Roberts, I and Grant, A. (The STEPS Group). (2007).

'Recruitment to Randomised Trials: Strategies for Trial involvement and participation study. The STEPS study'. *Health Technology Assessment*. 11: 48.

Campbell, GB; Skidmore, ER; Whyte, EM and Matthews, JT. (2015). Overcoming practical challenges to conducting clinical research in the inpatient stroke rehabilitation setting. *Topics in Stroke rehabil.* Mar 17:1074935714Z000000045. [Epub ahead of print]

Carman, H; Quarles, L; Southwick, L; Benn, EK; Waddy, SP; Farrar-Edwards, D and Boden-Albala, B. (2014). Identifying stroke researcher challenges to minority inclusion in clinical research. *Stroke*. 45: AWP 306.

Cassileth, BR; Zupkis, RV; Sutton-Smith, K and March, V. (1982). Informed consent – why are its goals imperfectly realised?. *N Engl J Med*. 302(16): 896-900.

Chalmers, TC; Smith Jr, H; Blackburn, B; Silverman, B; Schroeder, DR and Ambroz, A. (1981). A method for assessing the quality of a randomised control trial. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 2(1): 31-49.

CLOTS Trials Collaboration, Dennis M, Sandercock PA; Reid, J; Graham, C; Murray, G; Venables, G; Rudd, A and Bowler, G. (2009). Effectiveness of thighlength graduated compression stockings to reduce the risk of deep vein thrombosis after stroke (CLOTS trial 1): a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*. 373 (9679): 1958-65.

Corbie-Smith, G; Viscoli, CM; Kernan, WN; Brass, LM; Sarrel, P and Horwitz, RI. (2003). Influence of race, clinical, and other socio-demographic features on trial participation. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 56: 304–309. **Creswell, J. (1994).** Research Design: Qualitative & Quantitative Approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc. p. 147.

Croft, S; Routh, K; and Carter, H. (2013). Stroke in the West Midlands. in: S. Cotterill, S. Fillingham, J. Powell, (Eds.) West Midlands Key Health Data 2007/08. University of Birmingham, Birmingham, England. P: 79–104.

Dani, KA; McCormick, MT; Muir, KW. (2008). Brain lesion volume and capacity for consent in stroke trials: potential regulatory barriers to the use of surrogate markers. *Stroke.* 39(8): 2336-40.

Darbyshire, J; Sitzia, J; Cameron, D; Ford, G; Littlewood, S; Kaplan, R; Johnston, D; Matthews, D; Holloway, J; Chaturvedi, N; Morgan, C; Riley, A; rosser, M; Kotting, P; McKeith, I; Smye, S; Gower, J; Brown, V; Smyth, R; Poustie, V; van't Hoff, W; Wallace, P; Ellis, T; Wykes, T; Burns, S; Rosenberg, W; Lester, N; Stead, M; Potts, V; Johns, C; Campbell, H; Hamilton, R; Sheffield, J and Selby, P. (2011). Extending the clinical research network approach to all of healthcare. *Annals of Oncology*. 22(7): 36-43.

Davies, T. (1997). Consent to treatment: trust matters as much as information. *Psychiatric Bulletin* 21: 200-1

Demarquay, G; Derex, L; Nighoghossian, N; Adeleine, P; Philippeau, F; Honnorat, J; Trouillas, P. (2005). Ethical issues of informed consent in acute stroke. Analysis of the modalities of consent in 56 patients enrolled in urgent therapeutic trials. *Cerebrovascular diseases* 19 (2): 65-8.

Department of Health (2005). Mental Capacity Act. London. HMSO.

Department of Health (2006). Best research for best health. A new national health research strategy. http://tinyurl.com/blbltek (accessed 28/05/14).

Department of Health (2010). Equity and Excellence: Liberating the NHS. The Stationery Office, London.

Department of Health (2011). National Institute for Health Research Annual Report 2010/11. The Stationery Office, London.

Department of Health (2012a). The Mandate. A Mandate from the Government to the NHS Commissioning Board: April 2013 to March 2015. The Stationery Office, London.

Department of Health (2012b). A Consultation on Strengthening the NHS Constitution. The Stationery Office, London.

Department of Health (2012c). The NHS Outcomes Framework 2013/14. The Stationery Office, London.

Department of Health (2013a). Cardiovascular Disease Outcomes Strategy. Improving outcomes for people with or at risk of cardiovascular disease. Available: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/217118</u> /9387-2900853-CVD- Outcomes web1.pdf (accessed 09/01/15).

Department of Health (2013b). Act F.A.S.T. www.nhs.uk/actfast (accessed 13/03/13).

Department of Health (2014). Social Services and Public Safety. QOF Achievement Data. Available: http://www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/index/statistics/qof/qof-achievement.htm (accessed 09/01/15).

Ding, EL; Powe, NR; Manson, JE; Sherber, NS and Braunstein, JB. (2007). Sex differences in perceived risks, distrust, and willingness to participate in clinical trials: a randomized study of cardiovascular prevention trials. *Arch Intern Med* 167:905–912.

Durant, RW; Legedza, AT; Marcantanio, ER; Freeman, MB and Landon, BE. (2011). Willingness to participate in clinical trials among African Americans and Whites previously exposed to clinical research. *J Cult Divers*. 18(1): 8-19.

Easton, JD; Saver, JL; Albers, GW; Alberts, MJ; Chaturvedi, S; Feldmann, E; Hatsukami, TS; Higashida, RT; Johnston, SC; Kidwell, CS; Lutsep, HL; Miller, E and Sacco, RL. (2009). Definition and Evaluation of Transient Ischemic Attack: A Scientific Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association Stroke Council; Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention; Council on Cardiovascular Nursing; and the Interdisciplinary Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease: The American Academy of Neurology affirms the value of this statement as an educational tool for neurologists. *Stroke*. 40:2276-2293

Elkins, JS; Khatabi, T; Fung, L; Rootenberg, J; Johnston, SC. (2006). Recruiting subjects for acute stroke trials: a meta-analysis. *Stroke*. 37(1): 123-8.

Ferguson, PR. (2002). Patients perceptions of information provided in clinical trials. *Journal of medical ethics.* 28:45-8.

Feigin, VL; Forouzanfar, MH; Krishnamurthi, R; Mensah, GA; Connor, M; Bennett, DA; Moran, AE; Sacco, RL; Anderson, L; Truelson, T; O'Donnell, M; Venketasubramanian, N; Barker-Coolo, S; Lawes, CMM; Wang, W; Shinohara, Y; Witt, E; Ezzati, M; Naghavi, M and Murray, C. (2014). Global and regional burden of stroke during 1990-2010: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010. *Lancet.* 383(9913): 245-54.

Fishbein, M. and Ajzen, I. (1975). Belief, attitude, intention and behaviour: An introduction to theory and research. Reading, MA, Addison-Wesley.

Flaherty, ML; Karlawish, J; Khoury, JC; Kleindorfer, D; Woo, D; Broderick, JP. (2008). How important is surrogate consent for stroke research? *Neurology* 71: 1566-71.

Fletcher, K; Mant, J; Holder, R; Fitzmaurice, D; Lip, GY and Hobbs, FD. (2007). An analysis of factors that predict patient consent to take part in a randomized controlled trial. *Family Practice*. 24:388–394.

Fortun, P; West, J; Chalkley, L; Shonde, A and Hawkey, C.(2008). Recall of informed consent information by healthy volunteers in clinical trials. *Quarterly Journal of Medicine*.101: 625-9.

Frankel, MR; Morgenstern, LB; Kwiatkowski T; Lu, M; Tilley, BC et al. (2000). Predicting prognosis after stroke: a placebo group analysis from the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke rt-PA Stroke Trial. *Neurology* 55: 952–59.

Freedman, B. (1987). Equipoise and the ethics of clinical research. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 317(3): 141–5.

Gilani, S; Adil, M and Qureshi, A. (2013). Pattern of informed consent acquisition in patients undergoing emergent endovascular treatment for acute ischaemic stroke. *Neurology*. 80(1): S17.004.

Glickman, SW; Anstrom, KJ; Lin, L; Chandra, A; Laskowitz, DT; Woods, CW;
Freeman, DH; Kraft, M; Beskow, LM; Weinfurt, KP; Shulman, KA and Cairns,
CB. (2008). Challenges in enrollment of minority, pediatric, and geriatric patients in emergency and acute care clinical research. *Ann Emerg Med* 51:775–80.

Goldstein, **JN**; **Espinola**, **JA**; **Fisher**, **J**; **Pallin**, **DJ**; **Camargo Jr**, **CA**. (2010). Public opinion of a stroke clinical trial using exception from informed consent. International *Journal of Emergency Medicine*. 3(4): 385-89.

Guest, G. (2012). Applied thematic analysis. Thousand Oaks, Califormia: Sage Publications. P17.

Hajat, C; Tilling, K; Stewart, JA; Lemic-Stojcevic, N and Wolfe, CDA. (2004). Ethnic Differences in Risk Factors for Ischemic Stroke: A European Case-Control Study. *Stroke.* 35:1562-1567

Hall, CC; Ariss, L; Todorov, A. (2007). "The illusion of knowledge: When more information reduces accuracy and increases confidence". *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes* 103: 277–90

Halpern, SD; Metzger, DS; Berlin, JA; Ubel, PA. (2001). Who will enroll? Predicting participation in a phase II AIDS vaccine trial. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 27: 281–8.

Halpern, SD. (2002). Prospective preference assessment: A method to enhance the ethics and efficiency of randomized controlled trials. *Controlled Clinical Trials*. 23:274–88.

Halpern, SD; Karlawish, JH; Casarett, D; Berlin, JA; Townsend, RR; Asch, DA. (2003). Hypertensive patients' willingness to participate in placebo-controlled trials: implications for recruitment efficiency. *Am. Heart J.* 146: 985-92.

Hankey, GJ. (1996). Impact of treatment of people with transient ischaemic attack on stroke incidence and public health. *Cerebrovascular Disease*. 6(suppl 1): 26-33. in Coull AJ, Lovett JK, Rothwell PM (2004). Population based study of early risk of stroke after transient ischaemic attack or minor stroke: implications for public education and organisation of services. *BMJ*. 328:326.

Hardicre, J. (2013). An explanation of the role of the research nurse and its implications. *Br J Nursing.* 22(3): 168-9

Hart, JT. (1971). The inverse care law. Lancet. 1(7696): 405-12.

Hatano, S. (1976). Experience from a multicentre stroke register: a preliminary report. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*. 54, 5, 541-53.

Healthtalkonline. (2015)

http://www.healthtalk.org/peoples-experiences/medical-research/clinical-

trials/reasons-wanting-take-part-personal-benefit. (accessed 28/05/12; 24/01/15).

Heiat, A; Gross, CP; Krumholz, HM. (2002). Representation of the elderly, women and minorities in heart failure clinical trials. *Arch Intern Med.* 162: 1682-8.

Hochbaum, G. (1958). Public Participation in Medical Screening Programs: a sociopsychological study. (Public Health Service Publication No. 572). Washington, D.C. Government Printing Office.

Hussain-Gambles, M; Atkin, K and Leese, B. (2004). Why ethnic minority groups are under-represented in clinical trials: a review of the literature. *Health Soc Care Community* 12: 382–8.

ICH GCP. (1996). International conference on Harmonisation. Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice. E6(R1). <u>http://tinyurl.com/4duczor</u> (accessed 28/05/14).

IST-3 collaborative group; Sandercock, P; Wardlaw, JM; Lindley, RI; Dennis, M; Cohen, G; Murray, G; Innes K, Venables G, Czlonkowska A, Kobayashi A, Ricci S, Murray V, Berge E, Slot KB, Hankey GJ, Correia M, Peeters A, Matz K, Lyrer P, Gubitz G, Phillips SJ, Arauz A. (2012). The benefits and harms of intravenous thrombolysis with recombinant tissue plasminogen activator within 6 h of acute ischaemic stroke (the third international stroke trial [IST-3]): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* 379(9834): 2352-63.

Iwanowski, P; Budaj, A; Czlonkowska, A; Wasek, W; Kozlowska-Boszko, B; Oledzka, U; Maselbas, W. (2008). Informed consent for clinical trials in acute coronary syndromes and stroke following the European Clinical Trials Directive: Investigators' experiences and attitudes. *Trials*. 9: 45

Jenkins, V and Fallowfield, L. (2000). Reasons for accepting or declining to participate in randomized clinical trials for cancer therapy. *Br J Cancer.* 82(11): 1783-8.

Jeste, DV; Palmer, BW; Golstan, S; Eyler, LT; Dunn, LB; Meeks, T; Glorioso, D; Fellows, I; Kraemer, H and Appelbaum, PS. (2009). Multi media consent for research in people with schizophrenia and normal subjects: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophrenia Bulletin.* 35(4): 719-29.

Johnston, JE. (2003). The complete idiot's guide to psychology. 2nd Edition. New York. Penguin.

Jungermann, H. (1983). The two camps on rationality. In R.W. Scholz (ed.), Decision Making under Uncertainty. P63-86. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Kane, I; Lindley, R; Lewis, S and Sandercock P. (2006). Impact of stroke syndrome and stroke severity on the process of consent in the third international stroke trial. *Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 21: 348–52.

Kasner, SE; Chalela, JA; Luiano, JM; Cucchiara, BL; Raps, EC; McGarvey, ML; Conroy, MB and Russell Localio, A. (1999). Reliability and validity of estimating the NIH stroke scale score from medical records. *Stroke*. 30: 1534-7.

Kasner, SE; Cucchiara, BL; McGarvey, ML; Luciano, JM; Liebeskind, DS and Chalela, JA. (2003). Modified National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale can be estimated from medical records. *Stroke* 34(2): 568-70.

Kasner, SE; Del Giudice, AM; Rosenberg, S; Sheen, M; Luciano, JM; Cucchiara, BL; Messe, SR; Sansing, LH and Baren, JM. (2009). Who will participate in acute stroke trials? *Neurology*. 72(19): 1682-8.

Kaur, G; Smyth, RL and Williamson, P. (2012). Developing a survey of barriers and facilitators to recruitment in randomised controlled trials. *Trials.* 13: 218.

Kelley, K; Clark, B; Brown, V and Sitzia, J. (2003) Good practice in the conduct and reporting of survey research. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 15(3): 261-6.

Kirby, HM; Calvert, M; McManus, RJ and Draper, H. (2013). Informing potential participants about research: Observational Study with an embedded Randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One*. 8(10): e76435.

Kleindorfer, D; Lindsell, CJ; Alwell, K; Woo, D; Flaherty, ML; Eilerman, J; Khatri, P; Adeoye, O; Ferioli, S; Kissela, BM. (2011). Ischemic stroke survivors' opinion regarding research utilizing exception from informed consent. *Cerebrovascular diseases.* 32(4): 321-6.

Koschack, J. (2009). Trends in Down's syndrome live births and antenatal diagnoses in England and Wales from 1989-2008. Analysis of data from the National Down Syndrome Cytogenetic Register. *BMJ*. 339:b3794.

Kumar, S. (2003). Representation of South Asian people in randomized trials: Study results are interesting but not final word. *BMJ* 327(7411): 394.

Kutty, AD and Himanshu, KS. (2007). "Too much info!" Monash Business review 3.3. 8+ Academic Onefile (accessed 03/03/13)

Lawrence, ES, Coshall, C; Dundas, R; Stewart, J; Rudd, AG; Howard, R and Wolf, CDA. (2001). Estimates of the prevalence of acute stroke impairments and disability in a multiethnic population. *Stroke.* 32: 1279-84.

Lecouturier, J; Rodgers, H; Ford, GA; Rapley, T; Stobbart, L; Louw, SJ and Murtagh, MJ. (2008). Clinical research without consent in adults in the emergency setting: a review of patient and public views. *BMC Med Ethics*. 9:9

Lecouturier, J; Stobbart, L; Murtagh, MJ et al. (2010). The challenges of seeking consent from adults to participate in acute research studies. *Clinical Ethics* 5(2): 73-6.

Leira, EC; Ahmed, A; Lamb, DL; Olalde, HM; Callison, RC; Torner, JC; Adams,

HP; Airdoc study investigators. (2009). Extending acute trials to remote populations: a pilot study during interhospital helicopter transfer. *Stroke.* 40(3): 895-901.

Lemaire, F. (2014). Waiver of consent for low-risk studies. Can Respir J. 21(5): 271.

Liebeskind, DS. (2007). Informed consent in acute stroke. Stroke. 38: e129-30.

Lievesley, N. (2010). The future ageing of the ethnic minority population of England and Wales. A runnymead report. London.

http://www.runnymedetrust.org/uploads/publications/pdfs/TheFutureAgeingOfTheEthn icMinorityPopulation-ForWebJuly2010.pdf (accessed 20/04/15). Lloyd-Williams, M. (2003). Psychosocial Issues in Palliative Care. Oxford University Press. Oxford.

Lopez, AD; Mathers, CD; Ezzati, M; Jamison, DT; Murray, CJ. (2006). Global and regional buren of disease and risk factors, 2001: Systematic analysis of population health data. *The Lancet.* 367(9524): 1747-57

Lyden, PD; Lu, M; Jackson, C; Marler, J; Kothari, R; Brott, T and Zivin, J. (1999). Underlying structure of the National institutes of Health Stroke Scale: results of a factor analysis. *Stroke*. 30(11): 2347-54.

Lyden, PD; Lu, M; Levine, SR; Brott, TG; Broderick, J; NINDS rtPA Stroke Study Group. (2001). A modified National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale for use in stroke clinical trials: preliminary reliability and validity. *Stroke* 32 (6): 1310–7.

Lynoe, N; Sandlund, M; Jacobsson, L; Nordberg, G and Jin, T. (2004). Informed consent in China: quality of information provided to participants in a research project. *Scand J Public Health* 32(6): 472-5.

Maas, MB and Singhal, AB. (2013). Unwitnessed stroke: impact of different onset times on eligibility into stroke trials. J. *Stroke and Cerebrovascular Dis*. 22(3): 241-3.

MacNeill, V; Nwokoro, C; Griffiths, C; Grigg, J and Seale, C. (2013). Recruiting ethnic minority participants to a clinical trial: a qualitative study. *BMJ Open* 3:e002750. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002750.

Madsen, SM; Holm, S and Riis, P. (1999). Ethical aspects of clinical trials: the attitudes of the public and out- patients. *J Intern Med.* 245 (6): 571–9

Madsen, SM; Mirza, MR; Holm, S; Hilsted, KL; Kampmann, K; Riis, P. (2002). Attitudes towards clinical research amongst participants and nonparticipants. *J Intern Med.* 251: 156–68. **Madsen, SM; Holm, S and Rils, P. (2007).** Attitudes towards clinical research among cancer trial participants and non-participants: an interview study using a Grounded Theory approach. *J Med Ethics* 33:234-40.

Maslow, AH. (1943). A theory of human motivation. *Psychological Review* 50 (4): 370–96. Retrieved from http://psychclassics.yorku.ca/Maslow/motivation.htm

Mason, S; Hussain-Gambles, M; Leese, B; Atkin, K and Brown, J. (2003). Representation of South Asian people in randomised clinical trials: analysis of trials' data. *BMJ* 326(7401): 1244-5.

Masuca, SR; Das, DS; Delano, D; Irani, M; Pandurengan, R; Barreto, AD; Ifejika-Jones, N; Misra, V; Bursaw, A; Peng, H; Rahbar, MH; Savitz, SI; Grotta, J and Gonzales, NR. (2012). Barriers to obtaining informed consent in acute stoke clinical trials. *Stroke*. 43(2): A3769.

Matos-Diaz, I; Liang, J; Walker, A; Lucido, D and Boniece, I. (2015). Delay in Presentation to Hospital after Acute Stroke: A Multiethnic Population in New York City. (P1.084). *Neurology* 84(14): Supplement p1.084.

McCann, S; Campbell, M and Entwistle, V. (2013). Recruitment to clinical trials: a meta-ethnographic synthesis of studies of reasons for participation. *J Health Serv Res Policy*. 18: 233-241.

McCormack, J and Reay, H. (2013). Acute stroke research: challenges and opportunities for nurses. *Nursing Standard*. 27(32): 39-45.

McDonald, AM; Knight, RC; Campbell, MK; Entwistle, VA; Grant, AM; Cook, JA; Elbourne, DR; Francis, D; Garcia, J; Roberts, I and Snowdon, C. (2006). What influences recruitment to randomised controlled trials? A review of trials funded by two UK funding agencies. *Trials*. 7:9.

McDonald, AM; Treweek, S; Shakur, H; Free, C; Knight, R; Speed, C and Campbell, MK. (2011) Using a business model approach and marketing techniques for recruitment to clinical trials. *Trials*. 12:74.

McGovern DPB. (2001). Randomized controlled trials. In: McGovern DPB, Valori RM, Summerskill WSM, eds. Key topics in evidence based medicine. Oxford: BIOS Scientific Publishers p26–9.

McLean, G; Sutton, M and Guthrie, B. (2006). Deprivation and quality of primary care services: evidence for persistence of the inverse care law from the UK quality and outcomes framework. *J. Epidemiol Community Health*. 60(11): 917-22.

Mead, G; Dennis, M and Brady, M. (2013). Developing easy access patient information booklets and consent forms for use in multicentre stroke trials. *Trials.* 14. 1745-6215

Mellor, RM; Bailey, S; Sheppard, J; Carr, P; Quinn, T; Boyal, A; Sandler, D; Sims, DG; Mant, J; Greenfield, S and McManus, R. (2014). Decisions and delays within stroke patients' route to the hospital: A qualitative study. *Annuals of Emergency Medicine*. 65(3): 279-87.e3

MIMAS. (2008). GeoConvert. http://geoconvert. mimas.ac.uk/ (accessed 15/04/08).

Mohd Noor, A; Sarker, D; Vizor, S; McLennan, B; Hunter, S; Suder, A; Moller, H; Spicer, JF and Papa, S. (2013). Effect of patient socioeconomic status on access to early-phase cancer trials. *J Clin Oncology*. 31(2): 224-30.

MRC START (2012). Mainstream nested trials of recruitment interventions.

http://www.population-health.manchester.ac.uk/mrcstart/ (accessed 24/04/15).

Muir, KW; Weir, CJ; Murray, GD; Povey, C and Lees, KR. (1996). Comparison of neurological scales and scoring systems for acute stroke prognosis. *Stroke* 27: 1817-20.

Munro, SA; Lewin, SA; Swart, T and Volmink, J. (2007). Theory of planned behavior. *BMC Public Health*. 7:104.

Murthy, VH; Krumholz, HM and Gross, CP. (2004). Participation in Cancer clinical Trials. Race-, Sex-, and Age-Based Disparities. *JAMA*. 291(22): 2720-6.

National Clinical Guidelines for stroke. (2008). Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions. Stroke: national clinical guideline for diagnosis and initial management of acute stroke and transient ischaemic attack (TIA). London: Royal College of Physicians.

National Statistics Postcode Directory. (2008).

http://census.ac.uk/ guides/Lookup_tables.aspx

National Sentinel Stroke Audit (2008). HEFT

<u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/national_sentinel_stroke_clinical_audit</u> <u>2008 - public_report_0.pdf</u> (accessed 20/09/14).

NHS Choices. (2015). Clinical trials and medical research - Definition

http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Clinical-trials/Pages/Definition.aspx

Nice guidelines (2014). Developing NICE guidelines: the manual 2014. National Institute for Health and Care. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/media/default/about/what-we-</u> do/our-programmes/developing-nice-guidelines-the-manual.pdf (accessed 09/02/15). **Nightingale**, J. (2008). Think Smart – Act Smart: Avoiding the business mistakes that even intelligent people make. John wiley & Sons. p1.

Niglas, K. (1999) Quantitative and Qualitative Inquiry in Educational Research: Is There A Paradigmatic Difference Between Them? Paper presented at the European Conference on Educational Research, Lahti, Finland 22-25 Sept.

NIH. (2002). National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, Office of Communications. Market Research to Pretest Selected Communications Elements of The National Lung Screening Trial (NLSTt). Bethesda, MD.

NIH. (2015) <u>http://www.nih.gov/health/clinicaltrials/whyparticipate.htm</u> (accessed 28/05/12 & 2015)

NIHR CRN. (2012a) *Stroke Research Network.* www.crncc.nihr.ac.uk/about_us/ stroke_research_network (accessed 11/03/13).

NIHR CRN. (2014a).

http://www.crn.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/News/Censuswide%20infographic.pdf

NIHR CRN. (2014b).

http://www.crn.nihr.ac.uk/wpcontent/uploads/Performance%20reports/NIHR%20CRN %20Performance%20Report_Q2_14_15_PUBLIC_with%20covers%20%281%29.pdf (accessed 24/01/15).

NIHR CRN. (2015).

http://www.nihr.ac.uk/about/history-of-the-nihr.htm (accessed 21/01/2015).

NIHR CRN. (2013). 70 day target

http://www.nihr.ac.uk/policy-and-

standards/Performance%20Guidelines%20Q2_1415%20Final%20FCTP.pdf

Nor, AM; Davis, J; Sen, B; Shipsey, D; Louw, SJ; Dyker, AG; Davis, M and Ford,

GA. (2005). The Recognition Of Stroke In the Emergency Room (ROSIER) scale: development and validation of a stroke recognition instrument. *Lancet Neurology*. 4(11): 727-34.

Norman, A. 1985. Triple jeopardy: growing old in a second homeland. London: Centre for Policy on Ageing.

NRES. (2011a). <u>www.nres.nhs.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alld=338</u>. (accessed 05/2012).

NRES. (2011b) <u>http://www.hra.nhs.uk/documents/2013/09/information-sheet-and-</u> <u>consent-form-guidance.pdf</u> (accessed 21/04/15).

Office for National Statistics. (2011). Census: Aggregate data (England and Wales) [computer file]. UK Data Service Census Support. Downloaded from: <u>http://infuse.mimas.ac.uk</u>. This information is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence [<u>http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/2</u>].

Parahoo, K. (2006). Nursing research: principles, process and issues. 2nd edition. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Pell, JP; Pell, AC; Norrie, J; Ford, I and Cobbe, SM. (2000). Effect of socioeconomic deprivation on waiting time for cardiac surgery: retrospective cohort study. *BMJ.* 320 (7226): 15-8.

<u>Penaloza-Ramos, MC; Sheppard, JP; Jowett S; Barton, P; Mant, J; Quinn, T;</u> <u>Mellor, RM; Sims, D; Sandler, D; McManus, RJ; Birmingham and Black Country</u> <u>Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care</u> **Investigators. (2014).** Cost-effectiveness of optimizing acute stroke care services for thrombolysis. *Stroke.* 45(2): 553-62.

Prescott, RJ; Counsell, CE; Gillespie, WJ; Grant, AM; Russell, IT; Kiauka, S; Colthart, IR; Ross, S; Shepherd, SM and Russell, D. (1999) Factors that limit the quality, number and progress of randomised controlled trials. *Health Technology Assessment.* 3(20).

Public Health England (2015): National Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) Profiles.

http://www.sepho.org.uk/NationalCVD/NationalCVDProfiles.aspx(accessed 09/01/15).

Rahman, S; Majumder, M; Shaban, SF; Rahman, N; Ahmed, M; Bin Abdulrahman, K and D'Souza, UJA. (2011). Physician participation in clinical research trials: issues and approaches. *Advances in Medical Education and Practice* 2: 85-93.

Raynor, DK; Blenkinsopp, A; Knapp, P; Grime, J; Nicolson, DJ; Pollock, K; Dorer, G; Gilbody, S; Dickinson, D; Maule, AJ and Spoor, P. (2007). A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative research on the role and effectiveness of written information available to patients about individual medicines. *Health Technology Assessment*. 11(5).

Redwood, S and Gill, PS. (2013). Under-representation of minority ethnic groups in research — call for action. *The British Journal of General Practice*, *63*(612): 342–3. doi:10.3399/bjgp13X668456

Reynolds, T. (2011). Clinical trials: can technology solve the problem of low recruitment? *BMJ*. 342:d3662.

Rocco, A; Pasquini, M; Cecconi, E; Sirimarco, G; Ricciardi, MC; Vicenzini, E; Altieri, M; Di Piero, V; Lenzi, GL. (2007). Monitoring After the Acute Stage of Stroke: A Prospective Study. *Stroke*. 38:1225-8.

Roffe, C; Nevatte, T; Crome, P; Gray, R; Sim, J; Pountain, S; Handy, L and Handy, P. (2014). The Stroke Oxygen Study (SO2S) - a multi-center, study to assess whether routine oxygen treatment in the first 72 hours after a stroke improves long-term outcome: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 15: 99.

Rooney, LK; Bhopal, R; Halani, L; Levy, ML; Partridge, MR; Netuveli, G; Car, J; Griffiths, C; Atkinson, J; Lindsay, G and Sheikh, A. (2011). Promoting recruitment of minority ethnic groups into research: qualitative study exploring the views of South Asian people with asthma. *J Public Health*. 33(4): 604-15.

Rose, DZ and Kasner, SE. (2011). Informed consent: The rate-limiting step in acute stroke trials. *Front Neurol.* 2: 65.

Rosenbaum, JR; Bravata, DM; Concato, J; Brass, LM; Kim, N; Fried, TR. (2004). Informed consent for thrombolytic therapy for patients with acute ischemic stroke treated in routine clinical practice Stroke; *Journal of cerebral circulation*. 35(9): e353-5.

Rosenstock, IM. (1966). Why people use health services. *Milbank Memorial Fund* 44: 94-127.

Rosenstock, IM. (1974). Historical origins of the Health Belief Model. *Health Educ Monogr.* 2:328-335.

Rothwell, PM. (2001). The high cost of not funding stroke research: a comparison

with heart disease and cancer. The Lancet. 357(9268): 1612-6.

RCP. (2006). Royal College of Physicians. National Sentinel Stroke Clinical Audit. https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/national_sentinel_stroke_clinical_audit _2006_-_generic_report_0.pdf

RCP. (2013). Royal College of Physicians Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP). Clinical audit first pilot report prepared on behalf of the Intercollegiate Stroke Working Party.

https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/ssnap_public_report_oct-dec_2013.pdf

RCP. (2014a). Royal College of Physicians Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP). Clinical audit July - September 2013. Public report. National results. Prepared by Royal College of Physicians, Clinical Effectiveness and Evaluation Unit on behalf of the Intercollegiate Stroke Working Party.

http://www.hqip.org.uk/assets/NCAPOP-Library/NCAPOP-2013-14/SSNAP-July-September-2013-Public-Report-February-2014.pdf (accessed 22/02/15).

RCP. (2014b). Royal College of Physicians Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP). Clinical audit April - June 2014. Report prepared by Royal College of Physicians, Clinical Effectiveness and Evaluation Unit on behalf of the Intercollegiate Stroke Working Party. <u>https://www.strokeaudit.org/results/Regional-</u> Results.aspx (accessed 30/09/14).

Sacco, RL; Kasner, SE; Broderick, JP; Caplan, LR; Connors, JJ; Culebras, A; Elkind, MSV; George, MG; Hamdan, AD; Higashida, RT; Hoh, BL; Janis, LS; Kase, CS; Kleindorfer, DO; Lee, J-M; Moseley, ME; Peterson, ED; Turan, TN; **Valderrama, AL; Vinters, HV; (2013)** on behalf of the American Heart Association Stroke Council, Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease, and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism. An updated definition of stroke for the 21st century: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke*. 44: 2064-89.

Saka, O; McGurie, A and Wolfe, C. (2009). Cost of stroke in the United Kingdom. *Age and aging*, 38 (1): 27-32.

Sale, JEM; Lohfeld, LH and Brazil, K. (2002). Revisiting the quantitative-Qualitiative debate: Implications for mixed methods research. *Quality and Quantity.* 36: 43-53.

Salway, S; Platt, L; Chowbey, P; Harriss, K and Bayliss, E. (2007). Long-term ill health, poverty and ethnicity. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Policy Press. Bristol. UK.

Sanoff, R; Cherin, SB; Krause, J; Chatfield, F; Sanossian, N; Starkman, S; Saver, J; Liebeskind, D; Restrepo, L; Ali, L; Valdes-Suerias, M; Kim, M; Obviagele, B; Kim, D; Conwit, R; Eckstein, M; Pratt, F; Hamilton, S and Stratton, S. (2013). Enrollment in a pre-hospital stroke trial: Common reasons for patient nonenrollment. *Stroke*. 44(2): Meeting Abstract 0039-2499.

Sateren, WB; Trimble, EL; Abrams, J; Brawley, O; Breen, N; Ford, L; McCabe, M; Kaplan, R; Smith, M; Ungerleider, R and Christian, MC. (2002). How sociodemographics, presence of oncology specialists, and hospital cancer programs affect accrual to cancer treatment trials. *J Clin Oncol* 20(8): 2109–2117.

Scarborough, P; Peto, V; Bhatnagar, P; Kaur, A; Leal, J; Luengo-Fernandez, R; Gray, A; Rayner, M and Allender, S. (2009). Stroke statistics. British Heart

Foundation and Stroke Association: London.

Schacter; Gilbert and Wegner (2011). Psychology. Worth. pp. 368-73.

Scheppers, E; van Dongen, E; Dekker, J; Geertzen, J and Dekker, J. (2006). Potential barriers to the use of health services among ethnic minorities: a review. *Family.* 23(3): 325-48.

Schlegel, D; Kolb, SJ; Luciano, JM; Tovar, JM; Cucchiara, BL; Liebeskind, DS and Kasner, SE. (2003). Utility of the NIH Stroke Scale as a predictor of hospital disposition. *Stroke*. 34:134 –7.

Schulz, KF; Altman, DG, Moher, D. (2010). CONSORT 20120 Statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ.* 340: c332.

Sen Biswas, M; Newby, LK; Bastian, LA; Peterson, ED and Sugarman, J. (2007). Who refuses enrolment in cardiac clinical trials? *Clinical Trials.* 4: 258-63.

Seshadri, S; Beiser, A; Kelly-Hayes, M; Kase, CS; Au, R; Kannel, WB and Wolf, PA. (2006). The lifetime risk of stroke: Estimates from the Framingham Study. *Stroke* 37: 345-50.

Shah, M; Makinde, KA and Thomas, P. (2007). Cognitive and behavioral aspects affecting early referral of acute stroke patients to hospital. *Journal of Stroke & Cerebrovascular Diseases*. 16(2): 71-76.

Sharma, M and Romas, JA. (2012). Theoretical Foundations of Health Education and Health Promotion. London: Jones and Bartlett Learning.

Sheikh, A; Netuveli, G; Kai, J and Panesar, SS. (2004). Comparison of reporting of ethnicity in US and European randomised controlled trials. *BMJ.* 329: 87–8.

Sheikh, A; Halani, L; Bhopal, R; Netuveli, G; Partridge, MR; Car, J; Griffiths, C and levy, M. (2009). Facilitating the recruitment of minority ethnic people into research: qualitative case study of South Asians and asthma. *Plos Med.* 6:e1000148.

Sheppard, J; Mellor, R; Bailey, S; Barton, P; Boyal, A; Greenfield, S; Jowett, S; Mant, J; Quinn, T; Singh, S; McManus, RJ. (2012). Protocol for an observation and implementation study investigating optimisation of the management of stroke and transient ischaemic attack (TIA). *BMJ Open*. 2:e001430. Doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001430

Shilling, V; Williamson, PR; Hickey, H; Sowden, E; Smyth, RL; Young, B. (2011). Processes in recruitment to randomised controlled trials of medicines for children (RECRUIT): a qualitative study. *Health Technol Assess* 15(15).

Smith, JK. (1983). Quantitative versus qualitative research: An attempt to clarify the issue. *Educational Researcher* 12: 6–13.

Sormani, MP. (2009). The Will Rogers phenomenon: the effect of different diagnostic criteria. *J Neurol Sci.* 287(suppl 1): S46–S49.

Stolberg, HO; Norman, G and Trop, I. (2004). Fundamentals of clinical research for radiologists: randomized controlled trials. *Am J Roentgenol.* 183: 1539–44.

Sully, B; Julious, S and Nicholl, J. (2013). A reinvestigation of recruitment to randomised, controlled, multicenter trials: a review of trials funded by two UK funding agencies. *Trials.* 14: 166.

Stroke Association. (2015). State of the nation. Stroke statistics. <u>www.stroke.org.uk</u> (accessed 21/05/15).

Szczepura, A. (2005). Access to health care for ethnic minority populations. *Postgrad Med J.* 81:141-7

Summers, D; Leonard, A; Wentworth, D; Saver, JL; Simpson, J; Spilker, JA; Hock, N; Miller, E and Mitchell, PH (2009). Comprehensive overview of nursing and interdisciplinary care of the acute ischaemic stroke patient. *Stroke.* 40: 2911-44.

Taylor, D; Bury, M; Campling, N; Carter, S; Garfield, S; Newbould, J and Rennie,

T. (2007a). A Review of the use of the Health Belief Model (HBM), the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA), the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) and the Trans-Theoretical Model (TTM) to study and predict health related behaviour change. NHS National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE).

http://www2.warwick.ac.uk/fac/med/study/ugr/mbchb/phase1_08/semester2/healthpsy chology/nice-doh_draft_review_of_health_behaviour_theories.pdf (accessed 15/05/15).

Taylor, HA; Sugerman, J; Pisetsky, DS and Balton, J. (2007b). Formative research in clinical trial development: attitudes of patients with arthritis in enhancing prevention trials. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 66(4): 542-4.

Tehranisa, **JS and Meurer**, **WJ. (2014)**. Can response-adaptive randomization increase participation in acute stroke trials? *Stroke*. 45(7): 2131-3.

The IST-3 collaborative group. (2012). The benefits and harms of intravenous thrombolysis with recombinant tissue plasminogen activator within 6 h of acute ischaemic stroke (the third international stroke trial [IST-3]): a randomized controlled trial. *The Lancet* 379(9834): 2352-63.

Townsend, N., Wickramasinghe, K., Bhatnagar, P., Smolina, K., Nichols, M., Leal, J., Luengo- Fernandez, R., Rayner, M. (2012). Coronary heart disease statistics 2012 edition. British Heart Foundation: London

Treweek, s; Mitchell, E; Pitkethly, M; Cook, J; Kjeldstrom, M; Taskila, T; Johansen, M; Sullivan, F; Wilson, S; Jackson, C and Jones, R. (2011). Strategies to improve recruitment to randomised controlled trials. *Cochrane Database of systematic reviews.* Issue 1. Art. No.: MR000013.

DOI: 10.1002/14651858.MR000013.pub4.

Truelson, T; Begg, S; Mathers, C and Satoh, T. (2002). The global burden of cerebrovascular disease in the year 2000. GBD working paper, World Health Organisation, Geneva.

http://www.who.int/healthinfo/statistics/bod_cerebrovasculardiseasestroke.pdf (accessed 05/01/15).

Tudur Smith, C; Hickey, H; Clarke, M; Blazeby, J and Williamson, P. (2014). The trials methodological research agenda: results from a priority setting exercise. *Trials.* 15(32): 1-7.

UK Clinical Research Collaboration. (2009) UK Clinical Research Networks. www.ukcrc.org/ infrastructure/networks (accessed 13/03/13).

UKCRN. (2015). Portfolio database.

http://public.ukcrn.org.uk/search/Portfolio.aspx?Level1=6&Level2=327&Level3=103& <u>Status=All</u> (accessed 21/04/15).

Ver Hage, A. (2011). The NIH stroke scale: a window into neurological status.
Nursing Spectrum (Greater Chicago). 24(15): 44-49.

Wang Y, Rudd AG, Wolfe CDA (2013). Age and Ethnic Disparities in Incidence of Stroke Over Time. *Stroke.* 44:3298-3304

Weimar, C; Ho, TW; Katsarava, Z and Diener, HC. (2006). Improving patient selection for clinical acute stroke trials. *Cerebrovascular Diseases* 21(5-6): 386-92.

Weiss-Roberts, L; Warner, TD; Brody, JL; Roberts, B; Lauriello, J and Lyketsos, C. (2002). Patient and psychiatrist ratings of hypothetical schizophrenia research protocols: assessment of harm potential and factors influencing participation decisions. *Am J Psychiatry.* 159: 573–84.

Williams, LS; Yilmaz, EY; Lopez-Yunez, AM. (2000). Retrospective assessment of initial stroke severity with the NIH Stroke Scale. *Stroke*. 31: 858-62

Williams, EW; Cawich, SO; Shah, S; Hendricks, SJ; Edwards, I; Gordon-Strachan, G; Williams-Johnson, J; Bruce, CA; Singh, P; French, S; Hutson, R; Reid, M and Crandon, IW. (2009). Delays in presentations of stroke patients at the university Hospital of the West Indies. *West Indian Med J.* 58(4): 341-6.

Wing, J. (1999). Ethics in psychiatric research. In Bloch, S; Chodoff, P; Green, SA. Eds. Psychiatric ethics (3rd ed). Oxford: Oxford university press p: 461-77.

Wolf, PA; D'Agostino, RB; O'Neal, MA; Sytkowski, P; Kase, CS; Belanger, AJ and Kannel, WB. (1992). Secular trends in stroke incidence and mortality: the Framington Study. *Stroke*. 23(1): 1551-5.

Yew, KS and Cheng, E. (2009). Acute stroke diagnosis. *Am Fam Physician* 80(1): 33-40.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX DESCRIPTION PAGE Appendix 1 Department of Health - definition of the term 166 'Clinical Trial' Appendix 2 Survey tool and study documentation 170 Appendix 3 National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale 193 Appendix 4 Predicted recruitment diagram 203 Appendix 5 Flow chart of study procedure 204

APPENDIX 1

Definition of Clinical trial from NHS Choices. <u>http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Clinical-trials/Pages/Definition.aspx</u>



Clinical trials and medical research - Definition

What are clinical trials?

A clinical trial is a type of clinical research that compares one treatment with another. It may involve patients or healthy people, or both.

Small studies produce less reliable results than large ones, so studies often have to be carried out on a large number of people before the results are considered sufficiently reliable.

Why clinical trials are important

Doctors and other healthcare professionals and patients need evidence from clinical trials to know which treatments work best. Without this evidence, there's a risk that people could be given treatments that have no advantage, waste NHS resources, and might even be harmful.

Clinical trials help to find out if:

- treatments are safe
- treatments have any side effects
- new treatments are better than the standard available treatments

Many NHS treatments have been tested in clinical trials. But the evidence for some treatments is incomplete. Read more about what we don't know.

The NHS aims to inform patients about research relevant to them and offer more patients the opportunity to take part in clinical trials if they want to.

What clinical trials can find out

Clinical trials can help:

- prevent illnesses by testing a vaccine
- detect or diagnose illnesses by testing a scan or blood test
- treat illnesses by testing new or existing medicines
 find out how best to provide psychological support
- . find out how people can control their symptoms or improve their quality of life for example, by testing how a particular diet affects a condition

Trials follow a set of rules, known as a protocol, to ensure they're well designed and as safe as possible, they measure the right things in the right way, and the results are meaningful. A full protocol should be available to anyone who's considering taking part in a trial and wants to see it.

Many clinical trials are designed to show whether new medicines work as expected. These results are sent to the <u>Medicines and Healthcare Products</u> Regulatory Agency (MHRA). The MHRA then decides whether to allow the company making the medicine to market it for a particular use.

Read more about safety and regulation.

Entering a trial

If you're receiving treatment for a medical condition, you may be asked if you would like to be part of a trial. You might be interested in finding out about trials taking place so you can volunteer to join one.

Read more about taking part in clinical trials, including how to join a trial.

Testing Treatments interactive

The Testing Treatments interactive (TTi) website contains video and audio material, and cartoons and games explaining how fair tests are carried out.

If you want to find out more about medical research, you can also download the Testing Treatments book for free from the TTi website.

Page last reviewed: 05/01/2015

Next review due: 05/01/2017

| An owner whether the second | | |
|-----------------------------|---|-----------------------|
| Healthy | Evidence forum | North Roman and Arden |
| | TriGlycerides on the high | |
| .45514 | My Report: LIPID PROFILE Serum Appearance : Clear Clear S Cholesterol : 129 19 replies | |
| | Is there any evidence for the bullet-proof coffee craze? | |
| | It's made from filter coffee, two tablespoons of grass-fed butter and two 20 replies | |
| \bigcirc | Acupuncture? | |
| 9 | I've had back pain for several years now. At first, I believed that it was 28 replies | • |
| | | |



Clinical trials and medical research - Fair tests

About fair tests

Not only do unproven treatments need to be tested, but the tests also need to be fair.

Without a fair test, the findings from any research may not mean very much.

Even worse, an unfair test could give healthcare professionals and patients the wrong idea, and people may be given a treatment that doesn't work or is actually harmful. They may also not be given a treatment that could be helpful.

This page explains:

- making comparisons
- placebo effect control groups
- randomisation
- blinding size of trials

Making comparisons

If someone who's ill takes a treatment and then gets better, it could be the result of a natural recovery that would have happened anyway.

To tell if the treatment has worked, it needs to be compared with another treatment or a placebo. The two results have to be different enough to indicate a difference hasn't occurred by chance

Comparing a treatment with a placebo

The treatment may be compared with a placebo (a dummy treatment), such as a sugar pill, that looks the same as the treatment.

If there are fewer symptoms or other problems after a treatment than after taking a placebo, this suggests the treatment works.

Comparing a treatment with a standard treatment

Where a treatment is already known to be effective from previous research, it's usually not considered right (ethical) to compare the new treatment with a placebo. The new treatment usually needs to be compared with a standard treatment that's already known to be helpful

This makes it possible to assess whether the new treatment works better than the treatment already being used. New treatments are as likely to be worse as they are to be better than existing treatments

Placebo effect

The placebo effect is the phenomenon of someone's symptoms improving when they've only been given a dummy treatment, or even after they've just seen a doctor.

Sometimes a doctor's or other healthcare professional's reassurance, and their confident way of communicating with people who are feeling ill, helps some people feel better. The placebo effect is a largely mysterious and fascinating effect that can be quite powerful.

If you think and believe you're going to get better, you're much more likely to. However, this doesn't work in all situations and for all conditions.

Dummy treatments may be given to people in clinical trials. A placebo medicine looks the same as the medicine being studied, so you don't know which one you're taking. Some people may feel better after taking the placebo medicine because they think they're being given real medication. This is the placebo effect.

Placebos are particularly powerful in conditions where symptoms are important. For example, people feel pain differently and respond better to treatments they think are going to work. In extreme circumstances, some people who are in severe pain respond to a placebo as well as they would to a powerful painkiller

But placebos don't work for all conditions. High blood pressure (hypertension) can be lowered by active medicines, but placebos have no detectable effect. Similarly, placebo treatments don't lower blood cholesterol, but statin medicines do.

Sham treatments that worl

Researchers have designed ways of creating placebos for complementary medicine treatments, such as acupuncture.

It's possible to carry out sham acupuncture where needles are inserted to a different depth and in different places from those used in real Chinese acupuncture. In recent trials, both types of acupuncture appeared to be better than doing nothing.

Studies have also carried out placebo surgery on people with knee pain, and these have shown the placebo surgery often has good results.

Examples of the placebo effect include:

- four placebo tablets work better than two in gastric ulcers

- pink dummy pills are better at maintaining concentration than blue ones
 placebo injections are more effective than placebo pills
 painkillers work better if they're believed to be costly than if they're believed to be cheap

(Source: Bad Science, Ben Goldacre, Fourth Estate, 2008)

Control groups

Participants in a clinical trial will usually be put into one of two groups. They may be put in a group where they're given:

- the unevaluated treatment being assessed
- an existing standard treatment, or a placebo if no proven standard treatment exists (known as the control group)

The aim is to compare what happens in these groups. Participants are randomly assigned to one of these groups.

While the treatments are different in the two groups, researchers try to keep as many of the other conditions the same as possible. For example, both groups should have people of a similar age, with a similar proportion of men and women, who are in similar overall health.

Randomisation

The best way to get similar groups is to allocate individuals to one of the groups in the trial in an unpredictable, random way. This increases the likelihood that the two groups will be similar. This process is called random allocation or randomisation.

In most triats, a computer will be used to decide which group each patient will be allocated to. This allocation will be concealed until after each eligible patient has been accepted for the triat.

These precautions mean the people who decide whether a patient is eligible to participate in the trial can't influence which treatment a patient is allocated to receive. This protects the study from conscious or unconscious bias, which would make the test unreliable.

Blinding

Many trials are set up so nobody knows who's been allocated to receive which treatment. This is known as blinding, and it helps reduce the effects of bias when comparing the outcomes of the treatments.

Many people feel better if they think they're getting a better new treatment, even if the treatment is ineffective and their underlying health problem hasn't really changed at all.

When both the medical staff organising treatment and those taking part in the trial don't know who's receiving which treatment, it's called a double-blind triat.

Blinding is easier when testing medicines, but more difficult when testing other types of treatments or methods of caring for people. For example, it may be impossible to blind a trial comparing two types of surgery.

Why blinding is important

Some clinical trials measure hard outcomes such as survival, so outcome measurement is unlikely to be blased.

However, most trials measure outcomes that are more open to biased assessment. For example, patients and researchers may have to make some sort of judgement about how bad symptoms are.

If either researchers or participants know - or think they know - who is receiving which treatment (including placebos), that knowledge may influence what they report.

Participants who think they're taking an active treatment may not want to let down the researcher, and may exaggerate benefits and minimise side effects. Researchers also may allow their hopes about a new treatment to unconsciously influence their recording of symptoms.

The result of these blases is often to overestimate how effective a treatment is. To reduce these possible sources of blas, many trials are double-blind.

Size of trials

For a trial to be a fair test, the number of people taking part needs to be large enough. For example, in a small trial of 20 people, with 10 people taking each treatment, seven people may improve on the new treatment and five on the standard treatment.

Most of us would not think of that as a fair test because, while the new treatment may be better, the finding could easily have occurred by chance.

If the trial was bigger, with 700 out of 1,000 people improving on the new treatment and 500 out of 1,000 on the standard treatment, the result means researchers can be very confident that the new treatment was better.

The degree of this confidence in the difference can be estimated. Researchers can provide ranges called confidence intervals to show you how certain their results are.

Researchers can also test how "statistically significant" a result is. This can help to show where differences between treatments are unlikely to be the result of chance.

More information

Read more about fair tests on the Testing Treatments interactive (TTI) and the James Lind Library websites, where you can also download books for free, including how to make smart health choices and understanding health statistics.

Page last reviewed: 05/01/2015

Next review due: 05/01/2017

Positiny Cyldence Some

TriGlycerides on the high

My Report: LIPID PROFILE Serum Appearance : Clear Clear S Cholesterol - 129 19 replies

APPENDIX 2

Survey tool and study documentation

- Participant information sheet and consent form.
- Survey tool
- Mock Patient information sheet and consent form
- Mock Consultee information sheet and consent form





Birmingham Heartlands Hospital

Bordesley Green East Birmingham B9 5SS

> Tel: 0121 424 2000 Fax: 0121 424 2200

The START Questionnaire Study

Participant Information Sheet

Please read this information sheet and discuss with your doctor, friends and relatives if you wish. If there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information please ask the researcher or call the number at the end of this information sheet.

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS STUDY?

The purpose of the study is to find out patients and relatives views on taking part in stroke research. Your opinions and information may help us improve stroke care for other patients in future. We also want to make sure everyone can take part in research who wants to.

WHY HAVE I BEEN CHOSEN AND DO I HAVE TO TAKE PART?

We plan to offer this study to all stroke patients admitted to this hospital within one year, or their relatives. Participation is entirely voluntary and it is up to you whether or not you decide to take part. If you **do** take part, you will be given this information sheet to keep and will be asked to sign a consent form. You can contact us at any time to withdraw from the study without giving a reason. Whether you take part or not, the care you or your relative receives will not be affected in any way.

WHAT WILL I HAVE TO DO?

If you are a patient, you will be asked to give permission for us to collect information from medical records about the type of stroke you have suffered. We will also ask you to complete a questionnaire with one of our researchers. The questionnaire should take about 20 minutes to complete.

WILL MY TAKING PART IN THIS STUDY BE KEPT CONFIDENTIAL?

Yes. If you join the study and are a patient, some parts of your medical records will be viewed by an authorised researcher and information collected. This will be analysed at the University of Birmingham. Records may also be looked at by representatives of regulatory authorities and by authorised people from the trust to check that the study is being carried out correctly. Nothing that can reveal your identity will be disclosed outside of the Hospital. At the end of the





research, confidential records will be kept securely for 5 years before being destroyed. Access to any information stored electronically will be protected by passwords and restricted to the researcher working on the study.

WHAT WILL HAPPEN TO THE RESULTS OF THE STUDY?

The findings will be used to improve the design of studies in the future. The results will be presented in a way that will not identify individuals. Copies of the research findings will be available by post on request and accessible on a website.

WHO HAS APPROVED THIS STUDY?

All research in the NHS is assessed by an independent group of people called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, wellbeing and dignity. This study has been approved by a local Research Ethics Committee. The University of Birmingham is sponsoring this study. The Florence Nightingale Foundation is funding this study.

WHO CAN I CONTACT FOR FURTHER INFORMATION?

| Jo McCormack | Elizabeth Adey |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Researcher | R&D Manager, Heartlands Hospital |
| Primary Care Clinical Sciences | Bordesley Green East |
| University of Birmingham | Birmingham |
| | |
| Email: | Email: |

THANK YOU FOR TAKING THE TIME TO READ THIS INFORMATION ABOUT OUR STUDY





Birmingham Heartlands Hospital Bordesley Green East Birmingham B9 5SS

> Tel: 0121 424 2000 Fax: 0121 424 2200

Participant Consent Form

Investigator Name: Jo McCormack

Centre Number: BHH

Patient Initials:....

Patient Number:

Please initial box

- I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet dated 20th March 2012 (version 1.1) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.
- 2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason, without any medical care or legal rights being affected.
- 3. **Patients only**: I understand that relevant sections of medical notes and data collected during the study, may be looked at by an individual from the University of Birmingham, regulatory authorities or from the NHS Trust, where it is relevant to taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my medical records.
- 4. I agree to take part in the above study.

Name of Participant

Date

Signature

If verbal agreement is given but participant is unable to sign for any reason, a witness to this should sign below

Name of witness to verbal consent (if applicable)

Researcher

| Data | |
|------|--|
| Date | |

Date

Signature

Signature

When completed, 1 for patient; 1 for site file, 1 (original) to be kept in medical notes.



| Question | naire | 1 |
|----------|-------|-------------------------|
| | | Statements Contractions |

*Researcher administered Questionnaire -Questions will be posed face:face and the answers filled in by the researcher

| Q1 Date of Question | nnaire complet | ion/ | /(| dd/mm | m/yy) Tir | ne:_ | (24 | 4hr) |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Q2 Respondent: | | Stroke patier | nt ⁰ *Consultee | 1 | | | | |
| *Relationship to pa | tient: | | | | | | | |
| Q3 How severe do y | you perceive th | e current co | ndition? | Mild ⁰ | Moderate | ¹ Severe ² | Not su | 1re ⁸⁸⁸ |
| Q4 Trial offered: | Real ⁰ Mock Tria | al ¹ | | L | | | | |
| DEMOGRAPHIC | | | | | | | | |
| Q5 Age | _yrs | | | | | | | |
| Q6 Gender: | M ⁰ F ¹ | | | | | | | |
| Q7 Ethnicity | White ^o Pakista | ni ¹ Indian ² | Bangladeshi ³ | Black Ca | arribean ⁴ | Black-Afric | can ⁵ (| Other ⁶ |
| Q8 Highest level of completed | education | No formal qualifications ⁰ | GCSEs/ CSEs/ Level equivale | 'O' 'A ent ¹ ec | ' levels / quivalent² | Degree ³ | Postgrad professio qualifica | luate/ onal tion ⁴ |
| Q9 Postcode | | | | | | | | |
| PRIOR RESEARCH R | RELATED EXPER | IENCE | | | | | | |
| Q10 What do you u | inderstand by th | ne term 'clin | ical trial'? | | | | | |
| Q11 What do you tl | hink about clini | cal trials? | Very negative | e Nega | ative ¹ Neu | utral ² Po | sitive ³ | Very positive ⁴ |
| Q12 Have you hear | d any positive c | onsequence | s of clinical t | rials? | No ^o | Yes ¹ Do | on't Know | 888 |

Q13 Have you heard any negative consequences of clinical trials?

NIHSS:

1



Questionnaire

*Researcher administered Questionnaire -Questions will be posed face:face and the answers filled in by the researcher

| Q14a Prior to | this hospitalisation, have you ever be | en asked to take pa | art in a clinical tri | al No ^o | Yes ¹ | Don't Know ⁸⁸⁸ | |
|---|---|--|--|---------------------|------------------|------------------------------|--|
| Q14b If 'yes | ', did you choose to participate? | No ⁰ Yes ¹ NA ⁸⁸⁸ |] | | | | |
| Q15 Do you ki | now if anyone in your immediate fami | ily has ever | No ⁰ Yes ¹ Don't | Know ⁸⁸⁸ | | | |
| been asked to | been asked to take part in a clinical Trial? | | | | | | |
| (by immediate | (by immediate we mean parent/ partner/ child/ brother/sister) | | | | | | |
| Q16 Has anyone in your immediate family ever participated No ⁰ Yes ¹ Don't Know ⁸⁸⁸ | | | | | | | |
| in a clinical Trial? | | | | | | | |
| PERSONAL HEALTH | | | | | | | |
| Q17 On a scale of 1-10, where 1 is the worst possible state of health imaginable, and 10 is the best, how would you rate your current state of health NOW ?: | | | | | | | |

Q18 On a scale of 1-10, where 1 is the worst possible state of health imaginable, and 10 is the best, how would you rate your state of health **BEFORE THE STROKE**?:_____

STROKE DIAGNOSIS

Personal opinion

Q19 Date of stroke _____ / ____ (dd/mmm/yyyy) Time of Stroke _____: ____ (24 hr)

*If 'wake-up stroke', time of wake up_____. Time of last seen well_____.

Q20 What type of stroke occurred? (personal knowledge)

| Ischaemic ⁰ | Bleed ¹ | Don't | |
|------------------------|--------------------|---------------------|--|
| | | know ⁸⁸⁸ | |
| | | | |

Q21 Has patient consented to allow researcher access to their medical records?

| No ⁰ | Yes1 |
|-----------------|------|
| | |

From medical records (*patient consent only)

*Researcher administered Questionnaire -Questions will be posed face:face and the answers filled in by the researcher

Questionnaire

Q22* Date of stroke ____/ ____(dd/mmm/yyyy) Time of Stroke ____: ___(24 hr)

From medical records (*patient consent only)

Q23* Date of arrival in A&E ____/ ____(dd/mmm/yy) Time of arrival _____: ___(24 hr)

From medical records (*patient consent only)

Q24* Stroke diagnosis from CT scan (from medical records)

Q25 Have you been approached about a research trial since admission?

If yes,

Q26 At what stage of your hospital stay were you approached about research?

i.e. admission (prior to ward), day 1, 2, 3 /week 1, 2, 3 etc.

Q27a Should we have approached you at a different stage of recovery?

Q27b If 'yes', When?_____

PAST MEDICAL HISTORY

Q28 Do you have or have you had:

| a. Atrial Fibrillation | No | Yes | N/K ^{ooc} | |
|---|--------------------|---------------------|----------------------|--------------------|
| b. Previous Stroke / TIA | | No ⁰ | Yes ¹ | N/K ⁸⁸⁸ |
| c. Previous heart attack or coronary artery | No ⁰ | Yes ¹ | N/K ⁸⁸⁸ | |
| d. Diabetes | | No ⁰ | Yes ¹ | N/K ⁸⁸⁸ |
| e. Peripheral vascular disease | | No ⁰ | Yes ¹ | N/K ⁸⁸⁸ |
| f. High blood pressure (hypertension) | | No ⁰ | Yes ¹ | N/K ⁸⁸⁸ |
| g. High cholesterol (hyperlipidemia) | | No ⁰ | Yes ¹ | N/K ⁸⁸⁸ |
| h. Smoking | Never ⁰ | Former ¹ | Current ² | N/K ⁸⁸⁸ |
| I. Other serious medical condition | | No ⁰ | Yes ¹ | N/K ⁸⁸⁸ |

lschaemic⁰

Bleed¹



Unclear⁹⁹⁹

| No ⁰ | Yes1 | Don't Know ⁸⁸⁸ | |
|-----------------|------|------------------------------|--|
|-----------------|------|------------------------------|--|



177



Questionnaire

*Researcher administered Questionnaire -Questions will be posed face:face and the answers filled in by the researcher

If the patient has been offered a research trial, familiarise patient with details.

Name of trial offered: CLARHC/ SOS/ ENOS/ CLOTS3/ DARS/ BRAINS /MOCK*

*If the patient has not been approached on this admission with research option, administer the mock trial for opinion now.

Q29 Agreed to participate to real trial?

or

Q30 Agreed to participate in mock trial?

| CLINICAL | TRIALS |
|----------|--------|

Q31 Who or what influenced your decision about participating and to what extent?

| | No influence | Weak influence | Moderate | Strong Influence | Very Strong Influence |
|--|--------------|-------------------|----------|---------------------|--------------------------|
| a. GP | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| b. Hospital Doctor | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| c. Nurse | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| d. Family or friends | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| e. Religion | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| f. Previous knowledge of clinical trials | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| g. Self | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| h. Others (please state) | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |





Yes

No

1___

NIHSS:



| | Questionnaire | 1 |
|--|---|--|
| *Researcher admi -Questions will be posed researcher | inistered Questionna I face:face and the answers | a ire filled in by the |
| Q32 Was the written information yo | u were given sufficient to make a decisio | n about the trial? |
| Not enough ⁰ Barely | enough ¹ Enough ² Too much ³ | |
| Q33a Did you discuss the decision at Q33b If yes, who? | oout participating or not, with anyone? | No ⁰ Yes ¹ |
| Q34 Is there anyone else who you w with? | ould have liked to discuss your decision | No ⁰ Yes ¹ Don't Know ⁸⁸⁸ |
| Q35 How much time were you given | ı to make your decision? | |
| Q36 Was the time you were given to | o make your decision: | Barely enough ¹ Enough ² More than enough ³ |
| Q37a What factors do you think influ | uenced your decision (whether you agree | ed to participate in this |

Q37a What factors do you think influenced your decision (whether you agreed to participate in thi study or not)?

Prompt:

| If agreed to trial, please use this table only | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Not sure | Agree | Strongly agree |
|--|-------------------|----------|----------|-------|----------------|
| b. Previous experience | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| c. Felt happy with the information | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| d. Keen to be included | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| e. Something in the trial I liked | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |



Questionnaire



*Researcher administered Questionnaire -Questions will be posed face:face and the answers filled in by the researcher

| -please specify | | | | | |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|
| f. Timing of when I was asked | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| g. Better care than normal | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| h. Potential benefit from a new treatment | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| i. Taking part would help others in the future | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| j. To help the doctor or nurses who asked me | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |

Prompt:

| If declined a trial, please use this table only | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Not sure | Agree | Strongly agree |
|---|-------------------|----------|----------|-------|----------------|
| n. Not enough information to make the decision | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| o. Not enough time to make the decision | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| p. Something in the trial I didn't like | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| Please specify | | | | | |
| q. Timing of when I was asked | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| r. Didn't want to be a guinea pig | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| s. Fear of adverse drug reaction | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| t. Didn't want to take on more stress / too much on | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| u. Different priorities at time of asking | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| v. Makes no difference to stroke now | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| w. Won't be told the outcome of research | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| x. Didn't feel able to 'take in' the information | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| y. Randomisation, no definite treatment | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |
| z. Reluctant to invest time | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 |

NIHSS:



Questionnaire



*Researcher administered Questionnaire -Questions will be posed face:face and the answers filled in by the researcher

Q38 How do you think your decision will affect your family and friends?

| Very negative ⁰ | Negative ¹ | Neutral ² | Positive ³ | Very positive ⁴ |
|----------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|
|----------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|

Q39 Is there anything else you would like to add that may help us with recruiting patients to future trials?

Q40 What research should we be doing for stroke? What is important to you?

Thank you for taking the time to answer these questions

Mock Trial Patient Information Sheet

This information sheet is for your opinion only.

No treatment will be started as a result of considering this information sheet.

Local Investigator: Jo McCormack

You are being invited to take part in a research trial. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Talk to others about the study if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear to you, or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part. Thank you for reading this.

What is the purpose of the study?

Lowering blood pressure reduces the risk of further strokes in patients who have already had one or more strokes. High blood pressure is common in the first hours and days following a stroke and increases the risk of the patient not recovering fully and being left with some disability. Lowering blood pressure in the first hours and days after stroke with medications may help patients to recover. Although at present we routinely treat high blood pressure long term after a stroke, we do not do so immediately after the stroke.

We aim to assess in a trial what effect Drug X has on how well people recover from strokes. Drug X is a tried and tested drug for other medical conditions and acts quickly to relax blood vessels and lowers blood pressure. The data will help doctors decide whether blood pressure lowering treatments like Drug X can be used in patients with acute strokes to improve recovery.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you have had a stroke and are over the age of 18 and because your blood pressure is high.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you do decide to take part you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form. You are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason. Deciding to withdraw from the study will not affect the standard of care you receive.

What will happen to me if I take part?

Your involvement in the study will last for 3 months. If you decide to take part in this study the study doctor or nurse will ask you about your medical history and take your blood pressure.

In this study Drug X is given in a patch much like the patches people use to help stop smoking. A computer will decide at random whether you will receive the treatment patch or nothing. We are doing this because we don't know which way of treating patients is best. To find out, we need to make a comparison between Drug X or no Drug X. We put people into groups and give each group a different treatment and the results are compared to see if one is better. To try to make sure the groups are the same to start with, each patient is put into a group by chance (randomly). In this study half the patients will receive the active patch and half will have no patch.

Once you have been assigned a treatment, the nurse will come and put a dressing on your arm or chest. You will not know if there is a treatment patch under the dressing or not, but the nurses and doctors will know. This will need to be changed once a day for 7 days, and then the treatment will stop.

During the next 7 days a doctor will check your condition looking in particular for signs of any side effects of the treatment.

You will be contacted 3 months after your stroke for a short talk on the telephone (or by post) by a member of the research team. This is to check your condition at that time. In order to make the final evaluation of the study as objective as possible, the person who telephones you will not know if you received the active treatment or not.

Other than described here, your treatment will be exactly the same as for all stroke patients.

Expenses and payments

Volunteers will not receive payment for participating in this study. There will be no charge for the trial medication.

What is the drug, device or procedure that is being tested?

Drug X is a medicine which has been used for many years to treat heart problems. It is not used as a long-term blood pressure medicine but does lower blood pressure quickly and effectively for short periods in patients with a stroke and that is why we are using it in this study.

What are the alternatives for diagnosis or treatment?

There are various licensed medications used to lower blood pressure sometime after a stroke. You do not need to take part in this study to receive blood pressure treatment. You should discuss the options with your doctor before deciding whether to take part in the study.

If you decide to take part in the study, this will not affect your right to receive appropriate medical care from your doctor.

What are the side effects of any treatment received when taking part?

All drugs have the possibility of side effects. The side effects from Drug X are generally mild. They can include headache, low blood pressure and dizziness.

You **MUST** inform your GP or member of the research team if you feel you have had a reaction to the medication.

<u>What are the other possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?</u> You will need to be followed up by the research team for 3 months after starting

You will need to be followed up by the research team for 3 months after starting the study.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

Your participation in this study may reduce the symptoms of your stroke or improve your long-term recovery. However, we cannot guarantee the study will help you, and your participation is voluntary. The information we get from your involvement may benefit other people who may have a stroke in the future.

What happens when the research study stops?

We aim to treat 5,000 patients in this study. When it has finished we will look at the data and decide if this is a useful treatment for stroke. We will not tell you directly the results of the study, but they will be published in a journal where they can be viewed.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

If you join the study, some parts of your medical records and the data collected for the study will be looked at by authorised persons organising the research.

They may also be looked at by representatives of regulatory authorities and by authorised people from the Trust, or other NHS bodies to check that the study is being carried out correctly. All will have a duty of confidentiality to you as a research participant and nothing that could reveal your identity will be disclosed outside the research site.

Your contact details, and those of a relative or friend that you provided, will be passed to the National Coordinating Centre. This will enable the three month telephone follow up to take place.

Our procedures for handling, processing, storage and destruction of patient's data are compliant with the Data Protection Act 1998.

Contact Details:

If you have any questions or concerns do not hesitate to contact the research team.

What if relevant new information becomes available?

Sometimes during the course of a research project new information becomes available about the treatment/drug that is being studied. If this happens, your research doctor will tell you about it and discuss whether you want to or should continue in the study, although after the first 7 days you will no longer be receiving Drug X. If you decide not to carry on, your research doctor will make arrangements for your care to continue. If you decide to continue in the study you will be asked to sign an updated consent form.

Also, on receiving new information your research doctor might consider it to be in your best interests to withdraw you from the study. They will explain the reasons and arrange for your care to continue.

If the study is stopped for any other reason, you will be told why and your continuing care will be arranged.

What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

If you withdraw from the study, we will destroy all your identifiable samples, but we would like to use the data collected up to your withdrawal.

What if there is a problem?

If you had a reaction to the medication we would stop the medication and appropriate medical care would be given. Any adverse events are monitored.

Complaints

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, you should ask to speak with the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions on: 07719 898 730 If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this through the formal complaints procedure.

<u>Harm</u>

If you are harmed during the research and this *is* due to someone's negligence then you may have grounds for legal action for compensation, but you may have to pay your legal costs. The normal hospital complaints mechanisms will be available to you.

If you are harmed during the research and this is *not* due to someone's negligence then there are no special compensation arrangements, but you may still follow the normal hospital complaints mechanisms. Again you may have to pay your legal costs.

The University of Birmingham maintains clinical trials insurance to cover legal liability.

Involvement of the General Practitioner/Family doctor (GP)

If you are enrolled in the study we will inform your General Practitioner.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results of the research may be published. If so, this will be in a medical journal. You will not be identified in any report.

Who is organising and funding the research?

This study has been funded by Florence Nightingale Foundation. The University of Birmingham is sponsor for the study.

Who has reviewed the study?

A local research ethics committee has reviewed the research.

1 copy in medical notes, 1 to patient & 1 to trial folder

Mock Trial Patient Consent Form

A prospective, randomised, parallel-group, blinded, controlled, collaborative, mock trial to investigate the safety and efficacy of Drug X, in patients with acute stroke.

Investigator Name: Jo McCormack Centre Number: Patient Initials: Patient Number:

Please initial box

- I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet dated 30th October 2011(version 1.0) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.
- 2. I understand that participation is voluntary and that everyone would be free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.
- 3. I understand that relevant sections of medical notes and data collected during the study, may be looked at by an individual from the University of Birmingham, regulatory authorities or from the NHS Trust, where it is relevant to my taking part in research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records. I understand that information held by the NHS and records maintained by the NHS Information Centre may be used to keep in touch with me and follow up my health status.
- 4. I would agree to take part in the above study, if this were a real trial.

| Name of Patient | Date | Signature | |
|----------------------------------|------|-----------|--|
| Name of Person Taking Consent | Date | Signature | |

When completed, 1 for patient; 1 for patient site file, 1 (original) to be kept in medical notes.

This form does not relate to a real trial.

Mock Trial Consultee Information Sheet

This patient information sheet is for your opinion only.

No treatment will be started as a result of considering this information sheet.

Local Investigators: Jo McCormack

Your relative is being invited to take part in a research trial. We are asking you to read the information and make a decision about whether or not your relative would like to be involved, as they are unable to make the decision for themselves at present. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Talk to others about the study if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear to you, or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish your relative to take part. Thank you for reading this.

What is the purpose of the study?

Lowering blood pressure reduces the risk of further strokes in patients who have already had one or more strokes. High blood pressure is common in the first hours and days following a stroke and increases the risk of the patient not recovering fully and being left with some disability. Lowering blood pressure in the first hours and days after stroke with medications may help patients to recover. Although at present we routinely treat high blood pressure long term after a stroke, we do not do so immediately after the stroke.

We aim to assess in a trial what effects Drug X has on how well people recover from strokes. Drug X is a tried and tested drug for other medical conditions and acts quickly to relax blood vessels and lowers blood pressure. The data will help doctors decide whether blood pressure lowering treatments like Drug X can be used in patients with acute strokes to improve recovery.

Why has your relative been chosen?

Your relative has been chosen because they have had a stroke and are over the age of 18 and because their blood pressure is high.

Does your relative have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not your relative takes part. If you do decide for them to take part, you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form. You are still free to withdraw your relative at any time and without giving a reason. If your relative gets better and is able to make decisions again, they can withdraw from the study if they wish.

Deciding to withdraw from the study would not affect the standard of care your relative receives.

What will happen to your relative if they take part?

Your relative's involvement in the study will last for 3 months. If you decide to take part in this study the study doctor or nurse will ask you about your relative's medical history and take their blood pressure.

In this study Drug X is given in a patch much like the patches people use to help stop smoking. A computer will decide at random whether your relative receives the treatment patch or nothing. We are doing this because we don't know which way of treating patients is best. To find out, we need to make a comparison between Drug X or no Drug X. We put people into groups and give each group a different treatment and then the results are compared to see if one is better. To try to make sure the groups are the same to start with, each patient is put into a group by chance (randomly). In this study half the patients will receive the active patch and half will have no patch.

Once a treatment has been assigned, the nurse will come and put a dressing on your relative's arm, chest or back. You and your relative will not know if there is a treatment patch under the dressing or not, but the nurses and doctors will know. This will need to be changed once a day for 7 days, and then the treatment will stop.

During the next 7 days a doctor will check your relative's condition, looking in particular for signs of any side effects of the treatment.

Your relative, or their representative, will be contacted 3 months after their stroke for a short talk on the telephone (or by post) by a member of the research team. This is to check their condition at that time. In order to make the final evaluation of the study as objective as possible, the person who telephones will not know if your relative received the active treatment or not.

Other than described here, your relative's treatment will be exactly the same as for all stroke patients.

Expenses and payments

Volunteers will not receive payment for participating in this study. There will be no charge for the trial medication.

What is the drug, device or procedure that is being tested?

Drug X is a medicine which has been used for many years to treat heart problems. It is not used as a long-term blood pressure medicine, but does lower blood pressure quickly and effectively for short periods in patients with a stroke and that is why we are using it in this study.

What are the alternatives for diagnosis or treatment?

There are various licensed medications used to lower blood pressure sometime after a stroke. Your relative does not need to take part in this study to receive blood pressure treatment. You should discuss the options with your doctor before deciding whether your relative should take part in the study.

If you decide for your relative to take part in the study, this will not affect their right to receive appropriate medical care from their doctor.

What are the side effects of any treatment received when taking part?

All drugs have the possibility of side effects. The side effects from Drug X are generally mild. They can include headache, low blood pressure and dizziness.

You and your relative **MUST** inform your GP or member of the research team if you feel there has been a reaction to the medication.

What are the other possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

Your relative will need to be followed up by the research team for 3 months after starting the study.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

Participation in this study may reduce the symptoms of the stroke or improve long-term recovery. However, we cannot guarantee the study will help your relative, and participation is voluntary. The information we get from your relative's involvement may benefit other people who have a stroke in the future.

What happens when the research study stops?

We aim to treat 5,000 patients in this study. When it has finished we will look at the data and decide if this is a useful treatment for stroke. We will not tell you or your relative directly the results of the study, but they will be published in a journal, where they can be viewed.

Will my relative's involvement in the study be kept confidential?

If your relative joins the study, some parts of their medical records and the data collected for the study will be looked at by authorised persons organising the research.

They may also be looked at by representatives of regulatory authorities and by authorised people from the Trust, or other NHS bodies to check that the study is being carried out correctly. All will have a duty of confidentiality to research participants and nothing that could reveal your relative's identity will be disclosed outside the research site.

Your relatives contact details, and those of one other relative or friend that is provided, will be passed to the National Coordinating Centre. This will enable the three month telephone follow up to take place.

Our procedures for handling, processing, storage and destruction of the patient's data are compliant with the Data Protection Act 1998.

Contact Details:

If you have any questions or concerns do not hesitate to contact: Jo McCormack. Tel: 07719 898 730

What if relevant new information becomes available?

Sometimes during the course of a research project, new information becomes available about the treatment/drug that is being studied. If this happens, your research doctor will tell you and/or your relative about it and discuss whether your relative wants to or should continue in the study, although after the first 7 days they will no longer be receiving Drug X. If the decision was not to carry on, the research doctor would make arrangements for your relative's care to continue. If the decision was to continue in the study you or your relative would be asked to sign an updated consent form.

Also, on receiving new information your research doctor might consider it to be in your relative's best interests to withdraw from the study. They would explain the reasons and arrange for their care to continue.

If the study is stopped for any other reason, you will be told why and your relative's continuing care will be arranged.

What will happen if your relative doesn't want to carry on with the study?

If your relative withdraws or is withdrawn from the study, we will destroy all identifiable samples, but we would like to use the data collected up to their withdrawal.

What if there is a problem?

If your relative had a reaction to the medication, we would stop the medication and appropriate medical care would be given. Any adverse events are monitored.

Complaints

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, you should ask to speak with the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions: Jo McCormack. Tel: 07719 898 730. If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this through the complaints procedures.

<u>Harm</u>

If your relative is harmed during the research and this *is* due to someone's negligence then your relative may have grounds for legal action for compensation, but they may have to pay legal costs. The normal hospital complaints mechanisms will be available to your relative.

If your relative is harmed during the research and this is *not* due to someone's negligence then there are no special compensation arrangements, but your relative may still follow the normal hospital complaints mechanisms. Again your relative may have to pay legal costs.

The University of Birmingham maintains Clinical Trials Insurance to cover the University's legal liability.

Involvement of the General Practitioner/Family doctor (GP)

If your relative is enrolled in the study we will inform your relative's General Practitioner.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results of the research may be published. If so, this will be in a medical journal. Your relative will not be identified in any report.

Who is organising and funding the research?

This study has been funded by Florence Nightingale Foundation. The University of Birmingham is sponsor for the study.

Who has reviewed the study?

A local research ethics committee has reviewed the research.

1 copy in medical notes, 1 to patient & 1 to trial folder

Mock Trial

Consultee Consent Form

A prospective, randomised, parallel-group, blinded, controlled, collaborative, mock trial to investigate the safety and efficacy of Drug X in patients with acute stroke.

Investigator Name: Jo McCormack Centre Number: Patient Initials: Patient Number:

Please initial box

- I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet dated 30th October 2011 (version 1.0) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.
- 2. I understand that my relative's participation is voluntary and that they are free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason, without their medical care or legal rights being affected.
- 3. I understand that relevant sections of my relative's medical notes and data collected during the study, may be looked at by an individual from the University of Birmingham, regulatory authorities or from the NHS Trust, where it is relevant to my relative taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my relative's records. I understand that information held by the NHS and records maintained by the NHS Information Centre may be used to keep in touch and follow up on my relative's health status.
- 4. I would agree for my relative to take part in the above study, if this were a real trial.

| Name of Relative | Date | Signature | |
|--|------|-----------|--|
| Relationship to Patient _ | | | |
| Name of Person taking consent When completed 1 for patient/relative: 1 for | Date | Signature | |

This form does not relate to a real trial.

APPENDIX 3

NIH Stroke Scale (NIHSS)


















APPENDIX 4

Predicted recruitment with a consort diagram format



APPENDIX 5

Flowchart of recruitment process



Summary Flowchart START Study, 30th August 2011 Version 1.0